

**Delft University of Technology** 

### Cost Allocation in Integrated Community Energy Systems

Li, N.L.

DOI 10.4233/uuid:18fc05b9-fdf4-4655-ab27-d60ce92401e1

Publication date 2022

**Document Version** Final published version

Citation (APA) Li, N. L. (2022). Cost Allocation in Integrated Community Energy Systems. [Dissertation (TU Delft), Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:18fc05b9-fdf4-4655-ab27-d60ce92401e1

#### Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

#### Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This work is downloaded from Delft University of Technology. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to a maximum of 10.

# Cost Allocation in Integrated Community Energy Systems

# Cost Allocation in Integrated Community Energy Systems

### Dissertation

for the purpose of obtaining the degree of doctor at Delft University of Technology, by the authority of the Rector Magnificus Prof.dr.ir. T.H.J.J. van der Hagen, Chair of the Board for Doctorates to be defended publicly on Monday 7 February 2022 at 10:00 o'clock

by

## Na LI

Master of Engineering in Instrument and Meter Engineering, Jilin University, China born in Jilin, China. The dissertation has been approved by the promotors.

Composition of the doctoral committee:

Rector Magnificus	Chairperson
Prof.dr.ir. Z. Lukszo	Delft University of Technology, promotor
Dr.ir. R. A. Hakvoort	Delft University of Technology, promotor

Independent members:

Prof.dr. J.E.J. Schmitz	Delft University of Technology
Prof.dr.mr.ir. N. Doorn	Delft University of Technology
Prof.dr.mr. A. Huygen	Utrecht University
Prof.dr. G.B. Huitema	University of Groningen
Dr.ir. A.J. Wieczorek	Eindhoven University of Technology





This research is funded by China Scholarship Council (CSC) and the Energy and Industry group in the Department of Engineering Systems and Services at Delft University of Technology.

- *Keywords:* Integrated community energy systems, cost allocation, cost reflectiveness, cost predictability, social acceptance, multi-group perspective, multi-criteria decision-making
- *Printed by:* Ridderprint | www.ridderprint.nl.

Front & Back: The cover is designed by Sharon Lim Yu Jung.

Copyright © 2021 by N. Li

ISBN 978-94-6384-293-8

An electronic version of this dissertation is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.

Science is a wonderful thing if one does not have to earn one's living at it.

Albert Einstein

# Contents

Lis	st of	Figures	xi
Lis	st of	Tables	xiii
Su	mma	ry	xv
Sa	men	vatting	xix
Ac	knov	vledgements	xxiii
1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Integrated community energy systems	2
	1.2	Cost allocation in community energy systems	5
	1.3	Research findings and gaps	7
	1.4	Research objective and questions	8
	1.5	Research method	9
	1.6	Societal relevance	10
	1.7	Thesis outline	11
<b>2</b>	$\cos$	t allocation in tariff design: a review	13
	2.1	Comparison between large power systems and ICESs	14
	2.2	An overview of electricity tariff design	18
	2.3	Applicability of tariff design to cost allocation in ICESs	23
	2.4	Review of cost allocation methods	24
	2.5	Conclusions	43
3	$\cos$	t allocation design in integrated community energy systems	45
	3.1	Objectives	46
	3.2	Procedures	46
	3.3	Cost allocation framework	47
	3.4	Cost allocation methods	49

	3.5	Conclusions	57
4	$\mathbf{Per}$	formance assessment of cost allocation methods	59
	4.1	Introduction	60
	4.2	Models of the integrated community energy system $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	60
	4.3	Assessment criteria	63
	4.4	Case study: Data & assumptions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	64
	4.5	Case study: Results analysis	65
	4.6	Discussions	72
	4.7	Conclusions	75
<b>5</b>	Soc	ial acceptance analysis of cost allocation in ICESs	77
	5.1	Introduction	78
	5.2	Social acceptance: theoretical background	79
	5.3	Conceptualization of social acceptance	81
	5.4	Social acceptance analysis of cost allocation methods $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	86
	5.5	Multi-group and multi-criteria decision-making (TOPSIS)	87
	5.6	Multi-group and multi-criteria decision-making: results analysis	91
	5.7	Discussions and policy implications	95
	5.8	Conclusions	98
6	$\mathbf{Ext}$	ensive discussions	99
	6.1	Introduction	100
	6.2	Energy exchange schemes	100
	6.3	Incentives for efficient energy usage	101
	6.4	Off-grid vs grid-connected ICESs	102
	6.5	Private vs joint vs community installation of DERs $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	103
	6.6	Long-term commitment of local community members $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	103
	6.7	Community management team	104
	6.8	Evaluation of the implementation	105
	6.9	Conclusions	105
7	Cor	nclusions	107
	7.1	Conclusions	108
	7.2	Answers to research questions	108

	7.3	Research contributions	111
	7.4	Future work recommendations	112
	7.5	Final remarks	114
Α	Cha	pter 2 nomenclature	115
в	Cha	pter 3 nomenclature	117
С	Cha	pter 4 nomenclature	119
D	Cha	pter 5 nomenclature	121
$\mathbf{E}$	Acr	onyms	123
Bi	bliog	raphy	125
Lis	st of	Publications	141
Cu	irrici	ılum Vitæ	143

# List of Figures

1.1	Structure of the thesis	11
2.1	A general structure of an ICES [1]	16
2.2	Electricity tariffs before and after the liberalization of electricity market	18
2.3	Key issues in electricity tariff design	19
2.4	Summary of regulatory principles	22
3.1	Framework of cost allocation in ICESs	47
3.2	A physical ICES system	48
4.1	Inputs and outputs of mathematical model of the ICES	61
4.2	Inputs and outputs of economic model of the ICES $\ldots$	63
4.3	Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods for households	66
4.4	Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods for households	67
4.5	Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods for households in abnormal conditions .	69
4.6	Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods for households in abnormal conditions .	70
4.7	Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods with different numbers of consumers	71
4.8	Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods with different numbers of consumers	72
4.9	Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods with different percentages of prosumers in the ICES	73
4.10	Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods with different percentages of prosumers in the ICES	75

5.1	The framework of social acceptance	86
5.2	The CC score of each decision-making group in terms of the ten al- ternatives	92
5.3	The average CC scores for each alternative considering all the decision- making groups for the three solutions	93
5.4	The average solution for the decision-making groups 1 and 6	94
5.5	The analysis for different weights assigned to the decision-making groups	95
7.1	A diagram for answering the main research question $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	109

# List of Tables

2.1	Comparison between large power systems and ICESs in terms of system formulation	17
2.2	Major cost items in large power systems and ICESs	17
2.3	Summary of cost allocation methods	42
3.1	Characteristics of cost allocation methods	56
4.1	Techno-economic parameters	65
4.2	Energy exchange prices	65
4.3	Descriptive statistics for cost reflectiveness under different cost allo- cation methods	66
4.4	Descriptive statistics for cost predictability under different cost allo- cation methods	68
4.5	Descriptive statistics of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost alloca- tion methods with different percentages of prosumers	74
4.6	Descriptive statistics of cost predictability under the ten cost alloca- tion methods with different percentages of prosumers	74
5.1	Performance assessment of cost allocation methods	87
5.2	The major preferences of the seven decision-making groups $\ \ldots \ \ldots$	88
5.3	The value of each criterion after normalization	91
5.4	Scenarios with different percentages of local community members in each group	94

# Summary

#### Introduction and problem statement

With the growing concerns over energy depletion and environmental protection all over the world, more and more attention is being paid to energy transition towards renewable energy sources (RESs), energy efficiency improvement, and  $CO_2$ emission reduction. Integrated community energy systems (ICESs) emerge in the development of local energy systems by integrating local distributed energy resources (DERs) and local communities. Local community members are actively involved in the planning, development, and administration of the energy system as well as the allocation of its costs and benefits.

In principle, the costs should be paid by those who consume energy and use energy-related services in the system, and the benefits should be assigned to those who made the investments. A well-designed cost allocation contributes to the successful implementation in the short-term and sustainable development of ICESs in the long-term. In large power systems, the regulator makes decisions on tariff design according to the regulatory principles. However, no regulators are dealing with these issues in ICESs. The local community itself needs to agree on the cost allocation method themselves. It, therefore, requires that the costs are allocated in a socially acceptable manner. In order to fill in the research gap, the main research question addressed in this thesis was:

#### How to design cost allocation in an ICES in a socially acceptable manner?

This question was answered by first reviewing cost allocation in tariff design, including the objectives, regulatory procedures, tariff structure design, regulatory principles and the widely used cost allocation methods. After that, an extensive discussion of how these concepts and methods can be applied in the context of cost allocation in ICESs was conducted. Based on this, a systematic framework was proposed in order to ensure a successful implementation of cost allocation design in ICESs.

#### Cost allocation framework

Cost allocation in ICESs is a rather new topic, there is no guidance on how to do it in a systematic manner. This thesis presented a systematic framework for allocating costs in ICESs learning from cost allocation in electricity tariff design. It clearly defines the objectives, procedures, and required components for allocating costs in a socially acceptable manner. Ten cost allocation methods that are applicable in the context of cost allocation in an ICES were derived and formulated mathematically to show their underlying principles.

#### Performance assessment of cost allocation methods

Each cost allocation method has its own characteristics and may perform differently. It is necessary to assess their performance in order to distinguish between them. In this thesis, two criteria: cost reflectiveness and predictability are proposed to evaluate the performance of the ten cost allocation methods. Cost reflectiveness is used to gain insights into how well the costs are allocated and cost predictability is used to show how the energy costs change in the long-term. For this purpose, a case study with 100 households is used in the model to investigate the performance of the ten cost allocation methods. The results showed that energy-based methods perform better compared to other methods. In order to further identify the effectiveness of the methods and how they perform in terms of the two criteria, a sensitivity and a robustness analysis are conducted. The sensitivity was conducted by investigating the changes in the number of consumers in the community.

The results showed that the number of consumers has little or no influence on the performance of the ten cost allocation methods in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. The robustness analysis was conducted by investigating the penetration of prosumers in the ICES. The findings concluded that the increasing prosumer penetration has a positive effect on the performance of the ten methods in terms of the two criteria in the event of changes in the number of local community members and prosumers. The two analyses also presented that the energy-based allocation methods can retain their merits in respect of the two criteria. The comprehensive analysis provides a better understanding of the performance of the ten cost allocation methods considered in this thesis.

#### Social acceptance analysis

One of the novel aspects of ICESs lies in the integration of local community members. They play an important role in the energy system by actively involving in the planning, development, and administration of the energy system as well as the allocation of its costs and benefit. Local community members are encouraged to participate in the decision-making process. They may have various preferences towards cost allocation. The selected cost allocation method should satisfy the requirements and preferences of local community members.

Furthermore, no regulators are involved in ICESs, the community itself needs to agree on the cost allocation method themselves. It, therefore, requires that the selected cost allocation method be socially acceptable to local stakeholders. In this thesis, social acceptance is conceptualized from the perspective of procedural and distributive justice to make sure both the process and the results of cost allocation are fair and socially acceptable to local community members. Furthermore, local community members with similar backgrounds and interests may have similar or the same preference over the criteria. Therefore, they can be classified into several groups according to their major preferences. It, therefore, stands for a multigroup, multi-criteria, and decision-making problem. Here we proposed a multi-group multi-criteria decision-making approach to support the local community member in A simulation was also conducted in order to understand the decision-making tool developed in this thesis. The local community is categorized into different decision-making groups considering the differences in their major preferences. Seven decision-making groups are considered in this study, and their major preferences vary from fairness, cost reflectiveness to stability and any combination of them. The numerical results show that time-of-use pricing is the best solution for the seven decision-making groups considered in this research. In addition, an analysis with the changes in the weights of the decision-making groups was conducted to see how this would influence the selection of cost allocation method. The results indicated that the changes in the number of local community members in different decision-making groups influences the selection of best solutions.

#### Conclusions

This thesis presents a practical solution for allocating costs in ICESs in a socially acceptable manner. A systematic framework was formulated, possible cost allocation methods were proposed, and a decision-making tool was developed in the research in order to ensure a successful implementation of cost allocation design in ICESs. The methodology developed in this thesis can be applied to any local community energy system. The obtained results can be used by decision-makers to help them in the decision-making process. A successful cost allocation will definitely contribute to the implementation of ICESs, thus contributing to the energy transition.

# Samenvatting

#### Introductie en probleemstelling

Door de groeiende zorgen in de wereld over de uitputting van fossiele energiebronnen en de bescherming van het milieu, wordt de transitie naar duurzame energiebronnen, een efficiënter energiegebruik en het verminderen van de  $CO_2$  uitstoot steeds belangrijker. De ontwikkeling van lokale energiesystemen leidt tot de opkomst van geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen waarin decentrale elektriciteitsproductie in de lokale gemeenschap wordt ontwikkeld. De leden van deze lokale energiegemeenschappen zijn actief betrokken in het plannen, ontwikkelen en bedrijfsvoeren van het energiesysteem en verdelen onderling de kosten en baten.

In theorie moeten de kosten worden betaald door de betreffende energiegebruiker(s). De baten zouden moeten gaan naar de investeerders. Een goede kostenverdeling draagt bij aan een succesvolle implementatie op de korte termijn en een duurzame ontwikkeling van lokale energiegemeenstappen op de lange termijn. In grote energiesystemen worden de tarieven vastgesteld door een door de overheid aangestelde toezichthouder en verankerd in regelgeving. Maar in lokale geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen zijn deze er niet. Lokale gemeenschappen moeten dus onderling tot een goede kostenverdeling komen. Het is daarbij belangrijk dat de kosten worden verdeeld op een maatschappelijk acceptabele wijze.

In de wetenschappelijke literatuur is hierover nog weinig gepubliceerd. Om dit gat te dichten heeft dit proefschrift de volgende hoofdvraag:

Hoe kunnen de kosten in een geïntegreerd gemeenschappelijk energiesysteem op een sociaal-maatschappelijk geaccepteerde wijze worden verdeeld?

De vraag wordt beantwoord door allereerst te kijken naar hoe elektriciteitstarieven worden bepaald in het grote energiesysteem. In de analyse worden onder andere de doelen, de regelgeving, de structuur van de tarieven en de gebruikelijk gehanteerde kostenverdeling meegenomen. Daarna wordt uitgebreid besproken hoe deze concepten en kostenverdelingsmethodes kunnen worden toegepast in de context van geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke energiesystemen. Aan de hand daarvan wordt een systematisch kader opgesteld om tot een succesvolle kostenverdeling binnen geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen te komen.

#### Kader voor kostenverdeling

De kostenverdeling binnen geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen is een nieuw onderwerp. Er zijn nog geen kaders voor hoe dit systematisch kan worden geadresseerd. In dit proefschrift wordt een systematisch kader gepresenteerd voor de kostenverdeling binnen geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen die is afgeleid van en gebaseerd op de tariefvaststelling in grootschalige energiesystemen. Het kader definieert duidelijk de doelen, de procedures en nodige componenten voor een sociaal-maatschappelijk geaccepteerde kostenverdeling. Er zijn tien verschillende methodes voor kostenallocatie onderzocht, die alle toepasbaar zijn voor de kostenverdeling in geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke energiesystemen. Deze allocatiemethoden zijn wiskundig geformuleerd om de onderliggende principes te verduidelijken.

#### Beoordeling van de verschillende kostenverdelingsmethodes

De verschillende methodes voor kostenverdeling hebben elk hun karakteristieken en zullen daardoor anders presteren. Het is belangrijk om dit uit te zoeken, zodat de verschillen tussen de tien methodes duidelijk worden. In dit proefschrift zijn de kostenverdelingsmethodes met name geëvalueerd op twee criteria: kostenreflectiviteit en voorspelbaarheid. Door te kijken naar kostenreflectiviteit is inzicht vergaard in hoe de kosten worden verdeeld. De voorspelbaarheid geeft inzicht in hoe de prijzen in de energiesector veranderen in de loop der jaren. Hiervoor is een model gebruikt waarin de verschillende kostenverdelingsmethodes zijn geanalyseerd voor een casus van 100 huishoudens. Uit de resultaten blijkt dat de verdelingsmethodes op basis van energie beter presteren dan andere kostenverdelingsmethodes.

Een gevoeligheids- en robuustheidsanalyse is uitgevoerd om de effectiviteit van de methoden te beoordelen en hoe deze presteren op de twee genoemde criteria. De gevoeligheidsanalyse is gedaan door het aantal afnemers in het energiesysteem te veranderen. Hieruit blijkt dat het aantal afnemers bijna geen invloed heeft op de prestatie van de tien kostenverdelingsmethodes wat betreft de kostenreflectiviteit en voorspelbaarheid. De robuustheid is geanalyseerd door te kijken naar het aantal prosumenten in de geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen. Geconcludeerd kan worden dat een hoger aandeel prosumenten een positief effect heeft op de prestatie van de tien verschillende kostenverdelingsmethodes, gelet op de twee genoemde beoordelingscriteria. Daarnaast blijkt uit de uitgevoerde analyses dat de kostenverdeling op basis van energie positief blijft scoren met betrekking tot de twee genoemde criteria.

De uitgevoerde analyse biedt daarmee duidelijk inzicht in de werking en prestatie van de tien kostenverdelingsmethodes die in dit proefschrift worden behandeld.

#### Analyse van de maatschappelijk/sociale acceptatie

Een belangrijk aspect bij geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen is de betrokkenheid van een ieder in de lokale gemeenschap. De gebruikers spelen een belangrijke rol in het energiesysteem door zowel actief betrokken te zijn bij de planning, de ontwikkeling en het bedrijfsvoeren van het energiesysteem, alsmede de wijze waarop de kosten en baten worden verdeeld. De lokale afnemers worden juist gestimuleerd om mee te beslissen. De gekozen kostenverdelingsmethode moet voldoen aan de eisen en voorkeuren van de lokale gemeenschap. Hierbij kan iedereen verschillende voorkeuren hebben wat betreft de kostenverdeling. Daarnaast zijn er geen toezichthouders die bepalen hoe de kostenverdeling moet plaatsvinden binnen geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen. De lokale gemeenschap moet hierover dus zelf onderling overeenstemming zien te bereiken. Daarom is het van belang dat de gekozen kostenverdelingsmethode sociaal aanvaardbaar is voor lokale belanghebbenden. In dit proefschrift is de maatschappelijke acceptatie bekeken vanuit de beginselen van de procedurele en distributieve rechtvaardigheid om ervoor te zorgen dat zowel het proces als het resultaat van de kostenverdelingsmethode eerlijk en sociaal aanvaardbaar zijn voor iedereen uit de lokale gemeenschap. Leden uit een lokale gemeenschap met een vergelijkbare achtergrond en interesses kunnen dezelfde voorkeuren hebben. Er zijn daarom verschillende clusters gemaakt voor groepen mensen gebaseerd op hun belangrijkste voorkeuren. Het gaat daarom om een 'multigroeps multicriteria' besluitvormingsprobleem. In dit proefschrift is een multigroeps multicriteria besluitvorming aanpak voorgesteld om de lokale gemeenschap te ondersteunen in het kiezen van een sociaal geaccepteerde kostenverdelingsmethode.

Met de ontwikkelde besluitvormingsaanpak is een simulatie gedaan met als doel de aanpak te evalueren. De lokale gemeenschap is hiervoor onderverdeeld in verschillende groepen op basis van hun belangrijkste voorkeuren. De belangrijkste voorkeuren variëren van eerlijkheid en kostenreflectiviteit tot stabiliteit, en een combinatie van deze aspecten. Dit resulteert in zeven verschillende groepen. De numerieke resultaten laten zien dat een kostenverdelingsmethode op basis van 'tijdstip-vangebruik' de beste oplossing biedt. Ook is er een analyse gedaan naar de invloed van grootte van de verschillende groepen op de keuze van de kostenverdelingsmethode. Uit de resultaten blijkt dat een verandering in het aantal mensen binnen een van de genoemde groepen de uiteindelijke selectie van de beste oplossing kan beïnvloeden.

#### Conclusies

Dit proefschrift biedt een praktische oplossing voor een sociaal geaccepteerde kostenverdeling binnen geïntegreerde lokale energiesystemen. Er is een systematisch kader opgesteld, mogelijke kostenverdelingsmethodes zijn uitgewerkt en er wordt een aanpak voorgesteld voor de lokale besluitvorming om te komen tot een succesvolle kostenverdeling in een geïntegreerd gemeenschappelijk lokaal energiesysteem. De ontwikkelde methode in dit proefschrift kan in principe in elk lokaal energiesysteem worden toegepast. De verkregen resultaten kunnen worden gebruikt om beslissers te helpen met het besluitvormingsproces. Een succesvolle kostenverdeling zal namelijk bijdragen aan de implementatie van geïntegreerde gemeenschappelijke lokale energiesystemen, en daardoor indirect ook aan de energietransitie.

# Acknowledgements

The four-year PhD study at TU Delft is such an unforgettable memory for me. The journey is full of uncertainty, good and bad experiences, and challenges than I can imagine. I could not have made it to the end without help from the wonderful people I have met. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the amazing people I have met during my PhD research.

I started my first year at the EWI faculty in September 2017. I would like to thank professor Pavol Bauer for opening the door of TU Delft to me. It is a special story for me, however, somehow, it is also a great challenge to me.

I transferred to TPM in October 2018, where I actually started my research. I am profoundly grateful to my promotors, Zofia Lukszo and Rudi Hakvoort. Zofia, I still remember the day you accepted me as your PhD student and introduced me to the group and Rudi. It was such an unforgettable day for me to restart my PhD. Thank you for providing me the opportunity. You have always tried to support and inspire me to get out of my comfort zone, to think bigger and critically. Your systematic and logical thinking has helped me a lot in my research. You also provided me with the opportunities to go outside the university by joining various workshops and summer schools. I appreciate it a lot that you introduced me to The Green Village to continue my research and help me survive when my funding was over. Rudi, your humor makes me feel relaxed in our meetings. I still remember the joke you made that you compared nails to acupuncture needles and then you sent me a nail when I came back from the treatment. I mentioned this a lot to my friends. I hope I can bring this kind of humor to my future work and, if possible, my students. Thank you for your support and valuable insights into my research. I missed the meetings and conversations we had. Your critical thinking has helped a lot both in my research and writing. You both provided me with so much support that I passed my GNG within five months, and I finished all my work within three years. Both of you have helped me grow up from a junior researcher to an independent researcher. I learned a lot in this process, and it will be of great value in the future steps of my work and life. In addition, I also would like to thank the China Scholarship Council for the financial support to help me finish my PhD project.

I am so lucky to be part of the Energy & Industry group. I am the "special" person in the group that I do not have lunch. I missed all the lunch talks with you, but you, lovely people, never forget me. I enjoyed the section walks and PhD defense parties. Shantanu and Piao, we three, are the people who come to the faculty very often during COVID times. You are the person I talked to a lot during this time. You supported me a lot, especially in finding a job, you shared a lot of your valuable experience with me. It is you that makes me feel not alone during this special time.

I really miss the days. Özge, thank you for always being there, sharing information, and providing me with suggestions, I missed the nice conversations and the walks we had. Jarvanshir, my dear office mate, I missed the office time with you, saying hello in the morning and goodbye in the afternoon. Molood and Diones, I missed the Thursday open market morning walk with you during the COVID time. I also would like to thank the amazing secretaries at Energy & Industry, Diones, Priscilla, and Laura, you are so friendly and helpful in solving any questions from PhDs. Jolien, thank you very much for your support and the nice talks we had. Nishant, Victor, and Gautham, you helped me a lot when I first came to the Netherlands and knew nothing about PhD. Hanxin, Frank, Shiva, Sina, Roman, Ni, Ester, Kasper, Tristan, Jessie, Samantha, Jonathan, Ingrid, Luis, Fuqi, Hong, I am grateful for the delightful conversations we had at the faculty, I missed these moments, especially during the COVID time that we could not meet each other in person.

Xiangcou, Qinqin, your lovely daughter, Tuantuan, Xuehui, Qiang, Haoyuan, Weiyuan, and Aoxi, I am so lucky to meet you at TU Delft, I missed the talks, games, and dinners we had. It is you that let me feel not alone in a foreign country, especially during holiday times. Shuang, we shared a lot during the PhD journey, happiness, unhappiness, life issues, personal issues, research issues. We support and encourage each other in this process. I cannot imagine how my life will be without complaining to you. Jun, I still remember the night we walked on the street, and we started to talk about the issues I met in my research. We discussed and argued a lot. It was such a hot debate that we showed different opinions at first. Finally, we both realized that the author made a mistake, which has confused me a lot for a long time. It was such an unforgettable memory for me. Discussion and sharing with your peers and senior fellows are necessary and important for scientific researchers. It helps you to know more about yourself and your research. You probably will get new insights after a hot discussion. I also missed the dinners, biking to Keukenhof, playing Mahjong with Yusheng and Hongpeng. Jing, you are like an older sister to me. I gained a lot from our conversations. Thank you for your encouragement. Thank you, all my friends in the Netherlands, your accompany and delicious food are always "pistachio" in the tough days. It is all of you that have made me have such many memorable moments in my PhD journey. I would not have made these accomplishments without you.

I also would like to thank the people in China. Jingdong, you are a very special friend to me, we have never met each other, but we keep talking until now. Our discussions helped me know about electric power systems from a broader perspective. We share research experiences, discuss research questions and solutions, support and encourage each other. Thank you, Prof. Yin and Prof. Zhou, you provided me a lot of support and encouragement in my hardest time. You are also the person who sees my progress from my Master period. Xuejiao, we have known each other since middle school. Thank you for always being there, listening to me, and caring about me. Yadongyang, thank you for the talks we had and your encouragement, which have helped me a lot to cognize myself, even though some conversations are hard.

Finally, I would like to thank my family members. Mom, I love you so much. I

cannot imagine how my life would be without your selfless love. My dear sister, I know you love and care for me, but you always express yourself in a different way. Haoran, even though you are a small child, you talked with me like an adult, which brings a lot of joy and happiness to me. Haoyu, thank you for loving me, caring me and listening to me, even though sometimes you do not know what I was talking. Thank you for your support and for being on my side.

Last but not least, dear readers, no matter who you are and where you come from, when you open this thesis, I do believe we have the same passion for contributing to a sustainable and green world. I hope you will read this thesis with pleasure.

> Na Li Delft, October, 2021

# 1 Introduction

To love and be loved is to feel the sun from both sides.

David Viscott

This chapter provides general background information on the thesis. It mainly introduces the research topics, and defines its objectives and scope. It also gives a general overview of the chapter's content for the rest of the thesis.

### 1.1. Integrated community energy systems

With the growing concerns over energy depletion and environmental protection all over the world, more and more attention is being paid to energy transition towards renewable energy sources (RESs), energy efficiency improvement, and  $CO_2$  emission reduction [2, 3]. Some countries are already responding to this problem by making some commitments towards climate and energy policies. The European Union set its targets for 2030 to increase the penetration of renewable energy to 32%, improve the energy efficiency at least to 32.5% compared to 1990 levels [4, 5], and reduce at least 55% greenhouse gas emissions [6]. The integration of distributed energy resources (DERs) plays an essential role in the transition of future energy systems. DERs are typically smaller in scale than the traditional generation facilities, for instance, photovoltaics (PV) and storage [7, 8]. DERs provide flexibility not only in terms of energy generation and consumption but also in the reform of energy systems by making them decentralized [9]. Local communities play a key role in the transition of energy systems by implementing DERs and changing their roles from consumers to prosumers [7, 8]. Energy systems are changing from one large national power system to local energy systems in cities, villages, and communities, where demand and supply are met at the local level [10].

According to the Clean Energy for All Europeans package [11], energy communities have the potential to change the local landscape in the energy transition, by promoting local energy generation, consumption, and trading, thus contributing to a successful energy transition [12]. Energy communities are a group of citizens who invest in local community energy systems collectively with non-commercial economic aims, such as environmental and social benefits, instead of financial profits [13]. Local citizens have ownership of the community energy systems, and they actively participate in local activities to take effective control of the energy systems [14, 15]. In the EU context, energy communities are mostly formulated as energy cooperatives [14]. Currently, 1900 energy cooperatives are formulated across the EU (until 2021), which are members of the European federation of citizen energy cooperatives (REScoop.eu), serving more than one million European citizens [16]. Several terms are frequently used in recent publications to describe energy communities, such as citizen energy communities [17], or renewable energy communities [14].

Integrated community energy systems (ICESs) are also a form of energy communities, which focus on the integration of local communities and local DERs [18, 19]. According to Koirala (2017), "ICESs are a comprehensive and integrated approach for local energy systems where communities can take complete control of their energy system and capture all the benefits of different energy system integration options" [19]. ICESs utilize the technical values of community microgrids and the social and economic values of integrated energy systems to create systems that are robust, reliable, and secure [20]. ICESs emphasize the engagement of local community members to participate in the decision-making process, on such matters as making investments in community DERs and selecting a socially acceptable cost allocation method, so that they take full control of the energy system [18]. Individual households are the basic units of local communities; they can choose whether or not to invest in an individual DER. In doing so, they are changing their roles from being consumers to prosumers thanks to local generation, demand response, and energy efficiency measures. They are interconnected and can also consume or share energy within an ICES, once they agree to join.

ICESs focus on the local landscape by managing local energy generation, delivery, exchange to meet local energy demand. It aims at improving the performance of local energy systems, for example, by improving energy efficiency, increasing DERs penetration, reducing energy costs, and contributing to  $CO_2$  reduction. Different actors are included in ICESs, such as investors, local community members (consumers and prosumers), energy service providers, and system operators, which add social attributes to ICESs. From economic perspectives, these actors are also considered stakeholders in ICESs. Costs and benefits, as well as advantages and disadvantages, must be shared among them fairly. Therefore, ICESs are considered comprehensive energy systems, which add technical, economic, environmental, and social merits to the local energy system landscape [20–22]. ICESs provide the opportunity for local communities to take full control of the energy systems since they can invest, produce, sell, purchase and consume energy inside the community. Similar to any local energy system, ICESs could work in off-grid operation mode to achieve self-sufficiency and grid-connected operation mode to get support from large power systems [1]. However, it is required to be accounted that off-grid ICESs are hard to achieve at this moment because of the high cost of DERs and intermittency of RESs generation. It has the potential to be self-sustaining in the future.

One of the novel aspects of ICESs lies in their ability to enable community control of energy generation and consumption, which is a big step forward in social innovation in the management of energy systems. Various actors can involve themselves in ICESs, with different interests. Local community members can generate and consume affordable and green energy. They are also offered the opportunity to become investors and have the right to make decisions. External investors can invest in community DERs, too, to pursue profits. Energy service companies make profits by providing related services, such as energy efficiency improvement, system operation, and the management of local generation and delivery. A strong sense of community is essential for an ICES, since local community members are involved in the planning, development, and administration of the energy system as well as the allocation of its costs and benefits [23, 24]. According to [25], local communities are distinguished between locality and interests. In this thesis, locality and interest are integrated that local communities are located close to each other geographically, and they have a common interest to contribute to energy transition and invest in local DERs either individually or collectively. Furthermore, they are willing to form a cooperative in a local project.

Earlier studies on ICESs have mostly concentrated on technical aspects, such as hierarchical management [26], optimal scheduling, and dispatching with the objective to minimize operational costs [21, 27, 28]. The available tools for optimization planning and analysis of ICESs are comprehensively reviewed in [20]. The study in [29] presents an assessment framework for the value of ICESs in terms of costs and benefits for local communities. Another assessment framework is presented in [1], to evaluate the value of ICESs in terms of total energy costs and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in grid-connected and off-grid operation modes. These works thus focus on technical optimization problems driven by economic incentives to reduce operation and energy costs, and environmental concerns to reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

The review in [18] provides a good overview of the key issues and trends shaping the development of ICESs. One of those key issues that requires further study is the fair allocation of costs and benefits among local stakeholders. Costs should be allocated to those who cause them, and benefits should accrue to those who make the investments. However, the work associated with cost allocation in the application of ICESs has not been studied in the existing research. It will therefore be of great value to investigate this aspect in depth in order to facilitate the successful implementation of ICESs in the short-term, as well as to ensure their long-term development. A fair cost and benefit allocation in ICESs is the key issue that determines the success of ICESs [22]. The benefits include:

- It helps to enhance the cooperation of local community members and thus the engagement of the local community in its entirety. Local communities are the fundamental actors that ICESs do not exist without their participation. Therefore, it is important that local community members can remain in ICESs.
- It helps to avoid free-rider behavior with certain members being able to use the service for free or at too low a cost, while others are paying too much. Avoiding free-rider behavior contributes to fairness when allocating costs and benefits, which is always the main issue, no matter in whichever system.
- A well-designed pricing structure will send economic signals to users that encourages them to use energy and energy services in the most cost-efficient way. By doing so, local community members can know their consumption behavior well and how their energy bills are determined.
- It contributes to the optimal operation of ICESs in the short-term and sustainable development of ICESs in the long-term. A well-designed cost allocation follows the objective of economic efficiency, which further makes the system work optimally to save costs. In addition, it also encourages local community members to remain in ICESs for a longer time.
- It promotes social acceptance of local communities towards ICESs since it considers the preferences and opinions of the local community members. Social acceptance is far more important in the context of ICESs since local community members are the essential components. Their benefits should be well

protected, and they also should pay for the costs for the energy and service they use as well. It should be made sure that each member is treated fairly.

#### **1.2.** Cost allocation in community energy systems

Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems is a rather new topic, which is increasingly gaining attention in recent years following the energy transition trend. In this section, we did a literature review on this topic to summarize the current situation and what compliments have been achieved. In this thesis, the literature review is done by following the framework proposed in [30]. We review scientific papers (including journal and conference papers), scientific reports, and regulation documents on the topic of cost allocation in community energy systems, which cover technical, economic, social, and institutional design. Literature has been obtained by searching keywords and using forward and backward snowballing in electronic databases of Web of Science, ScienceDirect, Google Scholar, and Scopus. The strings used are 'cost allocation' or 'electricity pricing' with one of the words from ('integrated community energy systems', 'community energy systems', 'renewable energy community' and 'energy community') for the preliminary search in the article title, abstract and keywords. Subsequently, studies in English are selected but are the most relevant.

According to the literature review, the most widely used method to allocate costs in a local community context is game theory, and it is treated as a technical problem. Game theory is an effective tool to solve decision-making problems among two or more participants in situations where their decisions are interrelated [31]. In addition, players in the games are assumed that they can act rationally and strategically. There are two branches of game theory, namely, cooperative and non-cooperative games. A cooperative game analyzes the situation in which players follow the commitments made in the coalition and they act collectively. Two methods that are widely adopted in the cooperative game are the Shapley value and nucleolus. They vary with each other in their objectives. The Shapley value emphasizes fairness considering the individual marginal contribution, and the nucleolus focuses on minimizing the player's dissatisfaction with their payoffs [32]. In noncooperative games, players are independent of each other and act individually. The important solution for non-cooperative games is the Nash equilibrium that players cannot improve their benefits by changing their actions if the other players keep the same decisions. In the context of cost allocation in energy communities, local community members (both consumers and prosumers) form a coalition in which they are considered players in the game. They act rationally with the objective of minimizing their electricity costs.

Several relevant works are illustrated in this section to present how they formulate the problems and what objectives they are trying to achieve besides cost allocation. The study in [33] proposes a day-ahead cooperative framework aiming to minimize both commodity and network costs in a low voltage electricity community. It emphasizes fair cost allocation by using game theory methods: the Shapley value and Nash equilibrium, in order to minimize the dissatisfaction of the players and allocate costs fairly among them in the community. Yang et al. proposed an *ex-post* cost allocation based on the nucleolus method to allocate the common costs of community energy storage. The community energy storage is cooperatively invested by multiple buildings within the community. The cooperative game is used to allocate costs (annual electricity costs) in an energy community consisting of both consumers and prosumers [32, 35]. The results show that both nucleolus and the Shapley value methods could provide stable cost allocations under minor deviations. In addition, the study also presents that cooperation among prosumers and consumers can lead to decreased electricity cost compared to individual operation [35]. Profits resulting from a coalition formation between multiple energy districts with DERs are allocated by using game theory methods in the study of [36]. The energy districts are a component of the smart grid, consisting of distributed generation, flexible and non-flexible loads, and energy storage devices. The profit allocation results highlight that the cooperation of DERs can achieve higher profits compared to the individual operation. Similarly, a cooperative game theory of the Shapley value method is adopted in [37] to allocate DERs and energy system network costs between individual stakeholders. In this case, it is four buildings that form a coalition. The annualized costs allocated to each building in the cooperative scenario are less than the non-cooperative one, proving that cooperation can save energy costs.

The Shapley value method is widely adopted because it offers a fair and equitable cost allocation result [37, 38]. A multi-energy coupling energy system with combined cooling, heating and power (CCHP) microgrid, and power to gas (P2G) facility is modeled in [39] to enhance energy efficiency as the excess renewable generation can be converted into natural gas. It is also an effective way to integrate multi-energy carriers in an energy system. In the energy system, the CCHP and P2G form cooperation that their integration will benefit both parties. Due to the involvement of different investors, the Shapley value cost allocation mechanism is adopted to fairly distribute the participants' operation costs for the integrated operation strategy. The cost allocation mechanism adopted in the study helps to save operation costs as cooperation compared to the situation of individual operation, and the costs are allocated to each facility (CCHP and P2G). Similarly, the Shapley value method is adopted to allocate benefits among community members in a renewable energy community, where producers and consumers form a coalition [40]. A mechanism for a fair redistribution of benefits from community-owned assets (wind turbines and battery) to individual prosumers is developed in [41] by using cooperative game theory. The redistribution mechanism is based on the marginal contribution of each player in the community to make it computationally tractable and practically applicable. The results show that community-owned assets provide higher benefits compared to individual-owned assets.

Besides game theory, there are also some other methods mentioned in the literature to solve the problem of cost allocation in community energy systems. Four cost allocation models are developed in [42] in order to investigate the costs allocated to each building in the community. The first model is to distribute the total costs to each building evenly. The second model is to allocate costs according to the load in each building. The third model allocates cost based on the level of zero energy target the building achieves. The level of zero energy target is achieved based on the reward-penalty mechanism. The main concept of the reward-penalty mechanism is that the building owner will receive a heavy penalty if the renewable energy source integration is low, and receive a reward if the renewable energy source integration is high. The value is determined by a coefficient, which is the ratio of its renewable generation to its load of the building. A value of 0 means no renewable generation for the targeted building, and a value of 1 represents the building achieving the zero energy target. The fourth model allocates cost concerning the two factors (load and the level of zero energy target) evenly. The four models allocate costs according to a coefficient that is determined by various factors. These methods are more direct compared to cooperative games.

### 1.3. Research findings and gaps

According to the literature view, it showed that the widely used method to allocate costs in the energy community is game theory. The game is based on the assumption that: players are rational and intelligent, and their decisions are made based on their desire to maximize their payoffs. However, it is not the case in real life. The solutions are often over-complicated and not easy to scale up. For example, the Shapley value cannot be determined in polynomial time to many cooperative games [43]. It is easy to compute the allocation results if a few players form the coalition. However, when it comes to the case with several dozens of individuals, the computation complexity increases, and it is time-consuming [41]. Game theory approaches also illustrate that a coalition provides higher benefits compared to an individual energy system. In addition, the game theory solutions do not show any information about their energy consumption in the final results, which are not cost reflective. Considering all the affecting factors, it, therefore, is not realistic to use game theory to allocate costs to the members in the community to get a practically applicable solution. The methods allocating costs according to a coefficient are more realistic compared to cooperative games. The costs are allocated according to some quantified criteria, such as the number of users, load demand, and the level of zero energy target.

The ICES considered in this thesis is a socio-economic energy system, which focuses on the integration of local DERs and local community members. The local community members have a common goal of contributing to energy transition by installing DERs either at the individual or community level. However, they need to pay for individual investment in DERs by themselves. They can also invest in community DERs to be investors by obtaining some benefits. It is also worth noting that the objective of local community members is not competing with each other to get benefits. Therefore it is not a competition-based community energy market. The cost allocation mechanism is not intended to incur competition among them, but to allocate costs or set electricity prices in a realistic manner, which can be easily implemented in practice and easy for local community members to understand and accept. They can actively participate in the decision-making process and take full control of the energy system. This is also different from the game theory perspective in that multiple actors form a coalition with the aim of saving energy costs. The objective of cost allocation in the ICES is to allocate the costs to the drivers that cause them to make it cost-causality. In addition, another consideration is that it is aimed at developing practical methods that can be applied to the energy community directly. There are currently no framework and methods about how to allocate costs in ICESs, how these methods are formulated, and what data are required. This is the first research gap.

The second research gap is that assessment criteria for the cost allocation methods are lacking in the current literature. Although it is not easy to evaluate their performance, it would add more value to the research to compare their performances and select the one with the most desirable performance.

The ICES considered in this thesis focuses on the integration of local community members. They play an important role in the energy system and are actively involved in the planning, development, and administration of the energy system as well as the allocation of its costs and benefit. It is essential to take their opinions and preferences into consideration. However, current research on cost allocation is formulated as a technical problem, which neglects the participation of local community members. This is the third research gap that social values are not taken into account in the process of cost allocation.

There are presently no criteria and approaches on how to allocate the costs in a local energy system, especially in an ICES mainly equipped with local DERs. Cost allocation for an energy system is often discussed in another field of study, namely tariff design in large power systems; it shows how the costs in those systems are allocated to the end-users. In large power systems, cost allocation is the outcome of a regulatory process of allocating electricity supply costs to customers by electricity tariff, applying accounting and regulatory principles. There are many successful examples of cost allocation methods applied in tariff design in large power systems. Some of the issues discussed in this context are: objectives [44], regulatory procedures [45, 46], regulatory principles [46–48] and cost allocation keys [49, 50]. In order to achieve a successful cost allocation in ICESs, it is recommended to review the tariff design issues in large power systems: (1) to investigate how to translate the concept of tariff design into cost allocation in ICESs, and (2) to review the cost allocation methods used in tariff design and explore their application to cost allocation in ICESs with appropriate modification.

### 1.4. Research objective and questions

Since ICESs are a rather new topic, many challenges exist in their implementation, which varies from technical, socio-economic, environmental to institutional issues [22, 51, 52]. For instance, high initial investment costs may hamper the development of ICESs. Furthermore, split-incentive problems make some members net beneficiaries, whereas others will become net contributors. The split-incentive problem in ICESs is often caused by the fact that the party which has made the investment does not automatically get the benefits that belong to it [53, 54]. It is of great importance that costs and benefits are allocated in a fair way in an ICES, and therefore, this is an important factor affecting the success of an ICES. Cost allocation is the process of allocating costs to the local community members in the ICES. It could be in the form of energy (capacity) pricing or a direct amount of costs. The investments made in an ICES vary from individual household level to community level. In principle, the costs should be paid by those who consume energy and use energy-related services in the system, and the benefits should be assigned to those who made the investments [22].

In large power systems, the regulator makes decisions on tariff design according to the regulatory principles [45, 46]. However, no regulators are dealing with these issues in ICESs. The stakeholders in ICESs are local community members and investors. Local community members consume and share (prosumers) energy in ICESs. Investors make investments in local DERs. They may hold different points of view towards cost allocation in ICESs. For instance, investors want to recover the investments they made, local community members are in favor of fair cost allocation. The selected cost allocation method should protect the rights of consumers and the benefits of investors. The community itself needs to agree on the cost allocation method themselves. It, therefore, requires that the selected cost allocation method should be socially acceptable to local stakeholders. Studies in this area are often missing in the research of ICESs. Overall, the objective of this research is to help local community members to allocate costs in ICES in a socially acceptable manner. For this purpose, we develop a systematic framework for allocating costs in ICESs by taking into account the local community members' opinions and preferences. The main research question for this research is:

"How to design cost allocation in an ICES in a socially acceptable manner?"

The main research question is broken down into the following research subquestions:

**Sub-question 1:** What can be learned from electricity tariff design with respect to cost allocation design in an ICES?

**Sub-question 2:** What is the framework for cost allocation design and which approaches can be adopted for cost allocation in an ICES?

**Sub-question 3:** How to assess the performance of the cost allocation methods?

Sub-question 4: How to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method?

### 1.5. Research method

This research mainly uses literature review and mathematical models and simulations to address the main and sub-questions presented in 1.4. These methods contribute to identifying the cost allocation design framework and conceptualizing
social acceptance in the context of cost allocation ICESs. This research developed a systematic and quantitative model for allocating costs in ICESs in a socially acceptable manner. The literature review is used to identify what can be learned from electricity tariff design with respect to cost allocation design in ICESs, thus helping to develop a framework appropriate for cost allocation in ICESs. Modeling, simulation, and case studies are used to assess the performance of cost allocation methods, which are the essential inputs for analyzing social acceptance. These methods are the tools to facilitate the community to allocate costs with a fair procedure and fair results, which contribute to the social acceptance of local stakeholders.

## 1.6. Societal relevance

This thesis has practical relevance for different actors in the society vary from local community members, energy industries, electricity network operators to policymakers. These actors will not only be able to understand their changing roles, the provided economic values, but also their responsibilities within the transition of energy systems. This research can assist them in decision-makings and preparing for future changes.

Local community members are the fundamental components of the ICES. Their involvement is the key issue affecting the successful implementation of ICES. Therefore, this research is relevant for local community members who would like to invest in local DERs and operate the energy system jointly with the willingness to make contributions to climate change and energy transition. And it is also attractive to local community members who would like to participate in the decision-making process and take full control of their energy systems. The methodology developed in this thesis assists local community members in selecting a cost allocation method that is socially acceptable to them.

This research is relevant for energy industrial companies who wish to invest in DERs, to become an operator of an ICES and to benefit from the energy system. They can contribute to the implementation of cost allocation in ICESs by providing infrastructures and relevant services, such as smart meters, information and communication technology devices, and billing and billing collection services.

In addition, the outcomes of this research can also be beneficial for policymakers (or regulators), distribution network operators, and electricity market regulators. Policymakers can take more effective measurements to contribute to the implementation of local energy systems, such as by making proper regulations to regulate the activities of cost allocation in local community energy systems to protect the benefits of local community members. In addition, they can better formulate proper and tailored pricing mechanisms for local communities to further contribute to the formulation of local energy markets based on the cost allocation methods proposed in this thesis.



Figure 1.1: Structure of the thesis

## 1.7. Thesis outline

The structure of the thesis is summarized in Figure 1.1. Chapter 1 provides the research background and theoretical framework of this thesis. Chapter 2 gives a comprehensive review on the main issues involved in cost allocation in tariff design, which are the essential theoretical foundation of this research. We summarize tariff design objectives, cost allocation procedures and the underlying regulatory principles for major tariff approaches and discuss how these concepts may be applied to cost allocation in ICESs. Chapter 3 presents the cost allocation framework and approaches for ICESs derived from tariff design. Chapter 4 assesses the performance of cost allocation methods based on a case study in terms of the two criteria: cost reflectiveness and cost predictability. Chapter 5 analyzes the social acceptance of cost allocation in ICESs by using the multi-group multi-criteria decision-making method. Chapter 6 presents an extensive discussion on the main barriers and enablers in the implementation of cost allocation in ICESs. Chapter 7 answers the research questions and discusses the various findings from the research and draws the conclusions.

## $\mathbf{2}$

## Cost allocation in tariff design: a review

Nature and nature's laws lay hid in the night; God said 'Let Newton be!' and all was light.

Alexander Pope

In large power systems, cost allocation is the outcome of a regulatory process of allocating electricity supply costs to customers by electricity tariff, applying accounting and regulatory principles. Many issues are involved in tariff design in order to allocate costs in a proper manner. However, a systematic framework for allocating costs in ICESs is still lacking in current research. Clear procedures and objectives are required to be defined in order to ensure a successful implementation of cost allocation.

In this chapter, we address the research sub-question: "What can be learned from electricity tariff design with respect to cost allocation design in an ICES?". The aim of this chapter is to review the objectives, regulatory procedures, tariff structure design, regulatory principles, and cost allocation methods for tariff design in large power systems. Additionally, we aim to gain an understanding of how these can be applied to cost allocation in an ICES. For this purpose, it is necessary to have a comparison between large power systems and ICESs to know their differences. And then, we summarize tariff design objectives, cost allocation procedures, and the underlying regulatory principles for tariff design and discuss how these concepts may be applied to cost allocation in an ICES. The most widely used cost allocation methods are explained mathematically, as well as their advantages and disadvantages. And the application of each method in an ICES is discussed extensively. Firstly, a comparison between large power systems and ICESs is presented in Section 2.1. And then, a detailed overview of electricity tariff design includes definition, objectives, regulatory procedures, tariff structure design, and regulatory principles is provided in Section 2.2, followed with a discussion of how these concepts can be applied to the case of cost allocation in an ICES in Section 2.3. Section 2.4 reviews the widely used cost allocation methods in tariff design in large power systems, and how they are implemented and their characteristics. Following with a discussion on the experiences learned and application issues in ICESs. New concepts are derived based on the analysis of these methods. Finally, Section 2.5 draws the conclusions.

This chapter is a slightly modified version of the paper "Cost allocation in integrated community energy system - A review" published in the journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews [55].

# 2.1. Comparison between large power systems and ICESs

## 2.1.1. Large power systems

In large power systems, power is generated at central power plants and transmitted over high voltage lines to distribution stations, and then supplied to the end-users. The activities involved in the supply of electricity from generation to the end-users include: generation, transmission, distribution, and supply (retail) [56, 57]. In a competitive electricity market, generation and supply become competitive activities, the energy price is determined by the electricity market (also with tax on energy), and transmission and distribution activities are considered natural monopolies under regulation [57, 58]. Generation in large power systems takes place in large-scale power plants, such as nuclear, gas, and oil-based generators, which are centralized and controllable. Generation can satisfy load demand at all times with an appropriate dispatch of these power plants. In recent years, large-scale solar panels and wind turbine power plants are being integrated into large power systems to substitute the traditional sources of energy.

The costs incurred in large power systems include the costs for conducting generation, transmission, distribution and supply (retail) activities. All these costs are listed in the company accounts. They include the capital expenditures and operational expenditure, which covers the cost of operation and maintenance (O&M), and other overhead costs. A third cost category represents the fuel costs and energy purchase costs. Since these latter are proportional to the energy produced or purchased, they are considered variable costs. Other costs are considered fixed costs [59].

Typically, in a regulated setting, the total revenues of an operator are covered through the (regulated) tariffs - apart from activities which are left to a liberalized market. Cost recovery is thus guaranteed, as well as a fair allocation of these costs to system users, which is reflected in the tariff design. The application of appropriate and fair tariffs provides short-term and long-term signals to system users, thus contributing to the long-term stability and efficiency of the energy system.

#### 2.1.2. Integrated community energy systems

ICESs are local community energy systems consisting of two fundamental components: local DERs and a local community [18]. A general framework of an ICES is shown in Figure 2.1. The power is generated by local DERs (such as solar panels and small-scale wind turbines) and directly delivered to local consumers. Customers in ICESs have the right to invest in DERs, making them prosumers. ICESs also enable local energy exchange and sharing activities. Prosumers can trade their surplus energy in the community, while they are required to purchase energy in ICESs. Moreover, consumers can use the energy shared by prosumers. ICESs act as an aggregator in the context of this study, dealing with the activity of energy exchange and collective energy purchase from or sell to the grid. Energy storage is used to supplement deficit energy when DERs generation is insufficient and store surplus energy from RESs generation. Energy storage is the main enabler to deal with the intermittent problem of RESs generation and makes ICESs self-sufficient.

The total costs of ICESs contain all the cost items associated with the activities that are necessary to supply energy from generation to the end-users, which include capital expenditures, operational expenditures, local network costs (for connecting the members in the local energy system) and, if applicable, fuel costs. These are major costs for off-grid ICESs. For grid-connected ICESs, besides the costs mentioned above, the capital costs involved may also include grid connection costs and network service-related costs. Network service-related costs are used for getting support from the grid, such as maintaining system reliability and energy balance, ensuring power



Figure 2.1: A general structure of an ICES [1]

quality and voltage control, frequency control, and ancillary services. There may be a cost component for the energy exchange, i.e., for energy purchase costs from the national system as well as revenues from selling energy to the national system. Finally, there are additional costs for operating the community energy management system [22]. Other costs are all fixed except for the energy purchase costs and energy selling benefits. Once these facilities are installed, they can be operated during their technical lifetime. Especially for DERs, the annual costs for energy generation are limited.

#### 2.1.3. Comparison

This subsection summarizes the similarities and differences between large power systems and ICESs. Table 2.1 shows the physical differences between the two energy systems. Large power systems are centralized and generation is far away from the end-users. Transmission and distribution networks are used to transport power at a high voltage from generation to the end-users at a lower voltage. ICESs are in small-scale, electricity is locally generated and locally consumed. From the system operation perspective, system congestion exists in large power systems, while this problem does not exist in ICESs. The customers in large power systems are usually categorized into three groups: commercial, industrial and residential consumers. In ICESs, customers are local residents. They can choose to invest in DERs or not. Energy exchange is enabled between individual community members in ICESs. For large power systems, with the development of smart grids in recent years, consumers with DERs are allowed to form a virtual power plant, and this virtual power plant

	Large power systems	ICESs
Generation	Large centralized power plants (coal/gas-based power plants with large-scale	Small-scale DERs
	PV and wind turbine power plants)	(solar panels/ small-scale wind turbines)
Notwork	Transmission (high and medium voltage) network	Local (low voltage) network for
Network	Distribution (medium and low voltage) network	interconnection and grid-connection
System scale	From national to neighborhood level	Local community
Customora	Consumers	Consumers and prosumers
Customers	(Commercial, industrial and residential customers)	(Local community customers)
Regulator	Included	Not included

Table 2.1: Comparison between large power systems and ICESs in terms of system formulation

Table 2.2: Major cost items in large power systems and ICESs

	Large power systems	Off-grid ICESs	Grid-connected ICESs
	Capital costs (fixed)	Comital costs (freed)	Capital costs (fixed)
Generation costs	O & M costs (fixed and variable)	Capital costs (fixed)	O & M costs (fixed)
	Fuel costs (variable)	O & M costs (fixed)	Energy purchase costs (variable)
	The second secon		Local network interconnection
Notwork costs	Distribution network costs (fixed)	Local network interconnection costs (fixed)	costs (fixed)
Network costs			Grid connection costs (fixed)
	O & M costs (fixed)		Grid supportive service costs (fixed)
Other agets	Taxes and regulation costs (fixed)	Customer management costs (fixed)	Customer management costs (fixed)
Other costs	(Metering and billing)	(Metering and billing)	(Metering and billing)

aggregates the capacities from DERs to trade in the electricity market. The grid also enables energy trading, but still on a large scale. In large power systems, the regulator makes decisions on network tariff design according to the regulatory principles. In contrast with large power systems, in ICESs, there is no regulator assigning the costs to the members.

A comparison of the major cost items for both energy systems is shown in Table 2.2. In large power systems, generation costs take a large majority and vary with the amount of electricity generated. While in ICESs, the costs are classified between different grid-connection modes. For off-grid ICESs, the costs are almost fixed. Variable costs are included in grid-connected ICESs for purchasing energy from the grid. The costs in ICESs have the characteristic of Capex intensive.

In summary, ICESs have the same function as large power systems to provide electricity and related services to the end-users. In many ways, ICESs are smaller versions of the grid. However, ICESs differ in that they are close to electricity generation and consumption, which result in efficiency increases and loss reductions [18, 22]. ICESs are more environmentally-friendly and contribute to  $CO_2$  emission reduction, as most of the generation is from RESs. ICESs provide much more flexibility to consumers. They have the right to take charge of their energy systems. To some extent, ICESs increase power reliability as they are decentralized systems. ICESs also offer the possibility for rural electrification in remote areas, which is difficult for large power systems to reach due to the long transmission distance and high costs. Local community members take active participation in ICESs, as they are the main entity and they can invest in DERs and make decisions. ICESs focus on the engagement of local community members, and there is no regulator in ICESs, the community itself needs to find a suitable manner to allocate costs fairly among local community members. There is not much literature on how cost allocation in ICESs may take place. However, there are many examples of cost allocation methods used in tariff design in large power systems. By reviewing principles and methods of cost allocation in tariff design in large power systems, principles and methods that may be applicable to ICESs are identified.

## 2.2. An overview of electricity tariff design

This section reviews the objectives, regulatory procedures, tariff structure design and regulatory principles of tariff design in large power systems, followed with a discussion of how these concepts can be applied into the context of cost allocation in ICESs.

#### 2.2.1. Electricity tariff

As shown in Figure 2.2, before the liberalization of electricity market, all these charges paid by the end-users are determined and set by the regulatory authorities [60]. In the liberalized electricity market, generation and retail are deregulated and become competitive business activities, while transmission and distribution networks are still considered regulated natural monopolies [61]. The energy generation and retail activities are left to the market, any investors are allowed to install new power plants freely and sell electricity at the wholesale market price. The electricity price is the equilibrium price which is determined by the supply and demand curve in the electricity market. Consumers can purchase energy from any generation companies or retailers at a freely established price in the electricity market. In this thesis, we mainly focus on the transmission and distribution network tariff design, which are determined by the regulators.



Figure 2.2: Electricity tariffs before and after the liberalization of electricity market

Tariffs are basically a group of charges reflecting the costs of each activity. These charges consist of transmission network charges, distribution network charges and regulated taxes. A tariff is the interconnection between electricity companies and the



Figure 2.3: Key issues in electricity tariff design

end-users. In order to achieve a successful tariff design, many key issues are included in electricity tariff design. These key issues are summarized in Figure 2.3. Firstly, clear and concise objectives should be identified before allocating costs. Secondly, detailed processes are required to make sure the costs are allocated in a proper manner. Thirdly, a clear and informative charge structure should be provided to the end-users in order to ensure they are well informed of their billing structure. Finally, regulatory principles are essential guidelines to achieve the desired objectives and outcomes since distribution networks are not liberalized, and their prices should be regulated. In the following section, each of these issues will be elaborated in detail.

## 2.2.2. Objectives

Tariffs represent the financial settlement for the services offered by the power system to consumers. A well-designed tariff should be able not only to promote optimal utilization of the energy system in the short-term, but should also help to make the investment sustainable in the long-term. In general, there are two main objectives that need to be realized in tariff design. The first is to recover the total allowed costs [45, 61]. In a liberalized electricity market, the cost recovered is for network-related businesses. In general, this is the basic objective to achieve in order to make sure these activities are economically feasible. By doing so, the power sectors can provide energy to the end-users in a sustainable manner. In addition, this also contributes to attracting future investments, extending and updating the existing infrastructures, and providing high-quality energy to the end-users with the increasing demand.

The second objective is to send the right economic signals to the end-users [45, 61]. A well-designed tariff could lead the consumers to consume electricity efficiently,

such as shifting peak demand to off-peak hours. This is beneficial to the end-users, they can adjust their consumption behaviors and save energy bills by the provided economic signals. In addition, cost reflectivity is often the main goal of tariff design, which reflects the contribution of each network user to the cost of the network [62]. It also provides economic efficient signals to the end-users by informing them how they are charged and how their consumption behaviors affect their energy bills. Cost reflectivity is a very important criterion in tariff design, it can be used to evaluate how well the tariff is designed.

The two objectives are the ultimate goals regulators require to address and achieve. They not only protect the rights of the various actors in power systems, but also balance the benefits among them.

#### 2.2.3. Regulatory procedures

Tariff design for utility services follows a standardized procedure. The procedures for realizing tariff design mentioned in related literature are more or less the same. In general, there are two steps involved in the process of tariff design. The first step is to calculate the total allowed cost, which has to be recovered through tariffs [45, 46]. Two phases are involved in this step: (1) identifying the costs and investments, (2) establishing the allowed rate of return, to provide investors with suitable remuneration for their investment. The second step is to allocate the costs to the end-users. Cost allocation is a very important procedure in tariff design, it conveys information about how the costs are incurred and how they are allocated to each type of consumer [63, 64]. Two phases involved in this step [45]: (1) defining the tariff structure and (2) calculating the final charges.

The two steps in tariff design are consistent with the objectives defined in 2.2.2. The first step of calculating the allowed costs is also aimed to ensure cost recovery. When allocating costs to the end-users, economic signals are also provided to them. Therefore, the second step covers the second objective required to be achieved. The procedures reviewed above are not only the basic but also the essential parts in tariff design.

#### 2.2.4. Tariff structure design

The electricity tariff presents an economic signal to the end-users, which reveals how their consumption behaviors affect their energy bills. It is of great importance to design an informative tariff structure. The structures should contain different charge components, and they should have a large impact on the system costs [46]. In addition, the structure of the tariff should be concise and simplified, while revealing the underlying complexity of rate calculation and energy billing costs [64]. Tariff structures should include the drivers that cause the system costs and reflect the underlying cost structure [45, 46, 65]. Typically, the components in electricity tariffs include [45, 66]: (1) an energy charge ( $\in$ /kWh) (2) a demand charge ( $\in$ /kW) and (3) a fixed charge ( $\notin$ /period). The energy charge refers to charging the consumers based on their energy consumption (kWh) during the billing periods. The demand charge refers to that the electricity payment is determined by consumers' peak demand (kW) during the billing periods. The fixed charge is not relevant to the customers' energy consumption, it is meant to cover the infrastructure and delivery costs [50].

In addition, load profile varies according to the time of day. Time difference has a major impact on the system costs. Tariffs should take into account time differences, for instance, time-of-use (ToU) energy price [67–69], real-time price or critical peak price [60, 70]. It is beneficial to consumers if they are provided with the time-based pricing signal, in such a way that they can further react to demand response. The network capacity should be designed such that it can satisfy the load demand at all times, while a large portion of the network capacity is only used in peak hours, which only lasts for a few hours each year. Therefore, most of the network costs are invested for peak hours. The definition of time period varies between different customer categories. For example, peak and off-peak time periods are applied to commercial and industrial customers in general. It is essential to take different time periods into account in tariff design to ensure the load demand is not so high that the power system starts to collapse.

## 2.2.5. Regulatory principles for distribution network tariff design

In large power systems, transmission and distribution are regulated activities. This regulation follows certain regulatory principles, which are essential to arrive at a proper tariff design and to achieve the two objectives defined in 2.2.2. These are also the guidelines that tariff design should follow. These principles have already been mentioned and discussed in many research papers. They are classified into three categories: system sustainability principles, economic efficiency principles, and consumer protection principles [47, 71], which are presented in Figure 2.4.

- Economic sustainability It is aimed to ensure that costs are fully recovered through the tariff and that the power sector is break-even and economically viable. This is the basic principle of tariff design, and it is used to protect the benefits of electricity companies. Electricity companies recover the required costs to achieve sustainable development and attract new investments [45]. It is easy to measure to which extent the tariffs satisfy sustainability according to the costs recovered through them.
- Additivity It is designed to make sure that the sum of various charges equals the total revenue requirement. Tariffs are designed for different activities, which include: generation, transmission, distribution, and retailing. The sum of these tariffs should provide adequate revenues for the electricity companies [50, 64]. Costs are additive, it is easy to follow this principle.
- **Productive efficiency** It aims to make sure that electricity and related services are delivered to the end-users at a minimal cost while meeting quality



Figure 2.4: Summary of regulatory principles

standards [49]. By doing so, the total system costs are also controllable, thus incentivizing efficient investment. Productive efficiency requires power systems to work in the optimal operation condition.

- Allocative efficiency It aims to encourage consumers to consume energy efficiently. Allocative efficiency is concerned with the optimal distribution of electricity and related-services [47]. In classical economics, allocative efficiency occurs when the price of the goods equals the marginal cost of generation. This is the ideal point, which is beneficial both to consumers and producers. Allocative efficiency leads to efficient usage of energy and existing infrastructures of the power systems. Productive and allocative efficiency are the two main aspects of economic efficiency, which are used to ensure efficient resource allocation. Both principles are important in order to improve economic efficiency overall.
- **Cost causality** It is used to ensure that tariffs accurately reflect each user's contribution to power system costs [72, 73]. Costs should be allocated to the drivers that cause them. For instance, generation activity is both energy- and demand-related, since it is required to generate enough energy and meet peak energy demand with the high capacity requirement as well. The principle of cost causality makes the tariff much more robust.
- Equity or non-discrimination Consumers in the same group should be charged at the same rate for the same amount of use of energy and service, no matter how they utilize the energy, to ensure equity [46, 74]. This principle is used to ensure the end-users in the power system are treated fairly, without any discrimination.
- Stability It aims to make sure that tariffs remain stable in the short-term

and gradually change in the long-term, so as to reduce regulatory uncertainty [75].

- **Simplicity** It is used to make sure that the adopted methods and the results of cost allocation should be as easy as possible to understand [62].
- **Transparency** The process and selected method for tariff design should be transparent to all users. In addition, how the consumers are charged should be clear to them [66].

However, some of the principles conflict with each other, for example, the economic efficiency principle may violate the principle of equity or non-discrimination. Generally speaking, it is not a simple task to set an efficient tariff. Tariffs must comply and achieve a balance between these conflicting regulatory principles, and they should follow at least the three principles: cost recovery, non-discrimination, and transparency [66]. Even though it is hard to have an ideal tariff that follows all the principles, they provide a guarantee to arrive at a proper tariff design at least.

# 2.3. Applicability of tariff design to cost allocation in ICESs

An ICES is a small-scale energy system, it has the same function as a large power system to supply energy from generation to the end-users. After years of development and progress, a mature systematic framework has been formed to design tariffs for a utility electricity system under regulation, both in theory and practical implementation. However, there is not much theoretical research on allocating costs in ICESs. The work done in large power systems provides sufficient theoretical support on how to allocate costs in ICESs without regulation. The key issues reviewed in tariff design provide a systematic framework for guiding how to allocate costs in ICESs. In this section, the lessons learned and applicability possibilities from tariff design in large power systems are discussed and summarized.

Various stakeholders are involved in ICESs, the benefits of each party should be guaranteed. From the perspective of investors, the investment made by them should be recovered to ensure sustainable investment from investors and the development of ICESs, which is consistent with the objective of cost recovery in large power systems. Consumers are expected to be informed of sufficient information for their energy consumption, for instance, real-time pricing or day-ahead pricing, then they have enough time to schedule energy consumption. This will lead to efficient energy consumption, thus help them to save energy costs and improve energy efficiency. Therefore, the second objective of sending economic signals to the end-users is also required in ICESs. The engagement of local community members is essential in the formulation of an ICES. Their opinions and suggestions should be taken carefully into account. The success of cost allocation in ICESs is largely dependent on the social acceptance of local community members. Fairness is a very important issue that large utility entities are also dealing with tariff design [71]. This is also the goal that ICESs require to achieve. Costs should be allocated to those who incurred them, and benefits should accrue to those who made them to avoid free-rider behavior and make it socially acceptable to local community members. It is one of the most important factors that affects social acceptance by local community members. Therefore, along with the objectives mentioned above for tariff design, social acceptance should be taken into account in the objectives and further developed.

The procedures in tariff design in large power systems provide a fundamental framework on how to allocate costs in ICESs step by step. While considering the context of ICESs, the following items should be carefully considered in the process of cost allocation in ICESs, include: (1) Identify how much costs and benefits should be allocated (recouped) and distributed (2) Deliver information about how costs are incurred and how the benefits are accrued (3) Identify the parties to which costs and benefits should be allocated (4) Present how costs and benefits are allocated (5) Send information of the final charges to customers to promote efficient energy use and ensure effective investment. Each item should be explained comprehensively to make it clear to the various stakeholders in ICESs.

The tariff structure in ICESs is determined by the cost allocation method adopted. Since there is no universal cost allocation method, therefore, the tariff structure is not definite in ICESs. However, it should be well-formulated in order to provide sufficient information to the end-users and reflect costs. By doing so, they can fully understand how their energy consumption is charged.

Besides these issues, the regulatory principles proposed in tariff design are also applicable in ICESs. Regulators make these regulatory principles to regulate tariffs, taking into account the benefits and rights of different stakeholders in large power systems. Similarly, these principles can also be used to regulate cost allocation design in ICESs to achieve the desired objectives and arrive at a proper charge. They can also be regarded as the criteria to evaluate how well cost allocation is designed in ICESs.

## 2.4. Review of cost allocation methods

There are many successful examples of cost allocation methods applied in tariff design in large power systems. In recent years, consumers are becoming prosumers with the penetration of DERs, which has changed the way the distribution network system being operated and managed. This has put cost recovery and fair and efficient allocation of distribution network costs at risk [47]. The traditional pricing methods are not suitable for the new system as they do not reflect the costs and benefits that belong to consumers, prosumers, and the distribution network [76]. It has become a necessity to redesign the distribution network tariff as it is the pricing signal received by the end-users. Many cost allocation methods are proposed in this transition process to cope with the problem brought by the penetration of DERs. A two-part network charge design was proposed in [47], which includes two components: a peak coincident network charge and a fixed charge. The peak coincident network charge is obtained by allocating costs according to their contribution to peak demand during peak hours, and the fixed charge is obtained by allocating the remaining network costs by following Ramsey pricing principles to ensure cost recovery. It concluded that the proposed design could send efficient economic signals to customers during peak network hours while ensuring cost recovery. In this chapter, the cost allocation approaches applied in distribution network tariff design are reviewed for application as cost allocation methods in ICESs. Each method is explained and the underlying principles are indicated, as well as its advantages and disadvantages. Finally, the application of each method in an ICES is discussed.

## 2.4.1. Flat energy pricing method

#### Approach

This method allocates costs according to the total amount of energy consumption, irrespective of the time of energy consumption [67, 69, 77]. It charges consumers at the same electricity price all the time. It allows the utility companies to break even because the total cost includes both fixed and variable costs [78]. It is the most straightforward method for calculating energy price: dividing energy-related costs by the volume of total energy consumption [79]. Consumers pay electricity bills at a flat rate per kWh. The flat energy price  $P_f \ (\in/kWh)$  is calculated as:

$$P_f = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{t=1}^{T} E_i(t)}$$
(2.1)

where  $TC \in ()$  is the total cost,  $E_i(t)$  (kWh) is the energy consumption at hour t of customer i, N is the number of customers. The energy bill of customer  $i C_i \in )$  in time period T is:

$$C_i = P \times \sum_{t=1}^{T} E_i(t) \tag{2.2}$$

#### Advantages and disadvantages

The advantage of this method is that it is simple to calculate and easy to understand. The drawback of this method is that the price is flat in all consumption periods. It does not reflect the time difference. Under this tariff, consumers do not have the incentive to shift energy consumption from peak hours to off-peak hours. This method does not reflect the actual utilization of the network when applied in a distribution network. Because the investment in the distribution network is peak-capacity-related, and the networks are designed in such a way that they can satisfy load demand at every instant. However, flat energy pricing is one of the most popular pricing mechanisms employed in many countries and is accepted by regulators [63, 80].

#### Applicability to ICESs

This method is easy to apply in cost allocation in ICESs. The parameters needed are total cost and total energy consumption in a certain time period. Consumers pay the cost at the flat energy price according to the amount of energy consumed. Costs do not need to be classified, all the costs are considered energy-related. In order to recover the total cost and set the right energy price, energy consumption is used instead of energy generation. The problem caused by this method is that the price is obtained *ex-post*. It cannot be communicated to consumers beforehand. Energy generation from RESs is very high during the daytime, but almost nonexistent during night hours. Flat energy pricing balances the cost difference between peak and off-peak generation hours. It is not fair to customers who consume more during high generation hours and less in off-peak generation hours. They are compensating for customers who consume more in peak demand hours and less in peak generation hours. This problem should be taken into account in an energy system in which generation mainly comes from RESs.

#### 2.4.2. Base and peak method

#### Approach

The base and peak method has a two-part allocator factor [81]. It allocates costs to the two rating periods: base and peak hours. It promotes efficient utilization of energy resources by charging higher prices in peak hours and lower prices in base hours. The base and peak method can also be regarded as a ToU pricing method. A ToU rate structure was designed for a large electric utility company in the United States [82]. It was tested on commercial and industrial consumers, and the results showed that they pay lower electricity bills than under a flat energy price mechanism [82]. The study in [67] investigated consumer behavior under a ToU tariff structure. The results showed that the adoption of a ToU tariff incentivizes consumers to shift energy consumption in peak hours to off-peak hours. In addition, a ToU tariff benefits producers by increasing their profits and consumers by reducing their energy costs. An empirical study was carried out in [83] to evaluate how customers respond to a demand-based ToU electricity distribution tariff. It revealed that households are enthusiastic to join this program by shifting energy consumption from peak to off-peak hours. These examples demonstrate that a ToU tariff is an effective pricing strategy for lowering peak demand.

This method allocates costs according the rules that costs for satisfying base demand are allocated to the two periods, and costs for satisfying peak demand over base demand level are allocated to peak hours only [81]. The costs allocated to base  $TC_{base}$  ( $\in$ ) and peak hours  $TC_{peak}$  ( $\in$ ) are calculated as:

$$TC_{base} = TC_1 \times \frac{T_{base}}{T} \tag{2.3}$$

$$TC_{peak} = TC_1 \times \left(1 - \frac{T_{base}}{T}\right) + TC_2 \tag{2.4}$$

where  $TC_1$  ( $\in$ ) are the costs for satisfying base demand, and  $TC_2$  ( $\in$ ) are the costs for satisfying peak demand over base demand level.  $T_{base}$  (hours) are off-peak hours, and T (hours) are the sum of off-peak and peak hours.

Once the peak and base hour costs are obtained, it is easy to calculate the energy price for the two periods, which are calculated as:

$$P_{base} = \frac{TC_{base}}{E_{base}} \tag{2.5}$$

$$P_{peak} = \frac{TC_{peak}}{E_{peak}} \tag{2.6}$$

where  $P_{base}$  and  $P_{peak}$  ( $\in$ /kWh) are the energy prices in base and peak hours, respectively.  $E_{base}$  and  $E_{peak}$  (kWh) are the total energy consumption in base and peak hours. The hourly energy bill  $C_i(t)$  ( $\in$ ) for customer i is:

$$C_i(t) = \begin{cases} P_{base} \times E_i(t) & t \in T_{base} \end{cases}$$
(2.7a)

where  $E_i(t)$  (kWh) is the hourly energy consumption of customer *i*,  $T_{base}$  and  $T_{peak}$  (hours) are base and peak periods. The energy bill of customer *i* in time period *T* is:

$$C_{i} = \sum_{t=1}^{T} C_{i}(t)$$
(2.8)

Accordingly, the base, intermediate and peak method follows the same concept as that for the base and peak method. This method takes into account the three rating periods: base, intermediate and peak hours. The costs for satisfying base demand are allocated to all three periods, the costs for satisfying intermediate demand over base demand level are allocated to intermediate and peak hours, and the costs for satisfying peak demand over intermediate level are allocated to peak hours only.

#### Advantages and disadvantages

In large power systems, it is easy to know which power plants are being dispatched during each period. Therefore, it is easy to classify the costs in each time period. The advantage of the base and peak method is very obvious, it contributes to reducing peak demand by sending economic pricing signals to customers. Customers are encouraged to adjust their consumption behavior either by shifting their peak demand to off-peak hours or by reducing peak demand directly. By doing so, customers reduce their energy bills. The appropriate time blocks need to be defined. The calculation process for this problem is much more complex. It does not reflect the impact of peak demand of customers on the system. The advantages of this method outweigh its disadvantages.

#### Applicability to ICESs

Both the two (base and peak) and three (base, intermediate and peak) rating periods methods are applicable for cost allocation in ICESs. The required data are consumption data and costs in peak and off-peak hours. Smart meters are required to obtain hourly consumption data. Smart meters also make it easy to classify peak and off-peak hours. The key challenge in implementing this method is how to allocate the total costs in peak and off-peak hours separately. In the case of an ICES, the costs are almost fixed because they are based on RESs. This is different from large power systems, where different power plants can be scheduled and operated in different hours. One possible solution is to classify the total fixed costs for an ICES by using a coefficient, for instance, load factor. With the base, intermediate and peak method, it is also possible to select multiple time periods to make the method more time-reflective.

The base and peak method reflects the difference of energy price in different hours. In ICESs, generation is mostly from RESs, high during the day and low during the night. One implication obtained from this method is to modify the pricing mechanism to time-of-generation instead of ToU. A time-of-generation energy price reflects the capability of generation. Price is low during high generation hours and high during low generation hours. Load is also low in high generation hours, therefore, it is possible to adjust peak and off-peak demand. For instance, adjusting peak demand to high generation hours. This requires further investigation in terms of practical implementation.

## 2.4.3. Marginal cost pricing method

#### Approach

Marginal cost is defined as the change of total cost when producing one more unit of energy (e.g. 1 MWh). In the short-term, the capacity of the energy system is fixed, the short-term marginal cost only includes the operating costs of the existing infrastructure, without any additional investment [84–86]. Normally, this provides the hourly energy price, which could be regarded as real-time pricing [63, 80, 87]. In a liberalized wholesale electricity market design, the short-term marginal cost is used to set the electricity market price. This approach describes the real situation of the present scenario, however, it is volatile and does not enable recovery of the revenue required [88, 89].

Long-term marginal cost is focused on possible future scenarios, it is the cost of the same increase in demand but with the option of new investment to adapt the system to new demand levels in the long-term, and follows the best investment trend [90, 91]. It includes both long-term operation, investment and reinforcement costs [92]. It reflects the cost of bringing forward or deferring future investment. Long-term marginal cost provides a solution with a set of possible future scenarios instead of having as many possible short-term marginal costs as there are possible future scenarios [46]. The long-term incremental cost approach is normally used instead of long-term marginal cost to mitigate the lumpiness of network investment. The difference between long-term marginal cost and long-term incremental cost is that long-term incremental cost refers to the total additional cost resulting from producing a certain amount of capacity (eg. 10 MW) [84, 93, 94]. There is no universally acceptable consensus on how marginal and incremental costs should be calculated, their mathematical formulations based on their original definitions are given in [94]. The marginal cost  $MC \ (\in/kW(h))$  is calculated as:

$$MC = \frac{dTC(Q)}{dQ} \tag{2.9}$$

where Q is the quantity of energy (kWh) or capacity (kW) supplied, and TC(Q) ( $\in$ ) is the cost function.

Incremental cost  $IC \ (\in/kW)$  is calculated as:

$$IC = TC(Q + \Delta Q) - TC(Q) \tag{2.10}$$

Advantages and disadvantages

Both marginal and incremental cost can be applied in the cost allocation for generation [81], transmission [95–97] and distribution network activities [46, 61]. The short-term marginal cost pricing method provides the most economic signals to consumers according to classic economics. However, it can only recover the variable operating costs in generation and distribution activities [89, 98, 99]. Long-term marginal cost is more attractive in transmission and distribution network tariff design in theory, but the calculation is very difficult and future assumptions are required [96]. Neither short-term marginal cost nor long-term marginal cost can ensure cost recovery [46, 100]. Therefore, the first problem incurred by these methods is revenue reconciliation or modification, which are required to recover the costs that cannot be recovered. The second problem is that these charges are calculated based on optimal expansion tools which may not be the same case in practice. For the long-term incremental cost method, it still cannot ensure the recovery of the total cost because of the lumpiness of network investment and economies of scale. Another disadvantage of long-term marginal cost is that it cannot send short-term economic signals to consumers compared with short-term marginal cost, and may lead to investment delay.

#### **Revenue reconciliation**

Revenue reconciliation is used to recover the cost that cannot be recovered using long-term marginal cost and long-term incremental cost. The first option is to make adjustments by applying coefficients to the rates [61, 88]. The coefficients used are multiplier and additive [100–102]. The first adjustment is to multiply a ratio of the allowed costs to the marginal based-revenues [103]. Its purpose is to recover the total allowed cost. The second adjustment is to add the same amount to all rates for all customer categories and periods [61]. This method maintains the economic efficiency of the rates signal. The second option is to use a two-part tariff to recover the cost that cannot be recovered by marginal cost. The idea is that variable costs are recovered by marginal cost, and the fixed costs are recovered by fixed charges (the costs are divided by the number of customers) [80]. The third option is to make modifications to the method, for example, a coincident factor based on the long-term marginal cost pricing model has been proposed in [104, 105], it can not only recover the required costs, but also encourage consumers to reduce their coincident peak demand effectively, thus reducing network congestion and investment.

#### Applicability to ICESs

Marginal cost pricing is the most efficient pricing signal from an economic perspective, however, the marginal cost for RESs is almost zero, as has been illustrated extensively in the literature [106–111]. Particularly in the case of a renewable energy source based ICES, the short-term marginal cost is always zero in off-grid operation mode. The total cost cannot be recovered using this pricing mechanism. For a gridconnected ICES, the marginal cost is the price at which the ICES buys electricity from the grid when generation cannot meet demand. It also cannot recover the cost in the case of RESs either. The marginal cost pricing mechanism therefore cannot be applied in cost allocation in ICESs.

Short-term marginal cost shows the hourly energy price. One implication obtained from this concept is to calculate the hourly energy generation price. For instance, diving the total cost between the generation hours equally and calculating the energy price based on the energy generation at that hour. It violates the definition of marginal cost and cannot be called marginal cost pricing, but at least it can provide some economic signal that reflects generation capability. One of the biggest problems of using this method is whether to provide real-time or day-ahead price, because they are not the same due to the difference between real-time generation and forecast data. The costs that cannot be recovered can be left for revenue reconciliation. Another problem is how to set the energy price when there is no energy generation from RESs. Marginal cost pricing is a complicated issue both in large power systems and ICESs. It is a big topic that needs further research. However, at this moment, based on the analysis of the concept of marginal cost pricing, its drawbacks are so obvious that they outweigh its advantages. Applying this method to cost allocation in ICESs is not recommended.

#### 2.4.4. Average and excess method

#### Approach

The average and excess method allocates costs using factors that combine the customers' average and non-coincident peak demands [81, 112]. It has a two-part allocation factor [113, 114], the first part is the ratio of average demand of a customer and the sum of the average demand of all customers, multiplied by the system load factor (average system consumption divided by the system peak demand). The second part is the ratio of the excess demand of each customer and the system excess demand, multiplied by the complement of the system load factor (one minus the system load factor). The excess demand for a customer is the difference between the peak demand and the average consumption of the customer. The system excess demand is the sum of all customers' excess demand. The two factors are calculated as:

$$f_{1,\ i} = \frac{E_{ave,\ i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{ave,\ i}} \times lf$$
(2.11)

$$f_{2,\ i} = \frac{E_{exc,\ i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{exc,\ i}} \times (1 - lf)$$
(2.12)

$$E_{exc, i} = E_{peak, i} - E_{ave, i} \tag{2.13}$$

$$lf = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{ave, i}}{E_{peak}} \tag{2.14}$$

where  $f_{1, i}$  and  $f_{2, i}$  are the two-part allocation factors of customer *i*,  $E_{ave, i}$ ,  $E_{peak, i}$  and  $E_{exc, i}$  (kW) are the average, peak and excess demand of customer *i*,  $E_{peak}$  (kW) is the system peak demand. lf is load factor of the whole energy system.

The final cost allocated to consumer i is:

$$C_i = (f_{1, i} + f_{2, i}) \times TC \tag{2.15}$$

#### Advantages and disadvantages

This method allocates costs based on the average and excess energy consumption of the customers. It does not take the consumption periods into account. The first allocator indicates the share of their average consumption in the average consumption of the whole system. The second allocator indicates the share of their excess consumption on the excess consumption of the whole system. The second allocator reflects the impact of peak demand on final costs. The economic signal provided by this method is that customers should maintain their energy consumption within the average consumption level to reduce their energy bills. The disadvantage of this method is that large quantities of data are required to calculate the allocators and final costs. The calculation process is rather complicated.

#### Applicability to ICESs

The required data are the average and peak demand of each customer and of the energy system as a whole to calculate the two allocators. It is easy to obtain these data with the deployment of smart meters. This method can be applied in cost allocation in ICESs. Customers are aware that they should pay attention to their peak demand with the introduction of the concept of this method beforehand.

The average and excess method charges customers according to their consumption levels. Based on this idea, it is also possible to derive a new approach to allocate costs: setting two charges for different energy consumption levels. For example, customers could pay at a lower price if their energy consumption is within the average consumption level, and at a higher price for the part above the average consumption level. This pricing mechanism provides energy pricing signals instead of allocating costs directly to customers. The focus is on the consumption level instead of on consumption hours. In ICESs, energy generation is mainly from RESs, energy storage is used to store and supply energy efficiently and economically. An energy consumption level based pricing mechanism can help customers make a rational decision. They can decide how much capacity of battery storage should be invested in to maintain their energy consumption below the average level. By doing so, customers can avoid unnecessary costs involved in paying for excess consumption at a higher price. The details of this new pricing mechanism should be further developed and modeled to identify its effectiveness.

#### 2.4.5. Ramsey pricing method

#### Approach

The Ramsey pricing method allocates costs in inverse proportion to price elasticity [115, 116]. It is considered the second-best pricing method, which is between an ordinary monopoly and perfect competition, because it is based on marginal cost pricing (which is regarded as the very best pricing method) [80, 117]. It is normally used in cases in which the marginal cost is below the average cost, which would make the utility companies make losses [118]. The studies in [99] and [116] analyzed the application of Ramsey pricing in Chinese and Japanese electric companies separately, both results showed that the use of Ramsey pricing increases the residential electricity price while decreasing the industrial electricity price. An optimal electricity market price is derived based on Ramsey pricing in the day-ahead Italian wholesale electricity market in [117], the results show that Ramsey pricing can improve social welfare.

The objective of Ramsey pricing is to maximize social welfare which is subjected to minimum profit constraints [99, 116, 119]. The mathematical expression for calculating Ramsey pricing according to research [63, 99] is :

$$\frac{P_i - MC_i}{P_i} = \frac{\lambda}{1 + \lambda} \frac{1}{\eta_i}$$
(2.16)

where  $P_i$  ( $\in$ /kWh) is the electricity price for customer group i,  $MC_i$  ( $\in$ /kWh) is the marginal cost for customer group i,  $\lambda$  is the Lagrange multiplier derived from the welfare maximization problem,  $\eta_i$  is the price elasticity of demand associated with customer group i.

#### Advantages and disadvantages

The advantage of Ramsey pricing is obvious, in that it can maximize social welfare. However, there are two main drawbacks to Ramsey pricing which make it hard to apply in practice [64]. The first drawback is that it is difficult to estimate the price elasticity of demand in practice. The second drawback is that it is discriminatory: because most of the costs are borne by the consumers who have an inelastic demand, it violates the principle of equity. The third is that it does not provides economic pricing signals to consumers.

#### Applicability to ICESs

Energy generation in ICESs is almost all from RESs. The marginal costs for RESs are zero [106–108], which means the equation does not bear any relationship to electricity price. Therefore, the Ramsey pricing method is not suitable for cost allocation in ICESs.

#### 2.4.6. Postage stamp method

#### Approach

The postage stamp method is widely used in European countries for transmission network cost allocation [120–122]. It allocates the allowed revenue according to the magnitude of the transacted power, which is measured at the time of the system peak demand [38, 123–125]. The transmission network price  $P_{TN}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is calculated as:

$$P_{TN} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{K} E_{tran, i}}$$
(2.17)

where  $E_{tran, i}$  (kW) is the peak demand of transaction *i*. *K* is the number of transactions. Therefore the transmission network cost for transaction *i* is:

$$C_i = P_{TN} \times E_{tran, i} \tag{2.18}$$

#### Advantages and disadvantages

The postage stamp is a non-power-flow-based method. The principle of this method is simple and straightforward. It is easy to calculate the transmission network cost according to the peak demand of each transaction. However, it does not take the actual system operation into account: the transmission distance, the location and the actual usage of the transmission network. The economic signals sent to transmission network customers may not be correct and efficient[93, 126, 127]. According to the study in [123], the postage stamp method is favored by investors, because the tariff is stable and predictable.

#### Applicability to ICESs

This method is usually used in transmission network cost allocation, while ICESs are focused on local community, which is at a low voltage level. The required data are the peak demand of each household and of the whole system. Even though the peak demand of each household is not as high as that of the transmission network, their peak demand differs between different household types, for example, household with one person, couple or couple with children. The peak demand of each household is measured at the time of system peak demand. This can be achieved by installing smart meters. The peak demand data cannot be obtained in advance. Information can be delivered to customers that their energy bills are determined by their peak demand. It is easy and simple to apply this method to cost allocation in ICESs.

#### 2.4.7. Contract path method

#### Approach

The contract path method allocates costs according to the selected path (which is also referred to as the contract path) between the seller and the buyer [95, 128]. It is also mostly used in cost allocation in the transmission network. The transmission network price  $P_{TN}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is calculated as:

$$P_{TN} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{R} E_{path, i}}$$
(2.19)

where  $E_{path, i}$  (kW) is the magnitude of power signed in the contract for path *i*. *R* is the number of contract paths. Therefore, the network cost for customer *i* is:

$$C_i = P_{TN} \times E_{path, i} \tag{2.20}$$

#### Advantages and disadvantages

Similar to the postage stamp method, contract path is also a non-power-flow-based method. It is easy to calculate. The concept is easy to understand. The drawback is that the selected path may not be the actual power flow transported. The contract path is selected by the seller and the buyer without performing a power flow study to identify the path that is actually used in practice [84, 93]. Neither the postage stamp nor contract path methods take the actual operating environment of the system into account.

#### Applicability to ICESs

ICESs do not have a transmission and distribution network. Energy is delivered to customers directly from the generation site. This is not the same with large power systems, for which a path can be selected for transporting energy from generation to customers at remote locations. This method cannot be applied to cost allocation in ICESs.

There is no selected path for transporting power in ICESs, however, it is possible to sign a contract with customers to determine the installed capacity of DERs. In a small-scale DERs based energy system, the installed capacity is usually calculated by following the rule that the annual energy generation should satisfy the annual energy consumption [129]. The contract path method can be modified as it allocates the total costs according to the individual requirements of DERs. Customers are required to consume energy within the generation capacity. Here is a brief introduction of the concept of contract capacity, further research is still required. For instance, investigating the impact of peak demand on the energy bills of each household.

### 2.4.8. Distance-based-MV-mile method

#### Approach

The distance based MW-mile method allocates the transmission network cost based on the magnitude of transacted power and geographical distance between seller and buyer [122, 130]. The product of the magnitude of the transacted power and the distance it travels is called the MW-mile value. This method is a usage-based cost allocation method, charges are calculated based on the extent of use of the physical network [38]. The transmission network price is proportional to the MW-mile value and is calculated as:

$$P_{TN} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{K} PX_i} \tag{2.21}$$

$$PX_i = L_i \times E_{tr, i} \tag{2.22}$$

where  $PX_i$  (MW · mile) is MW-mile value,  $L_i$  (mile) is the geographical distance between seller and buyer of transaction i,  $E_{tr, i}$  (kW) is the magnitude of the transacted power.

The transmission network cost for transaction i is:

$$C_i = P_{TN} \times PX_i \tag{2.23}$$

#### Advantages and disadvantages

This method provides economic signals to short and long distance network users to make the best use of the existing transmission network system [122]. However, it is hard to show the relationship between the transacted power and the power flow transported [93].

#### Applicability to ICESs

Local community members are close to each other geographically and are connected with low voltage in the ICES. Therefore, the power transportation lines are so short that the distance can be neglected. The distance-based-MV-mile method is applicable in high voltage transmission networks, it is not suitable for the situation of ICESs.

#### 2.4.9. Power-flow-based-MV-mile method

#### Approach

The power-flow-based-MW-mile method allocates the transmission network cost based on the magnitude of power flow [131, 132]. It is a power flow based cost allocation method, the cost is recovered by power flow charges [38, 93, 133]. The transmission network price is calculated as:

$$P_{TN} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{K} \sum_{j=1}^{Z} c_j L_{i,j} E_{i,j}}$$
(2.24)

where Z is the set of all circuits.  $c_j \in (MW \cdot mile)$  is the cost of circuit j per MW per mile ,  $L_{i,j}$  (mile) is the length of circuit j of transaction i,  $E_{i,j}$  (kW) is the power flow in circuit j caused by transaction i. The transmission network cost for transaction i is:

$$C_{i} = P_{TN} \times \sum_{j=1}^{K} c_{j} L_{i,j} P_{i,j}$$
(2.25)

#### Advantages and disadvantages

This method takes into account the actual system operation conditions, it is able to send correct and efficient economic signals to the users. It helps promote rational future investment for network expansions and reinforcement [126]. The costs allocated to users are based on their actual usage of the transmission network. However, compared to the postage stamp method, this usage-based method is much more complicated and the payments are less predictable.

#### Applicability to ICESs

The power flows of households vary widely during the day, it is hard to measure their magnitude. The length of the circuit from generation to households is so short that it can be neglected. Even though this method takes into account the actual operation of the energy system, it is difficult to do these measurements in ICES. This method is mainly used in high voltage transmission network cost allocation, it is not recommended to apply it to cost allocation in ICESs.

#### 2.4.10. Coincident peak method

#### Approach

A coincident peak (CP) method allocates costs in proportion to its share of the system peak during the measured time cycle (for example, one year) [81, 134]. It is usually used in transmission and distribution network cost allocation in the United States and the United Kingdom [135, 136]. Accordingly, there are the 2-CP, 4-CP and 12-CP methods. The 2-CP method uses the average system peak demand in winter and summer as the system peak demand, and the average individual peak demand in winter and summer as the individual peak demand. The 4-CP uses the average demand in four seasons, and the 12-CP uses the average demand in twelve months as the peak demand. These methods show the time difference impact on the system peak instead of one single peak demand. With coincident peak pricing mechanisms, industrial consumers reduced their peak demand in response to the 1-CP and 4-CP, while the reduction of the 4-CP is much larger than the 1-CP [137], as it encourages demand response during peak hours. The coincident peak demand charge  $P_{CP}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is calculated as:

$$P_{CP} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{CP, i}}$$
(2.26)

where  $E_{CP, i}$  (kW) is peak demand of customer *i* occurring at the system peak hours. The cost allocated to customer *i* is:

$$C_i = P_{CP} \times E_{CP, i} \tag{2.27}$$

#### Advantages and disadvantages

A coincident peak method is cost-reflective, the costs reflect the individual's contribution to the system peak demand [91]. However, these methods ignore load information, such as load factor and energy consumption [114]. A coincident peak method is also more beneficial to those who have a higher load factor; even though their load demand does not fluctuate significantly, they are using the generation facilities most of the time.

#### Applicability to ICESs

This concept is similar to the concept of the postage stamp method. The required data are coincident peak demand of each household and the whole system. It is easy to get these data with the deployment of smart meters. It reflects the contribution of peak demand of each household to the whole system. For the 2-CP, 4-CP and 12-CP methods, they follow the same principles as the 1-CP, they can also be used in cost allocation in ICESs. They are more accurate when more time periods are taken into account.

#### 2.4.11. Non-coincident peak method

#### Approach

A non-coincident peak method allocates costs in proportion to the sum of the individual peak demand, regardless of when it occurs during the measured period, which may not coincide with the system peak [81, 113]. It is based on the theory that the system could satisfy all the customers' maximum demand. The non-coincident peak demand charge  $P_{NCP}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is calculated as:

$$P_{NCP} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{peak, i}}$$
(2.28)

The cost allocated to customer i is:

$$C_i = P_{NCP} \times E_{peak, i} \tag{2.29}$$

As with the CP methods, there are also a number of NCP methods: 2-NCP, 4-NCP, and 12-NCP, which are based on the same principle as NCP methods.

#### Advantages and disadvantages

Individual peak demand may not occur at the same time as the system peak demand, therefore, it may not reflect consumers' contribution to the system peak demand. It reflects how their individual peak demand influences their energy bill. But it still ignores detailed information about energy consumption.

#### Applicability to ICESs

The required data are the peak demand of each household. It is also easy to measure individual peak demand with the help of smart meters. A non-coincident peak method is easy to implement in cost allocation in ICESs. The 2-NCP, 4-NCP, and 12-NCP methods follow the same principles of the 1-NCP method, and they also can be applied in the case of ICESs.

## 2.4.12. Cost allocation based on the cost-causality principle method

#### Approach

Cost allocation based on the cost-causality principle method refers to allocating system costs to the agents or elements (also referred to as cost drivers) that cause them, thus giving a highly efficient signal [61, 138]. This method is derived from the accounting approach, but it is more robust in that it follows the cost-causality principle. However, it is hard to determine the cost-causality cost function. This method can be used in cost allocation not only for the vertically integrated energy system, but also for separate activity. For instance, in Norway, the distribution network company charges household consumers an annual fixed charge, a demand charge and a variable energy rate [139]. Under this approach, there is no need to function the total cost into different activities. The cost-causality method based on the analysis of the cost-causality function is proposed in [46] for recovery of distribution costs. The reference network model is used as a tool for analyzing the cost-causality function, which is an optimization modeling tool that can be used to minimize the total network costs. The cost-causality function reflects the relationship between costs and their causes [46, 61]. The cost-causality based method is studied in [134]; a nodal pricing method is used to recover loss costs and a coincident peak method is used to recover fixed network costs, taking time and location into account. According to the research in [81, 112, 113], in general, three steps are identified to allocate costs based on the cost-causality principle, namely: functionalization, classification, and allocation.

(1) Functionalization: this is the process of grouping assets and expenses into different operating functions: generation, transmission, distribution and supply. Generation costs are the expenses for energy generation and purchases. Transmission network costs are associated with the expenses for building the transmission network for connecting generators and the distribution network. Distribution network costs are the expenses for building distribution networks for connecting the transmission network and customers. Supply-related costs are the expenses for providing services to end-users, including: meter, meter reading, billing, billing collection, and other customer-service-related activities.

(2) Classification: this is the process of separating the costs of operating functions to the different cost drivers that cause them [45, 112]. Cost drivers are the key factors that drive the total costs of the power system [61, 138]. Cost drivers are selected according to two criteria: they should have a great impact on the system costs and they should be easy to measure. According to the study in [140–142], the commonly used cost drivers are: energy (kWh), capacity (kW) and customer service (customer number). The standard costing methods adopted by the United States utility companies are: fixed costs that are demand-related, and variable costs that are energy-related [82]. Demand-related costs include the costs of generation, transmission and a part of distribution network facilities. Energy-related costs include fuel costs, power purchase costs and plant maintenance expenses.

(3) Allocation: this is the process of allocating energy, demand and customerservice-related costs to different customer categories. In general, the customer categories include: industrial, commercial and residential customers according to the load characteristics. Traditionally, time difference is not taken into account, demand costs are allocated based on the peak demand, energy costs are allocated based on the quantity of energy produced and purchased, and customer costs are allocated based on the number of customers.

#### Advantages and disadvantages

The advantages of this method are obvious: costs are allocated based on the drivers that cause them. It is cost-reflective. It takes into consideration different activities, voltage levels and customer categories. The final tariff structure is detailed but also makes the allocation process much more complex. It is not easy to implement this method in practice as some costs are difficult to classify. It is not an easy task to classify the costs accurately.

#### Applicability to ICESs

The activities involved in ICESs are mainly generation and power supply, nearly all costs can be considered fixed, they do not vary with the energy generated. There is only one customer category: household residents are the end-users. The characteristics of an ICES simplify the process of this method. Based on the analysis above, fixed costs are usually attributed to capacity and customer service. It is easy to apply this method to cost allocation in ICESs. However, the generation capability of RESs is affected by weather conditions, energy generation is not always at the maximum. Even though investment, operation and maintenance costs are fixed in ICESs, energy generation varies. Modification is required to think about how to classify costs to the cost driver of energy instead of classifying fixed costs as demand-related. In addition, it is also worth investigating what the impact is of different percentages of energy costs and capacity costs on the consumption behavior of consumers and their energy bills.

## 2.4.13. Summary and discussions

Table 2.3 summarizes the main characteristics of the methods reviewed above. Each method is assessed according to its pricing components, time reflectiveness, location difference, applicable in ICESs and ease of application:

1. Pricing components include energy, capacity and customer service. Cost allocation based on the cost-causality principle method can be used for pricing all of these components, but the other methods can only be used for pricing one single component.

2. Time reflectiveness is an important characteristic in energy pricing, as load profile differs a lot during off-peak and peak hours. A time-reflective method can incentivize consumers to shift their peak demand to off-peak hours. In addition, the methods for pricing capacity also reflect the impact of peak demand on energy bills. It is also an effective way to reduce peak demand.

3. Location-based methods are usually used for pricing transmission networks. The characteristic is that tariffs differ according to the location in the network. This is especially useful for utility companies if the capacity of the network is not high enough to satisfy peak demand, or when the transport distance is so large that it entails significant losses.

4. According to the analysis of the characteristics of each method, and considering the special characteristics of generation and cost structure of ICESs, the applicability of each method in cost allocation in ICESs is concluded. In the context of this research, applicability means if the method can be applied to cost allocation in ICESs directly. Some methods can also be applied in ICESs, while modifications are required.

5. Another aspect that may be interesting to see is how easy it is to apply the methods to cost allocation in ICESs. There is no consensus on the definition of ease, in this research, we use the number of pricing charges as the indicators to evaluate the ease of each method. The less the pricing charges, the ease it is to apply the method to allocate costs in ICESs.

A large part of the costs in ICESs are capital intensive, they do not vary with the amount of energy generated. Therefore, fixed charges are more relevant in terms of the cost structure. Energy generation is close to local communities, high voltage transmission network is not required in ICESs to transport power. Therefore, location-based methods, such as distance-based-MW-mile and power-flow-based-MW-mile methods, are not particularly relevant in ICESs. It is easy to measure the peak demand of individual households with smart meters, so, postage stamp, coincident peak, and non-coincident peak methods can be applied in cost allocation in ICESs, as they allocate costs based on the peak demand of each customer.

Energy consumption varies during the time of the day, low in the daytime and high in the evening hours. Time reflectiveness sends economic signals to customers to adjust their consumption behavior. During the sunny daytime or windy days, energy generation from local RESs (solar panels or wind turbines) is high, and the energy price could be low. During low generation hours, especially at night, generation is insufficient, peak demand occurs, and the energy price should be high to indicate to consumers that energy is sparse at that time. High energy consumption would incur high energy bills. Time reflectiveness is a very important indicator in assessing the performance of cost allocation methods. The methods that show time reflectiveness include the base and peak method, marginal cost pricing method, and Ramsey pricing method. However, the marginal cost pricing method and Ramsey pricing method are not recommended for use in cost allocation in ICESs, due to the fact that the marginal cost for RESs is zero, and an electricity price cannot be derived from the mathematical formulation of Ramsey pricing.

New insights can also be derived from these concepts based on the analysis of these methods, for example, energy pricing based on consumption levels is derived from the concept of average and excess method, allocating costs based on the individual requirement of the capacity of DERs. In summary, the methods used in large power systems provide a wide range of options in terms of charging energy and capacity to allocate costs in ICESs.

.			Time dependent	Location based	Applicable in	:	
Number	Method	Pricing components	$({ m Yes/No})$	$({ m Yes}/{ m No})$	ICESs (Yes/No)	Ease of application	Keterence
-	Flat energy pricing method	Energy	No	No	Yes	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	[60, 64, 67, 69, 77]
2	Base and peak method	Energy	Yes	No	Yes	++	[81]
3	Marginal cost pricing method	Energy Canacity	Yes	No	No		[46, 61, 84-86]
4	Average and excess method	Capacity	No	No	Yes	++	[81, 112–114]
5	Ramsey pricing method	Energy	Yes	Yes	No		[57, 63, 80, 115-117]
9	Postage stamp method	Capacity	No	Yes	Yes	+++++	[84, 85, 120–122]
7	Contract path method	Capacity	No	Yes	No		[84, 85, 123, 125]
×	Distance-based-MW-mile method	Capacity	No	Yes	No		[84, 85, 95, 122, 130]
6	Power-flow-based-MW-mile method	Capacity	No	Yes	No		[84, 121, 131, 132]
10	Coincident peak method	Capacity	No	No	Yes	+++++	[81, 112, 134]
11	Non-coincident peak method	Capacity	No	No	Yes	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	[47, 81, 112, 113]
12	Cost allocation based on cost-causality principle method	Energy Capacity	No	No	Yes	+	[45, 61, 138]
	*	Customer service					
+ stands	s for the level of ease, the more the	e easier. The classificati	on is based on the	number of charges	, the less the easier		
- stands	s for null.						

Table 2.3: Summary of cost allocation methods

## 2.5. Conclusions

This chapter presents a brief overview of the key issues included in tariff design in large power systems and a comprehensive review of cost allocation methods. Firstly, we summarize tariff design objectives, cost allocation procedures and the underlying regulatory principles for major tariffication approaches, and discuss how these concepts may be applied to cost allocation in ICESs. Secondly, learning from experience with electricity tariff design, discussions on the application issues of these cost allocation approaches are included. The review paves the way for the application of fair cost allocation in ICESs by providing a systemic framework and achievable cost allocation methods.

# 3

## Cost allocation design in integrated community energy systems

Time plays a role in almost every decision. And some decisions define your attitude about time.

John Cale
In an ICES, there is no regulator making regulations and no rules on how to allocate costs. Therefore, a set of regulations and rules are required to be made in ICESs in order to achieve a successful implementation of cost allocation. In this chapter, we address the research sub-question: "What is the framework for cost allocation design and which approaches can be adopted for cost allocation in an ICES?". Based on the review in Chapter 2, the objectives, procedures, and required components for allocating costs in ICESs are defined and elaborated in detail. In addition, tailored cost allocation methods are derived and formulated based on the methods applied for tariff design in large power systems.

The objectives, procedures, and framework for cost allocation in ICESs are provided in Section 3.1, Section 3.2, and Section 3.3, respectively. The approaches that can be adopted for cost allocation in ICESs are presented in Section 3.4. Finally, Section 3.5 concludes the work in this chapter.

This chapter is a slightly modified version of the paper "Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - Performance assessment" submitted to the journal of Applied Energy, which is in press at this moment[143].

## 3.1. Objectives

Local community members are the fundamental components in an ICES, their involvement is essential in the implementation of ICESs. Their preferences and opinions should be carefully taken into account and the way the costs are allocated and the method selected should be socially acceptable to the them. Therefore, besides the two objectives mentioned in tariff design: (1) to recover the total costs, and (2) to send economic signals to the end-users, another objective that has to be taken into account is (3) to allocate costs in a socially acceptable manner. Thus, the three objectives together ensure the success of cost allocation in an ICES.

## **3.2.** Procedures

In ICESs, the procedure is much more complex compared to the ones in tariff design since the local community members decide on the method to allocate costs. The first step is the same as in tariff design, which is to define the total costs that need to be recovered from local community members. The costs are the various expenses incurred from generating and supplying electricity to local community members. The costs mainly include capital investment costs, O&M costs and customer management costs. ICESs require the engagement of local community members, their points of view should be taken into account when allocating costs. Many methods can be used to allocate costs in ICESs, and they differ from each other in characteristics. Local community members have different preferences towards different characteristics. Therefore, the second step is to select a cost allocation method by the decision-making from the local community members. It therefore requires a decision-making framework considering the opinions and requirements from local



Figure 3.1: Framework of cost allocation in ICESs

community members to help them arrive at consensus. The final step is to allocate costs to local community members based on the selected method in the second step and formulate the energy bills for each local community member.

## 3.3. Cost allocation framework

A clear and concise framework is required to ensure successful cost allocation in ICESs, since they are different from general power systems. Figure 3.1 shows the cost allocation framework in ICESs. This comprises several layers: the physical, the economic, and the supporting mechanism. Each of these layers focuses on different aspects of the design and provides essential inputs to the cost allocation model. They are therefore described in turn in the following sections.

### 3.3.1. Physical layer

The physical layer presents how the energy system works: specifically, how power and information flow among the different actors in the system. A basic framework of the physical system of the ICES under consideration is shown in Figure 3.2. Community generation (solar panels and wind turbines) produces energy and supplies it to local community members (consumers and prosumers). Community storage is used to dispatch energy within the community, being charged from surplus generation and discharged when generation is not sufficient. Local community members can invest in DERs (storage, solar panels or both) to become prosumers. The local community forms a cooperative to exchange energy with the grid. In addition, even though the ICES considered in this thesis is grid-connected, the objective of the community is to be self-sufficient. Therefore, energy exchange with the grid is very limited. The whole energy system is controlled by a community energy management



Figure 3.2: A physical ICES system

system. The outputs of this physical layer are energy consumption and exchange data, collected at the individual and community levels. This data is necessary information for allocating costs in an ICES. Furthermore, these outputs are considered as the inputs of cost allocation.

### 3.3.2. Economic layer

The economic layer includes the various costs that are used to purchase infrastructures and cover management fees. These costs plus the energy exchange costs with the grid are the total costs required to be recovered from cost allocation. Principally, they comprise capital, O&M, and other costs. Capital costs are the investment in purchasing and installing DERs. O&M costs are mainly expenses for infrastructure maintenance. These two kinds of costs vary with the overall capacity of the DERs. Other costs are mainly customer management expenses, such as metering, grid connection, and energy billing.

### 3.3.3. Supporting mechanism layer

The supporting mechanism layer comprises the arrangements needed to ensure successful energy exchange within an ICES and with the grid. Such a mechanism can be regarded as the rules that local community members should follow once they agree to join an ICES. Specifically, these mechanisms are defined as follows.

1. Prosumers are required to pay for their own investments in individual DERs. This cost is incurred through personal action, and so is not considered part of the cost of the system as a whole. The objective of an ICES is to satisfy local demand from local generation by building a local energy system. The costs requiring allocation are common costs of providing electricity to local community members, which includes costs of community DERs and the community energy management system, energy purchases and other related costs.

2. Consumers and prosumers are required to consume energy within the community. Moreover, prosumers are required to sell surplus energy to the community in order to achieve efficient utilization of local generation. The ICES in this study acts as an aggregator, purchasing energy from and selling it to the grid on behalf of the whole community as a collective.

3. The feed-in price for prosumers is determined by the mechanism adopted; for instance, periodic compensation, net energy exchange [144], full peer-to-peer (P2P) energy trading, and community-based P2P energy trading [145, 146]. Each trading mechanism has its advantages and disadvantages; which is selected depends on the local situation and the practical complexity of implementation. This study takes community-based P2P energy trading as the energy exchange mechanism used. In order to ensure benefits for local community members and provide incentives for them to stay in the ICES in the long term, the supporting mechanism of energy exchange must satisfy the following criteria: (1) from the prosumer perspective, the energy selling price to the community is at least equal to the feed-in price to the grid; and (2) from the consumer perspective, the energy selling price is no higher than the price of purchasing energy directly from the grid.

### 3.4. Cost allocation methods

This section presents methods that can be used to allocate costs in ICESs. Some of these methods have already been adopted in tariff design, but the implementation mechanism may not be the same due to the differences between large power systems and ICESs. In addition, some methods, such as flat energy pricing, coincident peak pricing and others, have been introduced in the previous chapter, however, the required data and their formulations are may not the same as in large power systems. Therefore, methods adopted in large power systems and can be applied in ICESs are explained in detail to show how their concepts are translated from tariff design and how they are derived from underlying principles. The methods are also formulated mathematically, to show how they are implemented and what data are required. Furthermore, new methods are also developed in this section.

### 3.4.1. M1: Cost allocation based on number of users

In this method, costs are allocated based on the number of users in the community. It is the method adopted in [42], where it is considered the simplest method to allocate the total costs evenly to each building. Every local member pays exactly the same. It is formulated as:

$$C = \frac{TC}{N} \tag{3.1}$$

where  $C \ (\in/\text{household})$  is the cost allocated to each household in the community,  $TC \ (\in)$  is total costs, and N is the number of households. The only two required

data items are the total cost of the ICES and the number of community members. This approach can thus be implemented without requiring any kind of measuring equipment. It is straightforward to understand and simple to compute. The biggest disadvantage is that it does not take actual consumption into account so that, especially in cases where some households consume a lot of energy and other very little, it is unfair on the latter because they pay the same as everyone else. Nevertheless, it still makes sense if all the households involved have similar energy consumption behavior. Technically speaking, it is easy to implement this method in any energy system.

### 3.4.2. M2: Flat energy pricing

In this approach, the cost is allocated based on total energy consumption within a predefined time period, such as one month or one year. The energy price is fixed during that specific period [60, 77]. Consumers pay for their electricity at a flat rate per kWh [78]. The energy price  $P_f$  ( $\in$ /kWh) is calculated as:

$$P_f = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{t=1}^{T} E_i(t)}$$
(3.2)

where  $E_i(t)$  (kWh) is the hourly energy consumption of household *i*. The required data items are total costs and hourly energy consumption, which can be measured by smart meters. The energy price is time-independent; local community members are all charged the same rate during the predefined time period.

### 3.4.3. M3: Time-of-use energy pricing

Time-of-use (ToU) energy pricing is aimed at differentiating energy prices between peak and off-peak hours [50, 147]. The price in each time period is fixed, and is higher in peak hours and lower in off-peak hours [67]. According to [81], the rules for cost allocation are that costs of satisfying base demand are allocated to the two periods and the costs of satisfying peak demand are allocated to peak hours only. In large power systems, generators are dispatched according to load demand at different times. It is therefore easy to calculate the costs incurred in different time periods from the actual operational situation. In an ICES, however, it is not easy to differentiate costs during the two periods, because energy generation by RESs is non-dispatchable. In this thesis, it is proposed that the costs be allocated to the two periods by taking into account load factor and peak and off-peak time blocks. The two resulting prices  $(\in/kWh)$  are formulated as:

$$P_{base} = \frac{C_{base}}{\sum_{t=1}^{T_{base}} E_{base}(t)}$$
(3.3)

$$P_{peak} = \frac{C_{peak}}{\sum_{t=1}^{T_{peak}} E_{peak}(t)}$$
(3.4)

$$C_{base} = TC \times lf \times \frac{T_{base}}{T} \tag{3.5}$$

$$C_{peak} = TC \times lf \times (1 - \frac{T_{base}}{T}) + TC \times (1 - lf)$$
(3.6)

$$TC = C_{base} + C_{peak} \tag{3.7}$$

where  $P_{base}$  and  $P_{peak}$  ( $\in$ /kWh) are the energy prices in off-peak and peak hours respectively,  $C_{base}$  and  $C_{peak}$  ( $\in$ ) are the costs in off-peak and peak hours during time period T,  $T_{base}$  and  $T_{peak}$  (hours) are the total off-peak and peak hours during time period T, and  $E_{base}(t)$  and  $E_{peak}(t)$  (kWh) are energy consumption in the ICES in off-peak and peak hours. lf is the load factor, defined as the ratio between average energy consumption and peak demand [148]:

$$lf = \frac{\frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=1}^{T} E(t)}{E_{peak}}$$
(3.8)

where E(t) is the hourly energy consumption of the system during time period T. The hourly energy cost  $C_i(t) \in f$  for household i is:

$$C_i(t) = \begin{cases} P_{base} \times E_i(t) & t \in T_{base} \end{cases}$$
(3.9a)

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
 & P_{peak} \times E_i(t) & t \in T_{peak} \\
\end{array} \tag{3.9b}$$

The data required for this method, so as to calculate total energy consumption in peak and off-peak hours, includes total costs, off-peak hours, peak hours, hourly energy consumption. Smart meters are required to gather the hourly energy consumption data. This pricing mechanism incentivizes users to reduce energy consumption in peak hours or to shift it to off-peak hours by charging a higher price during peak hours. From a technical perspective, the energy prices can be provided *ex-ante* by using historical data or *ex-post* (for instance, at the end of the month) by using real data. This depends on the strategy adopted by the local community, although the pricing mechanism used should always be clear to its members.

### 3.4.4. M4: Capacity subscription

The idea behind this method is that each consumer subscribes to a certain amount of DER capacity according to their consumption levels. The total generation from the DERs is determined by the capacity installed. This installed capacity is calculated by the simple rule that annual generation equals annual energy consumption [129]. The capacity price  $P_{CS}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is formulated as:

$$P_{CS} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} CS_i} \tag{3.10}$$

where  $CS_i$  (kW) is the capacity of DERs subscribed by household *i*,  $P_{CS}$  is the subscribed capacity price ( $\in$ /kW). The two required data items are total costs and the DER capacity subscribed to by each household, which can be estimated at the beginning of the project by means of historical consumption data. This method simplifies the process of allocating costs and is easy to implement in practice.

### 3.4.5. M5: Coincident peak pricing

In this approach, the costs are allocated based on the peak demand contribution of each household to the total system peak demand within the predefined time period, such as one month, one season or one year [81, 137]. The capacity price  $P_{CP}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is formulated as:

$$P_{CP} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{CP, i}}$$
(3.11)

where  $E_{CP,i}$  (kW) is the peak demand by household *i*, which is coincident with the system peak demand in time period *T*. The required data items are total costs and the peak demand of each household that happened at the system peak time. It is possible to obtain individual peak demand data using smart meters. The pricing signal indicates how consumers' peak demand affects their energy bills and incentivizes them to reduce peak demand.

### 3.4.6. M6: Non-coincident peak pricing

The principle underlying non-coincident peak pricing is to allocate costs based on individual peak demand [112, 113]. The difference between this method and the coincident peak pricing is that individual peak demand may not coincide with system peak demand. The capacity charge  $P_{NCP}$  ( $\in$ /kW) is formulated as:

$$P_{NCP} = \frac{TC}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{NCP, i}}$$
(3.12)

where  $E_{NCP, i}$  (kW) is the individual peak demand by household *i*. The required data items are total costs and individual household peak demand. The pricing signal indicates how consumers' peak demand influences their energy bills. This is an effective way to incentivize consumers to reduce their individual peak demand, no matter when system peak demand occurs.

### 3.4.7. M7: Segmented energy pricing

The idea of segmented energy pricing is that electricity is sold at different prices for different consumption levels [149]. Consumers are charged at the base price when their consumption level is below a defined threshold, and at another price for any consumption exceeding that. The excess component is the difference between individual peak and average energy consumption (or demand). The threshold is determined using the hourly average energy consumption by households. The total costs in time period T are classified based on load factor. Segmented energy pricing is formulated as:

$$P_{ave} = \frac{TC \times lf}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{t=1}^{T_{ave}} E_{ave}(t)}$$
(3.13)

$$P_{exc} = \frac{TC \times (1 - lf)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{t=1}^{T_{exc}} E_{exc}(t)}$$
(3.14)

$$T = T_{ave} + T_{exc} \tag{3.15}$$

where  $P_{ave}$  ( $\in$ /kWh) is the energy price when consumption is below the base threshold,  $P_{exc}$  ( $\in$ /kWh) is the energy price for the component of energy consumption exceeding that threshold,  $T_{ave}$  and  $T_{exc}$  (hours) are the hours of consumption below and exceeding the threshold, respectively, and  $E_{ave}(t)$  and  $E_{exc}(t)$  (kWh) are consumption below and exceeding the threshold.

The hourly energy bill structure for household i is:

$$C_i(t) = \begin{cases} P_{ave} \times E_i(t) & E_i(t) \le E_{th} \end{cases}$$
(3.16a)

$$P_{ave} \times E_{th} + P_{exc} \times (E_i(t) - E_{th}) \quad E_i(t) > E_{th}$$
(3.16b)

Where  $E_i(t)$  (kWh) is the hourly energy consumption by household *i*, and  $E_{th}$  (kWh) is the threshold value. The required data items for this method are total costs, hourly energy consumption by each household, which are easy to obtain using smart meters. This method focuses on consumption level, regardless of the time of consumption. Customers are incentivized to pay attention to their energy consumption all the time and try to keep this below the threshold in order to minimize its cost. It thus provides a good incentive to adjust consumption behavior. Similar to the ToU energy pricing method, the price signal can be provided either *ex-ante* or *ex-post*, according to the strategy adopted by the local community.

### 3.4.8. M8: Average and excess pricing

The underlying principle of the average and excess method is to allocate costs directly to users by means of two factors [81, 112]. The first of these presents average consumption by each customer in relation to the average for the entire system. The second shows excess energy consumption by each customer in relation to excess energy consumption in the system as a whole (which equals peak demand minus average energy consumption). The two factors and the energy bills are formulated as:

$$f_{1,\ i} = \frac{E_{ave,\ i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{ave,\ i}} \times lf$$
(3.17)

$$f_{2,\ i} = \frac{E_{exc,\ i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{exc,\ i}} \times (1 - lf)$$
(3.18)

$$E_{exc, i} = E_{peak, i} - E_{ave, i} \tag{3.19}$$

$$C_i = (f_{1, i} + f_{2, i}) \times TC \tag{3.20}$$

where  $f_{1, i}$  and  $f_{2, i}$  are the two-part allocation factors for customer i,  $E_{ave, i}$ ,  $E_{exc, i}$  and  $E_{peak, i}$  (kW) are the average demand, excess demand, and peak demand by user i, respectively.  $C_i$  is the energy cost of household i. The required data items are total costs and the hourly energy consumption by each household. The two factors indicate consumers how their consumption levels affect their energy bills. The primary focus should be on the second factor, as it reflects the gap between peak and average demand. The smaller the second factor, the better, which indicates that customers are contributing less to the system's peak demand. The pricing signal provided by this method is that it is better for consumers to avoid high peak demand and instead to maintain flat and stable energy consumption.

### 3.4.9. M9: Two-part pricing

The two-part tariff is first proposed in [150]. The first part of the price is linked to marginal cost, the remainder to fixed cost. That is used to recover those costs the marginal-cost-based price is unable. As many studies have shown [108, 111], however, the marginal cost for RESs is almost zero. The ICES considered in this thesis is a grid-independent energy system that only exchanges energy with the grid when necessary, therefore the costs are just a small portion of the total, so we do not take its marginal cost into consideration in the context of this research. Costs in an ICES are mostly fixed, and do not vary with energy generation. In this method, the fixed costs are translated into two parts using a coefficient. One part of cost is considered energy-related and the other part of cost is considered capacity-related. They are then allocated to the end-users based on two charges: an energy charge and a capacity charge. This approach is formulated as:

$$P_E = \frac{TC_E}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{t=1}^{T} E_i(t)}$$
(3.21)

$$P_{C} = \frac{TC_{C}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{CP, i}}$$
(3.22)

$$TC = TC_E + TC_C \tag{3.23}$$

$$TC_E = TC \times f \tag{3.24}$$

$$TC_C = TC \times (1 - f) \tag{3.25}$$

where  $P_E$  ( $\in$ /kWh) is average energy price,  $P_C$  ( $\in$ /kW) is coincident peak price.  $TC_E$  ( $\in$ ) is the cost allocated to energy component,  $TC_C$  ( $\in$ ) is the cost allocated to capacity component, and f is the coefficient that divides the total costs between energy-related and capacity-related costs. The required data items are total costs, hourly energy consumption and peak demand by each household, and a coefficient. The energy bills of end-users are determined by their energy consumption and peak demand. The principle underlying this method is to translate fixed costs into variable ones (energy-related costs) by using a coefficient. These costs are then allocated according to the two cost drivers, energy and capacity, which reflect cost-causality.

### 3.4.10. M10: Multi-part pricing

This method is derived from cost allocation based on the cost-causality principle. Its name refers to the fact that the system costs are allocated to the agents or elements (also referred to as cost drivers) that cause them, thus giving a highly efficient signal [61, 138]. According to the study reported in [140–142], the most commonly used cost drivers are energy (kWh), capacity (kW), and customer service (customer number). In this approach, the first step is to classify customer service-related costs, which are generated by metering, meter reading, billing, bill collection, and other related activities. The remaining cost is then classified by using a coefficient, which is similar to that used in two-part pricing. The method is formulated as:

$$P_E = \frac{TC_E}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{t=1}^{T} E_i(t)}$$
(3.26)

$$P_C = \frac{TC_C}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{CP, i}}$$
(3.27)

$$P_N = \frac{TC_S}{N} \tag{3.28}$$

$$TC_{E+C} = TC_T - TC_S \tag{3.29}$$

$$TC_E = TC_{E+C} \times f \tag{3.30}$$

$$TC_C = TC_{E+C} \times (1-f) \tag{3.31}$$

Where  $P_N$  ( $\in$ /household/year) is the customer service price,  $TC_{E+C}$  ( $\in$ ) is the sum of energy-related and capacity-related costs, and  $TC_S$  ( $\in$ ) is the cost of customer service. The required data items are total costs, customer service costs, peak demand, hourly energy consumption, number of households, and allocating coefficient. This approach emphasizes allocating costs to the drivers that cause them, in order to link cost and causality. The costs drivers are reflected in the structure of the final energy bill. This method is easy to implement with the help of smart meters and the pricing strategy is similar to ToU energy pricing either, *ex-ante* or *ex-post*.

### 3.4.11. Summary of cost allocation methods

Ten methods are introduced in this thesis that can be used to allocate costs in ICESs. Each method has its own characteristics and focuses on different perspectives. Power and energy are the fundamental components in electricity consumption

Cost allocation methods	Pricing component	Pricing components	Time	Consumption level	Number of charging
Cost anotation methods	with respect to energy	with respect to capacity	${ m refelectiveness}$	reflectiveness	components
M1: Cost allocation based on	No	No	No	No	1
the number of users	NO	NO	110	110	1
M2: Average cost pricing	Yes	No	No	No	1
M3: Time-of-use energy pricing	Yes	No	Yes	No	2
M4: Capacity subscription	No	Yes	No	No	1
M5: Coincident peak	No	Yes	No	No	1
M6: Noncoincident peak	No	Yes	No	No	1
M7: Segmented energy pricing	Yes	No	No	Yes	2
M8: Average and excess method	No	Yes	No	No	2
M9: Two-part pricing	Yes	Yes	No	No	2
M10: Multi-part pricing	Yes	Yes	No	No	3

Table 3.1: Characteristics of cost allocation methods

[81]. Power is the energy consumed per unit of time, and energy is the power consumed over a specific time period [151]. Therefore, the load profile is a function of power and time. Load profiles vary according to customer types, seasons, holidays, and time of the day. At the same time, load profiles have the characteristics of repetitiveness over time. A general household load profile has the characteristic that energy consumption is low during early morning hours and high during late afternoon hours. Peak demand usually happens at night hours. Peak demand occurs only for several hours in a day, while it is the most important influencing factor that makes the cost of the power system high. More generation and network capacity are required to supply the peak demand during peak hours, which are not often used at other times. Therefore, the two fundamental drivers causing costs are energy and peak demand. Time is an external factor indicating that electricity consumption is affected by the time of the day. It is mostly dependent on the energy consumption behaviors of end-users .

In order to reduce the impact of peak demand on the system operation and costs, customers are encouraged to pay attention to both their consumption periods and consumption levels. It is beneficial both to the energy systems and the end-users if they have a relatively flat load profile. It should be noted that the factor of consumption levels is not often used and assessed in many tariff design methods.

The final energy bill structure consists of different charge components. For instance, flat energy pricing includes a single charge component (energy consumption), and two-part energy pricing includes two charge components (energy consumption and peak demand). It reflects how informative the energy bill structure is and can be considered economic signals provided to local community members.

Overall, five items are concluded considering the internal components of load profile and external influencing factors: energy, peak demand (capacity), time reflectiveness, consumption level reflectiveness, and the number of charge components. These influencing factors are summarized in Table 3.1.

## 3.5. Conclusions

This chapter presents a systemic framework by learning from tariff design in large power systems, in order to ensure a successful implementation of cost allocation in an ICES. The framework identifies the fundamental issues, consists objectives, procedures, required components, and methods, for allocating costs in an ICES. The framework can be considered the guidelines for local communities to follow. This chapter also proposes a number of methods applicable in the context of cost allocation in an ICES. Each has its own characteristics and may perform differently, and there is no consensus on which is the best. It is therefore necessary to evaluate their performance in order to draw clear distinctions between them all. In the next chapter, we study the performance of the methods presented here with a case study.

# 4

# Performance assessment of cost allocation methods

A person who never made a mistake never tried anything new.

Albert Einstein

## 4.1. Introduction

Ten applicable methods are presented in the previous chapter as the options to allocate costs in ICESs. Their performances vary from one to one due to their different characteristics. There is also no consensus on which method is the best one. It is necessary to have an overall performance of the proposed methods. Cost reflectiveness is the ultimate goal of tariff design no matter in which energy system. A cost-reflective tariff reflects the contribution of consumers to the energy system and incentivizes them to utilize energy in a cost-efficient manner. A cost-predictable tariff helps consumers to estimate the energy bills they have to pay. Thus they have the incentive to take actions to adjust their consumption behaviors.

In this chapter, we address the research sub-question: "How to assess the performance of the cost allocation methods?" The aim of this chapter is to assess to what extent the energy bills paid by local community members reflect the cost they should pay and how the energy bills change in the long-term in terms of the two criteria: cost reflectiveness and predictability. The definition of each criterion is introduced in this chapter. Additionally, we aim to gain an understanding of how the performance of the presented cost allocation methods would perform in terms of the two criteria when situations change. For this purpose, a case study with 100 households is used in the model to investigate the performance of the ten cost allocation methods.

The objectives of the models and relevant equations are formulated and explained in Section 4.2. The performance criteria are defined in Section 4.3. Input data and some assumptions for the case study are outlined in Section 4.4, and the results are analyzed in Section 4.5 and discussed in Section 4.6. Finally, conclusions are drawn in Section 4.7

This chapter is a slightly modified version of the paper "Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - Performance assessment" submitted to the journal of Applied Energy, which is in press at this moment[143].

## 4.2. Models of the integrated community energy system

### 4.2.1. Problem formulation

A model of the ICES is required in order to implement cost allocation. Energy, peak demand, and DER costs are the essential parameters used to allocate the costs to the local community members. For this paper, two such models have been designed: a mathematical and an economic one. The former provides data necessary for cost allocation in the latter, as elaborated below.



Figure 4.1: Inputs and outputs of mathematical model of the ICES

## 4.2.2. Mathematical model of the integrated community energy system

The objectives of the mathematical model are: (1) to ensure the balance of energy supply and demand in the ICES; and (2) to calculate the energy data required by the economic model. The inputs and outputs for the mathematical model are shown in Figure 4.1. This model incorporates energy generation, storage, and consumption at the community and the individual household levels.

#### Load profile of households

Individual households are one of the two fundamental components of an ICES. In our research, the community consists of several households. They can also become prosumers by investing in DERs. The hourly energy demand of each household is denoted as  $D_i(t)$  (kWh). A positive value indicates that energy is required from the community, for which the household needs to pay. A negative value indicates that surplus energy is delivered to the community, and from which the household can benefit. The total hourly energy demand by households D(t) (kWh) is:

$$D(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} D_i(t)$$
(4.1)

### Energy generation from renewable energy sources

Energy generation from RESs depends on the installed capacity. The installed photovoltaic (PV) and wind turbine capacities are  $IC_{PV}$  and  $IC_{WT}$  (kW), respectively. The hourly generated power per capacity from PV and wind turbine is  $P_{PV}(t)$ and  $P_{WT}(t)$  (kWh/kW), respectively. Therefore, the hourly energy generation from RESs  $E_{RES}(t)$  (kWh) is calculated as follows:

$$E_{RES}(t) = IC_{PV} \times P_{PV}(t) + IC_{WT} \times P_{WT}(t)$$

$$(4.2)$$

Calculating the optimum installed capacity in order to minimize the total costs is usually an optimization problem but not an energy system planning problem, which puts it beyond the scope of this research. Our objective is to allocate costs to customers once the energy system is in place. In this chapter, we use the following rule to calculate installed capacity: the yearly energy generation from RESs equals the yearly energy demand. In practice, however, energy generation from RESs may not be enough to meet demand at all times. And there are also periods when energy generation exceeds demand. The hourly energy difference  $E_{dif}(t)$  (kWh) is calculated as:

$$E_{dif}(t) = E_{RES}(t) - D(t) \tag{4.3}$$

#### Energy storage

Energy storage is used to retain surplus energy from generation for later supply to households when there is a shortage from generation. Energy generated by RESs is first delivered to households, then the surplus generation is transferred to storage. Once the storage system is full, any further surplus is sold to the grid to earn revenue. When generation by RESs falls short of current demand, stored energy is used first to make up the shortfall. When that runs out, the community energy system purchases the extra energy it needs from the grid. The energy state of the battery always satisfies the following formula:

$$\int E_{Bmax} \qquad \qquad E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t) \times B_e \ge E_{Bmax} \qquad (4.4a)$$

$$E_B(t+1) = \begin{cases} E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t) \times B_e & E_{Bmin} < E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t) \times B_e < E_{Bmax} & (4.4b) \\ E_B(t) + E_B(t) +$$

where  $E_B(t+1)$  and  $E_B(t)$  (kWh) is the energy state of the storage system at hours t+1 and t, respectively,  $E_{Bmax}$  and  $E_{Bmin}$  (kWh) are its maximal and minimal energy state, and  $B_e$  is its charging and discharging efficiency.

Following the energy system operation rule, it is easy to calculate the energy exchange with the grid for the whole community. The hourly energy exchange with grid  $E_{ex, grid}(t)$  (kWh) is as follows:

$$\int E_{dif}(t) - (E_{Bmax} - E_B(t))/B_e \quad E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t) \times B_e \ge E_{Bmax} \tag{4.5a}$$

$$E_{ex, grid}(t) = \begin{cases} 0 & E_{Bmin} < E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t) \times B_e < E_{Bmax} (4.5b) \\ 0 & E_{Bmin} < E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t)/B_e < E_{Bmax} (4.5c) \\ E_{dif}(t) + (E_B(t) - E_{min}) \times B_e & E_B(t) + E_{dif}(t)/B_e \le E_{Bmin} (4.5d) \end{cases}$$

## 4.2.3. Economic model of the integrated community energy system

The economic model aims to calculate the annualized energy cost for the whole community, in order to facilitate cost allocation during the next step. The inputs and outputs of the economic model are presented in Figure 4.2. The annual energy costs at the community level include the annualized cost of DERs, which consist of capital costs, O&M costs, and other costs caused mainly by providing customer



Figure 4.2: Inputs and outputs of economic model of the ICES

services. These costs are typically fixed. Energy exchange prices between the ICES and the grid determine the energy exchange costs, which generally vary with the amount of energy exchange. The annualized costs are then allocated according to the method selected by the local stakeholders.

## 4.3. Assessment criteria

### 4.3.1. Cost reflectiveness

No matter what energy system is used, the ultimate goal of cost allocation is cost reflectiveness. This topic has been addressed in many studies [62, 144]. A costreflective allocation mirrors the contribution made by consumers to the energy system and incentivizes them to utilize energy in a cost-efficient manner. In order to evaluate how close the energy bills actually paid by local community members in the ICES are to the amounts they should be paying, the cost of investing in DERs by the individual is used as the benchmark to indicate whether the specific cost allocation method is cost-reflective. To provide a quantitative method to measure cost reflectiveness, in this thesis, it is defined as the ratio of the difference between the cost local community members pay in the ICES and the cost of their own investments in DERs, divided by that latter investment cost. Cost reflectiveness is expressed as follows:

$$CRI_{i,j} = \frac{C_{i,j} - C_{i,DER}}{C_{i,DER}}$$
(4.6)

where  $CRI_{i,j}$  is the cost reflectiveness index for household *i* under method *j*,  $C_{i,j}$ ( $\in$ ) is the annual cost to household *i* based on the method *j*, and  $C_{i,DER}$  ( $\in$ ) is the annual energy costs to household *i* of its individual energy system, including investments in DERs and the costs of energy exchange with the grid. If the result is positive, it indicates that the household is paying more than it should. Zero means that it is paying exactly the right amount and a negative result indicates it is paying less and so saving on its energy bills by being part of the ICES. It also indicates that the household benefits from its ICES participation, compared to investing individually in DERSs.

### 4.3.2. Cost predictability

A sustained commitment by local community members is an essential factor that affects the long-term development of ICESs, and that commitment is greatly influenced by the way their energy bills evolve. Customers will leave the energy system if their energy costs increase a lot year on year, and that is likely to trigger a vicious circle of ever-higher bills forcing out more and more customers. Which, eventually, will lead to a complete collapse of the energy system. As for investors, their objective is to ensure cost recovery. Cost predictability helps them evaluate the extent to which they can do this. For this reason, it is necessary to compare the long-term differences in energy bills.

Cost predictability is all about changes in energy bills [62]. Local community members can evaluate if the selected method provides a long-term incentive by comparing their energy costs in two consecutive years. If the change is small or close zero, it indicates that the selected method provides a strong long-term incentive. It is thus a good indicator that local members will remain in the ICES in the long-term. It also contributes to the stable development of the energy system. In this thesis, cost predictability is defined as the difference between costs in two consecutive years, formulated as:

$$CPI_{i,j} = \frac{C2_{i,j} - C1_{i,j}}{C1_{i,j}}$$
(4.7)

where  $CPI_{i,j}$  is the cost predictability index for household *i* under method *j*, and  $C1_{i,j}$  and  $C2_{i,j}$  ( $\in$ ) are its energy costs in years 1 and 2 under method *j*, respectively. A positive result indicates that the household pays more in the second year, zero that it pays the same in both years, and a negative value that it pays less in the second year. Ideally, any difference should be minimized so that the amount of the household's annual energy bill does not change much over the lifetime of the energy system. That attracts customers to stay in the ICES in the long-term.

## 4.4. Case study: Data & assumptions

This case study investigates the performance of cost allocation methods in respect of cost reflectiveness and predictability for a group of 100 households. This section explains the background of the input data.

### 4.4.1. Hourly energy demand

The case study makes use of household electricity consumption data from the UK Power Networks project (half-hourly measurements over two years in 2012 and 2013) [152].

Table 4.1: Techno-economic parameters

	Capital costs $(\in/kW)$	O&M costs $(\in/kW/year)$	Lifetime (years)	Source
PV	1100	5.5	25	[154]
Battery	200	2	10	[155]

Table 4.2: Energy exchange prices

	From the grid to ICES	From ICES to the grid	Households to ICES
Energy exchange price $(\in/kWh)$	0.21	0.10	0.10

### 4.4.2. Hourly PV power generation

For this case study, the only RESs taken into consideration are PV panels in the local community. The hourly metered data for RES generation is obtained from the open data platform Renewables.ninja [153].

### 4.4.3. Techno-economic parameters

Table 4.1 presents the techno-economic parameters used in the case study. They include capital costs, O&M costs, and the lifetimes of the PV panels and battery. Table 4.2 shows the energy exchange prices between the different parties: from the grid to the ICES, from the ICES to the grid, and from households to the ICES.

## 4.5. Case study: Results analysis

### 4.5.1. Analysis of cost reflectiveness

The results of the calculations of cost reflectiveness for the ten cost allocation methods are shown below. Figure 4.3 shows the probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods for a group of 100 households consuming electricity in an ICES. These distributions indicate how costreflective a cost allocation method is. For each sub-figure, a higher peak around zero indicates more consumers with perfect cost reflectiveness, while a thinner tail near the horizontal axis indicates that fewer consumers are paying more or less than they should be. These are desirable characteristics for the cost allocation methods. In order to gain more insight into the results, the median, the variance, and the  $5^{th}$ and  $95^{th}$  percentile values of the distribution are also calculated, these are listed in Table 4.3.

From Table 4.3 and Figure 4.3, a number of conclusions can be drawn. First of all, the ten cost allocation methods all have a median value less than zero, which implies that the majority of the consumers pay less in the ICES than if they were to invest individually. Secondly, methods 2 and 4 have the lowest variance (equal



Figure 4.3: Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods for households

Table 4.3: Descriptive statistics for cost reflectiveness under different cost allocation methods

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7	M8	M9	M10
Median	-0.183	-0.165	-0.171	-0.165	-0.391	-0.212	-0.206	-0.206	-0.199	-0.194
Variance	0.075	0.007	0.010	0.007	0.508	0.110	0.035	0.047	0.037	0.029
$5^{th}$ percentile	-0.500	-0.340	-0.350	-0.340	-0.910	-0.590	-0.550	-0.460	-0.440	-0.390
$95^{th}$ percentile	0.470	-0.050	0.000	-0.050	1.120	0.360	0.130	0.190	0.150	0.110

in this case), and both the  $5^{th}$  and  $95^{th}$  percentile values are closest to zero. This implies that these two methods are the most cost reflective of the ten cost allocation methods. Methods 2 and 4 have the same performance because the subscribed capacity in method 4 is calculated by dividing annual energy consumption by annual generation per capacity. This means that energy bills are determined by the volume of electricity consumption, which is the same strategy as used in method 2. Method 3's performance is comparable to that of method 2 (or 4); they have the same pricing mechanism, with charging for the energy component, although method 3 also considers time differences. Method 5 shows the poorest cost reflectiveness since it has the highest variance: about 5% of consumers are paying 91% less than what is considered cost-reflective and about 5% of are paying 112% more. The reason for this bad performance is that coincident peak pricing allocates costs based on the peak demand contribution by each consumer to the total system peak demand, even though these two peaks do not always coincide. Method 10 performs similarly to method 9, but slightly better. It subdivides total costs into three components - those

related to energy, capacity, and customer services, respectively. Whereas method 9 is confined to two-part pricing, with only energy and capacity components.

### 4.5.2. Analysis of cost predictability

Cost predictability is another essential factor that affects the performance of cost allocation methods. Local community members can predict the extent to which their energy bills change year on year. And investors can predict the extent to which they are likely to recover their investment. As with cost reflectiveness above, Figure 4.4 shows the probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods for a group of 100 households consuming electricity in an ICES in two consecutive years. Moreover, the median, the variance, and the  $5^{th}$  and  $95^{th}$  percentile values of the distribution are also calculated; these are shown in Table 4.4. Method 1, allocating costs based on the number of users, is omitted as its predictability is perfect. The reason for this is that the annual costs to be recovered consist of two parts: fixed costs for DERs, which are the same each year, and variable costs for energy exchange with the grid and the household. The variable costs are determined by the volume of energy exchanged and the energy exchange price. In this case study, the ICES is grid-connected, but for the most part independent of the grid, since the great majority of the energy consumed comes from community generation. The energy exchange costs in years 1 and 2 are  $\in$  13442 and  $\in$  14148, respectively. In other words, there is almost no change in costs and so the cost predictability of method 1 is assumed to be perfect.



Figure 4.4: Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods for households

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7	M8	M9	M10
Median	-	0.027	0.029	0.027	0.056	0.017	0.035	0.022	0.034	0.031
Variance	-	0.032	0.033	0.032	14.104	0.216	0.055	0.073	0.058	0.036
$5^{th}$ percentile	-	-0.260	-0.280	-0.260	-0.910	-0.370	-0.320	-0.270	-0.250	-0.220
$95^{th}$ percentile	-	0.220	0.230	0.220	2.000	0.580	0.350	0.380	0.360	0.300

Table 4.4: Descriptive statistics for cost predictability under different cost allocation methods

From Table 4.4 and Figure 4.4, we can draw the following conclusions. The differences between the ten methods are apparent. They can be classified into two categories. In the first of these, methods 5 and 6 have a lower peak around zero and a fatter tail, which indicates that a substantial year-on-year change in energy bills is more likely. This can also be seen from the percentile values in Table 4.4. In the second category are the remaining methods, all with a high peak around zero, indicating that their cost allocations in the two consecutive years remain constant for many customers in the local community. This high predictability also shows up in Table 4.4 for these methods: their median and variance values are close to zero. Methods 2 and 4 produce the same performance, for the same reason as they do with cost reflectiveness. Methods 2, 3, 4, and 10 all have a similar, better performances, with a lower variance, the median near zero, and both their  $5^{th}$  and their  $95^{th}$  percentile values closest to zero. Methods 7, 8, and 9 display performances comparable to methods 2, 3, 4 and 10. A method includes an energy charging component shows a better performance with respect to cost predictability.

### 4.5.3. Abnormal conditions analysis

In the cases above, community energy generation and consumption in the second year do not change significantly. It is easy to conclude that each method has a similar performance in different years in the lifetime of the energy system, since the common costs of community DERs are fixed and energy exchange costs accounts for a small portion of total common costs. The cases analyzed above are in an ideal and normal situation, however, it is also interesting to see how cost reflectiveness and predictability might change following a sudden change in energy generation and consumption. A comprehensive analysis has therefore been carried out to do just that. For this, it is assumed that both energy generation from solar panels and household consumption either increase or decrease by one-third in the second year, in this case study, that is the year 2013 - thus producing four scenarios for the analysis of each indicator. The corresponding results in terms of the probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness and of cost predictability for the ten methods are shown in Figures 4.5 and 4.6, respectively.

From these two figures, it is apparent that both cost reflectiveness and predictability decline in abnormal conditions, no matter which method is applied. The effect of energy generation increasing and energy consumption decreasing shows a similar performance, which is the same for the case of energy generation decreasing



Figure 4.5: Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods for households in abnormal conditions

and energy consumption increasing. Furthermore, local communities pay less in the case that energy generation increasing and consumption decreasing. This can be explained by the fact that when energy generation increases or consumption decreases, there is a surplus generation in the energy system. The ICES and the local community members then benefit from selling surplus energy to the grid and the ICES. However, local community members pay more in the case of energy generation increases and consumption decreases. In this case study, the majority of local community members pay less compared to the costs they should pay or their energy bills in the year before.

From the analysis in Section 4.5.1, Section 4.5.2 and this section, it can be concluded that cost reflectiveness and predictability only retain their merits if changes are minor; these merits evaporate in the event of significant sudden changes in generation and consumption. For this reason, the cost allocation results should remain more or less the same in the short-term and only gradually change in the long-term.

### 4.5.4. Sensitivity analysis

It is also essential to see how cost allocation would perform in terms of the two criteria, cost reflectiveness and predictability, in the event of a change in the number of consumers taking part in the ICES. A sensitivity analysis for the ten cost allocation methods in that scenario has therefore been conducted. Figures 4.7 and 4.8 show



Figure 4.6: Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods for households in abnormal conditions

the probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness and predictability for the ten cost allocation methods with 20, 50, and 80 consumers in the ICES. From the results in this regard, it can be concluded that there is almost no change in the distribution profile of the two criteria. This implies that the number of consumers has little or no influence on the performance of the ten cost allocation methods in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. In other words, this sensitivity analysis demonstrates that the performance of a cost allocation method is not dependent on the size of the community.

### 4.5.5. Cost allocation with different number of prosumers

Another essential aspect to look at is how well the cost allocation methods would handle changes in the roles of local community members. With a higher percentage of prosumers in the ICES, energy consumption changes and energy sharing by those prosumers increases. An effective cost allocation method should retain its merits, cost reflectiveness and predictability, under such changing condition. To gain an insight into how cost reflectiveness and predictability change, the ten cost allocation methods have been assessed with 30%, 60%, and 100% penetration of prosumers in the ICES. In this model, the 100 households are randomly assigned to be prosumers. The installed capacity of DERs follows the same rule that annual generation from DERs equals annual consumption. The resulting cost reflectiveness with different percentages of prosumers for the ten methods is shown in the form of probability densities in Figure 4.9 and the relevant statistics are provided in Table 4.5.



Figure 4.7: Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods with different numbers of consumers

From figure 4.9, it is clear that cost reflectiveness increases in line with the rise in the percentage of prosumers. Cost reflectiveness increases a little or remains more or less the same when the penetration of prosumers rises from 30% to 60%, but there is a significant increase when that figure rises from 60% to 100%. This is easy to explain, since prosumers pay for their own investment in DERs. Methods 1, 5 and 6 have by far the lowest reflectiveness, which can be explained by their special pricing mechanisms. The common costs (annual community energy costs) are allocated evenly in method 1 and based on coincident and non-coincident peak demand in methods 5 and 6, meaning that prosumers may pay for costs they have not actually incurred. In case of methods 2, 3, 4, and 7, the peak of the reflectiveness distribution increases substantially with the increasing penetration of prosumers, an outcome consistent with the statistics shown in table 4.5.

The same analysis has also been done for cost predictability. The results for the ten cost allocation methods with different percentage of prosumers are shown in Figure 4.10, and relevant statistics can be found in Table 4.6. From the figure, it can be seen that cost predictability when using methods 2, 3, 4, and 7 remains more or less the same as prosumer penetration increases. This can be explained by the fact that charging with these four methods is based on a single pricing component, namely energy. Furthermore, the annual costs to be recovered do not change much since the prior assumption is that the annual costs of community DERs are the same throughout the life-time of the energy system and the only variable costs are for energy exchange. The costs allocated to local community members will thus not change much, even though their energy consumption increases. For the



Figure 4.8: Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods with different numbers of consumers

remaining methods, the peak of the predictability distribution rises with the increase in prosumer penetration. This can be explained by the fact that the prosumers pay for their own individual investments in DERs. Moreover, these methods have either a capacity component only or a combination of energy and capacity components. From thee findings we can conclude that the increasing prosumer penetration has a positive effect on cost predictability, which also indicates that the possibility of cost recovery is improved.

## 4.6. Discussions

The cost allocation methods described in this chapter all have their own characteristics. They have different charging components (energy, capacity, or the number of users), and they take different factors into account (time and consumption level differences, and so on). And they show different performances with regard to different criteria. It is not easy to satisfy all the requirements at the same time. The case study presented in this chapter has assessed the performance of the ten methods in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. From the analysis of the results, we can conclude that methods with energy as their single charging component perform better than either those with capacity as their sole component or those allocating costs based on the number of users in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. Cost reflectiveness increases with the increasing number of prosumers, while cost predictability remains more or less the same. Methods with energy and capacitybased charging components show comparable performance to the solely energy-based



Figure 4.9: Probability density of the distribution of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods with different percentages of prosumers in the ICES

methods. It is easy to explain that methods with just energy components are a measure of average demand and that the installed capacity of DERs is based on their generation capacity. Peak demand, meanwhile, is dependent on a single moment in the year and differs year on year. Therefore, peak demand-based methods show a lower cost reflectiveness and predictability.

From the consumer perspective, cost reflectiveness is far more important as the costs allocated to them should be in line with the amount of energy they consume. For investors, however, cost predictability is more important, to help ensure that they recover their costs. According to the analysis above, energy-based methods are the most desirable if both of these metrics are to be satisfied. Moreover, those methods with both energy and capacity components are the second-most desirable. The different energy-based methods display similar performances, but each emphasizes different aspects. For this reason, it is not easy to provide a definitive solution regarding the ideal cost allocation method to select based on the quantitative analysis in this chapter. The opinions of local community members play an essential role in that process, and they inevitably have different educational backgrounds and, my well hold different points of view regarding the various methods. Some, for instance, may prefer to choose a method with a single charging component over a more complex one with more or less the same performance. Moreover, this paper focuses only on the analysis of cost reflectiveness and cost predictability, while other criteria such as cost causality (revealing cost drivers) and time difference will also affect local community members' opinions. In practice, it is therefore critical that those opinions be taken into account and that a method be selected that is socially

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7	M8	M9	M10
30% prosumers										
Median	-0.053	-0.106	-0.121	-0.106	-0.200	-0.113	-0.141	-0.143	-0.112	-0.109
Variance	0.111	0.008	0.011	0.008	0.302	0.114	0.028	0.080	0.046	0.041
$5^{th}$ percentile	-0.550	-0.260	-0.270	-0.260	-0.900	-0.590	-0.430	-0.520	-0.410	-0.390
$95^{th}$ percentile	0.620	0.060	0.110	0.060	1.070	0.480	0.160	0.410	0.280	0.260
60% prosumers										
Median	-0.037	-0.122	-0.108	-0.122	-0.146	-0.089	-0.123	-0.072	-0.077	-0.085
Variance	0.115	0.008	0.015	0.008	0.206	0.102	0.020	0.084	0.048	0.045
$5^{th}$ percentile	-0.600	-0.170	-0.250	-0.170	-0.780	-0.580	-0.350	-0.560	-0.420	-0.420
$95^{th}$ percentile	0.620	0.120	0.180	0.120	0.850	0.500	0.210	0.460	0.320	0.330
100% prosumers	3									
Median	-0.037	-0.122	-0.108	-0.122	-0.146	-0.089	-0.123	-0.072	-0.077	-0.085
Variance	0.046	0.000	0.006	0.000	0.088	0.037	0.002	0.032	0.023	0.019
$5^{th}$ percentile	-0.330	-0.060	-0.200	-0.060	-0.470	-0.300	-0.130	-0.270	-0.240	-0.240
$95^{th}$ percentile	0.440	-0.030	0.080	-0.030	0.610	0.270	0.020	0.240	0.200	0.200

Table 4.5: Descriptive statistics of cost reflectiveness under the ten cost allocation methods with different percentages of prosumers

Table 4.6: Descriptive statistics of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods with different percentages of prosumers

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7	M8	M9	M10
30% prosumers										
Median	-	0.031	0.034	0.031	0.077	0.020	0.032	0.018	0.019	0.022
Variance	-	0.032	0.033	0.032	10.931	0.069	0.049	0.040	0.033	0.023
$5^{th}$ percentile	-	-0.260	-0.290	-0.260	-0.810	-0.340	-0.330	-0.280	-0.250	-0.220
$95^{th}$ percentile	-	0.220	0.230	0.220	2.000	0.460	0.300	0.350	0.350	0.300
60% prosumers										
Median	-	0.035	0.037	0.035	0.076	0.036	0.043	0.038	0.041	0.037
Variance	-	0.028	0.031	0.028	0.622	0.048	0.039	0.033	0.027	0.019
$5^{th}$ percentile	-	-0.250	-0.260	-0.250	-0.730	-0.290	-0.290	-0.250	-0.220	-0.190
$95^{th}$ percentile	-	0.240	0.270	0.240	1.650	0.400	0.300	0.330	0.310	0.250
100% prosumers	3									
Median	-	0.041	0.040	0.041	0.070	0.048	0.044	0.047	0.045	0.041
Variance	-	0.031	0.034	0.031	0.252	0.023	0.035	0.019	0.018	0.011
$5^{th}$ percentile	-	-0.240	-0.270	-0.240	-0.490	-0.160	-0.260	-0.140	-0.140	-0.110
$95^{th}$ percentile	-	0.270	0.300	0.270	1.200	0.290	0.300	0.270	0.260	0.210

acceptable to the local community.

According to the abnormal condition analysis, furthermore, the methods addressed here are unable to deal well with sudden changes in energy generation and



Figure 4.10: Probability density of the distribution of cost predictability under the ten cost allocation methods with different percentages of prosumers in the ICES

consumption. Their metrics in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability are rendered useless in those circumstances. However, the results do still show that the majority of local community members still benefit from joining an ICES, even under such abnormal conditions: they pay less compared to investing in DERs themselves. In normal conditions, meanwhile, the cost allocation methods we present display stable performance in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. In this study, the community under consideration is small in scale. According to the sensitivity analysis, however, the methods retain their performance even when the size of the community changes - a desirable characteristic. Furthermore, the ten cost allocation methods can well handle the changes in the roles of local community members from consumers to prosumers in terms of the two criteria. Overall, then, the analyses carried out in this chapter help us to understand the performance of cost allocation methods.

## 4.7. Conclusions

Cost reflectiveness and predictability in cost allocation are favored merits, no matter what the energy system is. These are the key characteristics ensuring that cost allocation is fair and acceptable. The performance in terms of those factors of the methods presented in the previous chapter has been assessed based on a case study in this chapter. The results show that energy-based allocation methods perform better, they reflect the costs the users should pay. Moreover, their energy bills are stable and predictable when there are only gradual changes in energy generation and consumption. Furthermore, the energy-based allocation methods retain their merits in respect of the two criteria in the event of changes in the number of local community members and prosumers. These results verify the robustness of the cost allocation methods presented here, while the comprehensive analysis in this chapter provides a better understanding of their performance. Since local communities are not subjected to statutory regulation, their members need to support the method used to allocate costs in the ICES. For this reason, their opinions should be considered carefully before selecting a method that is socially acceptable to them. Therefore, a social acceptance analysis is carried out in the next chapter.

# 5

# Social acceptance analysis of cost allocation in ICESs

Let life be beautiful like summer flowers and death like autumn leaves.

Rabindranath Tagore

## 5.1. Introduction

In large power systems, the regulator makes decisions on tariff design according to the regulatory principles. However, no regulators are dealing with these issues in ICESs. One of the novel aspects of ICESs lies in the integration of local community members and local DERs [22]. Local community members play an important role in the energy system by actively involving in the planning, development, and administration of the energy system as well as the allocation of its costs and benefit. Local community members are encouraged to participate in the decision-making process. In addition, they may have different situations in, such as educational background, employment, financial issues, skills, experience, personality, energy demand, etc.. [156, 157]. Therefore, they may have various preferences towards cost allocation. The selected cost allocation method should satisfy the requirements and preferences of local community members. And the community itself needs to agree on the cost allocation method themselves. It, therefore, requires that the selected cost allocation method be socially acceptable to local stakeholders. Studies in this area are often missing. Therefore, it is necessary to review the topic of social acceptance in relevant areas to see what lessons can be learned and how they can be applied in the context of cost allocation in ICESs.

This chapter aims to formulate a framework to help the local community to make a decision on selecting a socially acceptable cost allocation method by taking their opinions and preferences into account. Firstly, social acceptance is required to be conceptualized in the context of cost allocation in ICESs, to make sure both the process and the results of cost allocation are fair and socially acceptable to local community members. Secondly, the decision-making on selecting a socially acceptable cost allocation method is required to consider from a multi-group multicriteria decision-making perspective.

In this chapter, we address the research sub-questions: "How to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method ?". We start with a review on the social acceptance analysis in renewable energy projects and multi-criteria decision-making for multi-group decision-making in Section 5.2 to derive the essential knowledge for conceptualizing social acceptance. In section 5.3, social acceptance is conceptualized from the perspective of procedural and distributive justice. Then the performance of the ten cost allocation methods presented in this thesis is evaluated in terms of the criteria affecting social acceptance in Section 5.4. Section 5.5 introduces the multi-criteria decision-making methodology, and the results are presented in 5.6. Discussions and relevant policy implications are provided in Section 5.7. Finally, the conclusions are drawn in Section 5.8

This chapter is a slightly modified version of the paper "Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - social acceptance" published in the journal of Sustainability [55].

## 5.2. Social acceptance: theoretical background

### 5.2.1. Social acceptance in renewable energy projects

A growing number of literature has addressed the issue of social acceptance of renewable energy technologies, especially wind energy [158–160]. These studies investigate the factors that affect social acceptance of wind energy projects by using empirical studies from various aspects: social perspective [161], economic and financial perspective [162], and ownership perspective [163]. The original conceptualization of social acceptance of renewable energy innovation is introduced by [164] and three dimensions are addressed: social-political, market, and community acceptance. Social-political acceptance refers to the acceptance of technologies, policies, and institutional changes by key stakeholders and policy actors [165]. Market acceptance reflects the acceptance of various stakeholders (consumers, investors, and other relevant stakeholders) in the commercialization process of the project [164]. Community acceptance addresses the issue to what extent the decisions are acceptable to local stakeholders, residents, and local authorities of the local-based projects [166].

Community acceptance is mainly addressed in the study on social acceptance of renewable energy projects among the three dimensions (social-political, market, and community acceptance) [167, 168]. The factors that are mainly influencing community acceptance are distributive justice and procedural justice [164, 169]. Distributive and procedural justice are also widely used in the study of energy justice to guarantee fair and equitable access to resources and technologies in the process of the energy transition [170-172]. Distributive justice focuses on how the costs and benefits are distributed fairly, which is the critical factor to support the implementation of the projects [173]. It is generally used to evaluate the fairness of the outcomes [174, 175]. The study in [176] analyzes the factors that affect the distributive justice on wind projects (fair distribution of the benefits and burdens of wind energy projects) by means of interviews among local citizens. Procedural justice focuses on the process of decision-making, it requires that all the stakeholders are treated in a non-discriminatory manner [177]. It states that all the stakeholders should be able to participate in the decision-making process equitably, and their points of view are taking into consideration thoroughly [166]. Furthermore, it demands that all the stakeholders are accessible to all the relevant information. Procedural justice is essential to increase community acceptance [158]. Both procedural and distributive justice are addressed in the analysis of community acceptance of wind energy projects by [169]. Three levels of engagement: information, consultation, and participation are analyzed for procedural justice, and financial participation of local citizens and other stakeholders are analyzed for distributive justice. In summary, the study of social acceptance of renewable energy projects is mostly focused on the community acceptance dimension in terms of the two key aspects: distributive and procedural justice. In the context of cost allocation in ICESs, the objective is to allocate costs in a socially acceptable manner by taking local community members' opinions into account. Both the process and the results of cost allocation should be fair and acceptable to local community members in ICESs. Therefore, the analysis of social acceptance should start from the dimension of community acceptance by taking the two aspects of procedural and distributive justice into account, which is most relevant to this research. It is essential to define proper criteria that affect procedural and distributive justice, which will be further discussed in the following part of this research.

Besides, many methods can be used to allocate costs in ICESs, which have been extensively explained in Chapter 3.4. Each cost allocation method has different performance over various criteria, such as cost causality and cost reflectiveness [46, 47]. Local community members have various preferences over these criteria. Some may prefer that the costs are allocated to the drivers that made it, while others may prefer to pay the energy bills that reflect the cost they should pay. There is no consensus on which is the best cost allocation method. Local community members need to agree on the approach, which can satisfy their preferences to the most, thus socially acceptable to them. Furthermore, local community members with similar backgrounds and interests may have similar or the same preference over the criteria. Therefore, they can be classified into several groups according to their major preferences. It, therefore, stands for a multi-group, multi-criteria, and decision-making problem. The method that can handle this problem is multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM), which can take the preferences of all the stakeholders into account and further assist their decision-making (select a cost allocation method). Therefore, MCDM methods for dealing with multi-group decision-making will be introduced in the next section.

### 5.2.2. Multi-criteria decision-making in multi-group decisionmaking

MCDM techniques are considered an effective tool for supporting decision-makers to take decisions while considering all the criteria and objectives simultaneously with multiple alternatives [178, 179]. In general, the criteria and objectives are conflicting, therefore, the solution of the decision-making problem highly depends on the interests and preferences of the decision-makers [180]. MCDM techniques have been applied substantially on the subjects of evaluating and comparing sustainable and renewable energy options [181, 182], energy storage options [183, 184], energy planning [157, 185], and energy policies [186, 187]. MCDM techniques are used to compare the performance of each option with certain criteria. The criteria considered cover many aspects from technical, economic, social, institutional to environmental perspectives [188]. The option that is ranked with the highest score is deemed to be the best choice for the considered MCDM problem [189].

The reviews of [185] and [188] give good overviews of earlier studies on MCDM in the application of sustainable energy decision-making. The commonly used methods for multi-group decision-making are analytic hierarchy process (AHP), elimination et choice translating reality (ELECTRE), preference ranking organization method for enrichment evaluation (PROMETHEE), and technique for order preference by similarity to ideal solution (TOPSIS). AHP method decomposes the decision-making problem into a hierarchy problem with the goal in the top layer, criteria in the middle level, and alternatives at the bottom layer [190]. It selects the alternative based on pair-wise comparison according to the expert judgments [191, 192]. ELECTRE and PROMETHEE methods rank the alternatives by utilizing the outranking relation between alternatives based on pair-wise comparisons [193, 194]. TOPSIS is a useful technique for the application of MCDM problems in a group decision-making environment to select a suitable alternative [195, 196]. It considers both the positive and negative ideal solutions and alternatives are ranked according to their relative closeness. The ideal solution has the shortest distance from the positive ideal solution and the farthest distance from the negative ideal solution [197, 198]. Among these methods, TOPSIS offers a simple way of combining the preferences of multiple groups for group decision-making, which is the most relevant to this research. It is the most commonly used method in the sustainable supplier selection problem [199–201]. A multi-criteria intuitionistic fuzzy TOPSIS method is applied for the evaluation of supplier problems with multi decision-making groups [199, 200]. The study in [201] proposes an extended TOPSIS method and applies it in the sustainable supplier selection problem to deal with the multiple decision-making groups with different concerns. Besides, the TOPSIS method is adopted to solve the decisionmaking of a multi-objective regional energy system planning problem by taking a multi-actor perspective by Wang et al. [202]. Overall, the TOPSIS technique is an effective technique to deal with MCDM problems with multiple decision-making groups.

### 5.2.3. MCDM for social acceptance analysis

Social acceptance is always difficult to achieve and analyze, no matter in whichever system. Furthermore, decision-making with multiple criteria, multiple alternatives, and multiple decision-making groups is always a complex task to implement. Our literature review shows that the problem of social acceptance and MCDM in renewable energy projects has been studied extensively. However, the study of using MCDM to analyze to which extent the alternative is socially acceptable and thus to select the best solution has not often been addressed. Considering the objective of the study, MCDM is considered an effective tool to select a socially acceptable cost allocation approach. It enables a critical evaluation and analysis of the multiple alternatives considering the criteria defined, and finally identifies a socially acceptable cost allocation approach considering the preferences and interests of multiple decision-making groups involved in the energy systems. This approach can be applied in any local energy system that is focusing on the social acceptance of local stakeholders.

## 5.3. Conceptualization of social acceptance

Social acceptance covers many aspects and can be expressed in various forms, and it is not an easy task to conceptualize it. One related research is tariff design in
large power systems. It is the interconnection between power systems and the endusers by allocating costs to them [47, 61]. Regulators make regulatory principles to regulate these activities in order to arrive at a proper tariff design [46, 75]. These principles are classified into three categories: system sustainability principles, economic efficiency principles, and consumer protection principles [45, 50]. Detailed information about these regulatory principles can refer to in the following studies: [45–47, 64, 66]. Even though cost allocation in ICESs is not the same as tariff design in large power systems, the concepts of these principles can be translated as the criteria to evaluate how well the costs are allocated. In the context of this research, the main research question is how to design cost allocation in ICESs in a socially acceptable manner. The study in this area is often missing in the literature, especially considering the effects of the procedure and the outcome of cost allocation. Therefore, in this study, social acceptance is conceptualized from the perspective of procedural and distributive justice by considering ensuring a fair procedure and a fair outcome. The two aspects contribute to the social acceptance of cost allocation. The factors that influence procedural and distributive justice are defined in detail by taking the principles in tariff design in large power systems for reference.

#### 5.3.1. Procedural justice

Procedural justice is associated with equitable access and participation in the process of decision-making [171, 175]. In this section, the factors that may influence the acceptance of cost allocation in ICESs are identified and conceptualized from the following perspectives.

#### Transparency

All the relevant information should be transparent to local stakeholders and protect their privacy at the same time. Firstly, the objectives, procedures, principles, and the approach for allocating costs should be clear to all the stakeholders to ensure they understand and accept these mechanisms well. Secondly, costs and benefits, energy generation, energy exchange data, and other relevant data associated with the process of cost allocation should be transparent to stakeholders. Thirdly, the resulting consequences of cost allocation should be clear to them to make sure they accept the effects of the cost allocation results. Fourthly, they should be clear about how they are charged for their energy usage.

#### Participation

All the stakeholders are given the right to be able to fully participate in the process and the decision-making of cost allocation. The decision-making issues involved in cost allocation in ICESs include setting goals, making principles, and selecting approaches for allocating costs and other related activities. Full participation in the process of allocating costs helps stakeholders understand how the costs are allocated, and thus increases the acceptance of the cost allocation results and their consequences.

#### Accessibility

All the stakeholders have access to all the relevant information. The information should not be partially accessible to some stakeholders, while not accessible to others. Accessibility is used to ensure that all stakeholders are treated equally.

#### Non-discrimination

All the stakeholders should be treated equally without discrimination. Firstly, they are engaged in a non-discriminatory way and have equitable access, participation, and strategy-making in the process of cost allocation. Secondly, they should be given equal opportunity to express their preferences and opinions. Thirdly, their opinions and suggestions should be taken into consideration equally and treated with respect.

#### Consultation

Considering the different educational backgrounds and understanding levels of local stakeholders, consultation should be provided in the process to ensure they understand the problem. For instance, some local residents may not understand the cost allocation approach well enough that they may not dare to express their opinions or provide constructive suggestions. In this case, they can consultant any problem they have and should get professional answers. Furthermore, the consultation also contributes to active participation in the decision-making process, such as selecting an appropriate cost allocation approach.

#### 5.3.2. Distributive justice

Distributive justice concerns with a fair distribution of the costs and benefits in ICESs. People may have different measuring standards for fairness, so it is not easy to define fairness directly. In this section, the essential factors influencing distributive justice are defined with an extensive illustration.

#### Vertical and horizontal equity

According to the study in [203], the concept of equity is mainly broken down into two aspects: vertical and horizontal equity to evaluate the equitable outcomes in tax policy. Vertical equity refers to that people who earn more should pay more tax, and horizontal equity means people who earn the same should pay the same tax. While coming back to the case of cost allocation, the energy bills of customers are affected by their consumption behavior. Therefore, we conceptualize vertical and horizontal equity from the perspective of energy consumption. Vertical equity is defined as customers who consume more energy at the same time should pay more, regardless of how the energy is utilized. Horizontal equity is defined as customers who consume the same amount of energy at the same time should pay the same. The underlying principle of the concept is that the method meets the requirement of distributive justice if the cost is allocated based on the energy price of  $\in/kWh$ , and this price is the same for each consumer at that moment. It provides a way to evaluated distributive justice intuitively.

#### Cost causality

The basic concept of cost causality is the costs should be allocated to those who made it. A cost causality method should reflect the underlying energy bill structure of the energy system. In this chapter, the drivers that cause costs are used to define cost causality considering the characteristics of the load profile. The load profile is the basic element in the energy system, and it is the most influencing factor that affects costs. Energy (kWh) and peak demand (kW) are the key elements of the load profile. They are also considered as cost drivers because they reflect the relationship between costs and their causes [45, 61, 138]. Customer service costs are also part of the energy bill representing fixed costs in the cost structure. In this thesis, we use energy reflectivity, capacity reflectivity, and customer service reflectivity to represent the three cost drivers. They are the three elements in the assessment of cost causality structure, and they are independent of each other. The assessment approach helps to evaluate to which extent the method reflects cost causality by considering if the billing structure consists of these components.

#### Time or consumption level reflectiveness

Energy consumption has the characteristic of time-varying and repetitiveness over time for households. Peak demand is the main factor that making the energy system costs very high. Therefore, customers who consume more energy in peak hours should pay more. This could be achieved by providing dynamic charging information in the form of time difference or consumption level difference.

Time reflectiveness refers to that the energy price indicates time differences since the load profile is time-dependent. Consumption reflectiveness refers to that the energy price reflects the maximum capacity difference since peak demand is the influencing factor on costs and system operation. They are the economic signals sent to customers to help them adjust their consumption behavior, for example, shifting peak demand to off-peak hours or peak generation hours, limiting electricity consumption within a threshold at any time. This factor contributes to the efficient usage of the energy system.

#### Cost reflectiveness

Fairness is an essential issue no matter in whichever energy system, which is the same in the context of cost allocation in ICESs. The costs allocated to local community members should be fair enough to reflect the costs they cause for their energy consumption. Cost reflectiveness is conceptualized as to which extent it reflects the costs local community members should pay [62]. In this study, the costs of investing in DERs by themselves are defined as the cost they should pay since the energy consumption in ICESs is mainly from DERs. This cost is used to compare with the energy bill a customer pays in the ICES to evaluate whether or not the method is cost-reflective.

#### Cost predictability

The results of cost allocation should remain more or less the same in the shortterm (for instance, in two consecutive years) and gradually change in the longterm (for instance, in the lifetime of the energy system) without significant changes in energy generation and consumption. Therefore, the results of cost allocation should be predictable, it is one of the main factors that contributes to the long-term commitment of local community members to stay in ICESs and sustainable and stable development of ICESs. In this study, cost predictability is used to indicate the changes in energy bills [62]. Local community members can evaluate if the selected method is cost predictable by comparing the energy costs in the two consecutive years. If the change is small or near zero, it indicates that the method can provide stable cost allocation results without sudden changes in energy bills in the following years.

#### 5.3.3. Summary

The framework of social acceptance is summarized in Figure 5.1. The framework provides a comprehensive overview of the factors that affect the social acceptance of the involved stakeholders. Procedural justice should be well-followed to ensure the process of allocating costs are acceptable by the local community members and their benefits and rights are well-protected. This should be well-executed by the manager of the community energy system. The criteria affecting distributive justice are possible to be quantified. They have the characteristics of objectivity, which are influenced by the performance of cost allocation methods.

Procedural justice ensures a fair process of allocating costs and increases the acceptance of cost allocation results. A fair procedure is more likely to lead to a fair cost allocation result, and consequently, local community members will show more commitment towards the cost allocation mechanism in ICESs and their long-term relationship with the community. Distributive justice focuses on the outcome of cost allocation, it ensures a fair allocation of costs. A fair outcome is important for cost allocation in ICESs because it maintains the community's well-being. The results are determined by the selected cost allocation method. ICESs are an energy system without regulators that the cost allocation activity is not regulated or guided by the local institution. Therefore, the criteria affecting procedural and distributive justice should be considered the principles to ensure the costs are allocated in a socially acceptable manner. Furthermore, it is essential to take the preferences of local stakeholders into account on these factors when selecting the cost allocation method. The criteria defined above can be used to assess the performance of cost allocation methods and select the one that satisfies the preference of local community members, which will be introduced in the following sections. Overall, procedural and distributive justice are indispensable to ensure a socially acceptable cost allocation



Figure 5.1: The framework of social acceptance

in ICESs. They are the essential elements to help determine a good cost allocation outcome for the whole community.

#### 5.4. Social acceptance analysis of cost allocation methods

According to the criteria defined in Section 5.3.2 affecting the social acceptance of the results of cost allocation in ICESs, the performance of each method is evaluated in terms of distributive justice. The first three criteria (equity, cost causality, and time or consumption level reflectiveness) are evaluated by the energy bill structure of the cost allocation method. If the energy bill structure includes the criteria as a pricing component, the method satisfies that criterion, otherwise, it does not. For the last two criteria (cost reflectiveness and cost predictability), their values are calculated in chapter 4 for each individual customer according to their definition. However, in order to estimate the overall performance of each method, the variance of a set of cost reflectiveness and predictability from individual customers is used. According to their definitions, a value close to zero shows the best performance. Therefore, the value of zero is taken to be the average value in the calculation of variance to see how much the results deviate from the best performance. The variance of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) is calculated by the following equation:

$$var_{ref/pre_j} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{Q} ref/pre_{i,j}^2}{Q-1}}$$
(5.1)

where  $var_{ref/pre_j}$  is the variance of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) of method j,  $ref/pre_{i,j}$  is the index for cost reflectiveness (or predictability) of method j for user i, Q is the number of users.

The performance of each cost allocation method in terms of the five criteria analyzed above is summarized in Table 5.1.

Cost allocation methods	Vertical and horizontal equity	Cost causality			Time or consumption level reflectiveness	Cost reflectiveness	Cost predictability
		Energy	Capacity	Customer service			
		reflectivity	reflectivity	reflectivity			
M1: Cost allocation based on the	0	0	0	0	0	0.20	0.00
number of users	0	0	0	0	0	0.30	0.00
M2: Flat energy pricing	1	1	0	0	0	0.29	0.18
M3: Time-of-use energy pricing	1	1	0	0	1	0.20	0.18
M4: Capacity subscription	0	0	1	0	0	0.20	0.18
M5: Coincident peak pricing	0	0	1	0	0	0.20	3.84
M6: Non-coincident peak pricing	0	0	1	0	0	0.73	0.47
M7: Segmented energy pricing	1	1	0	0	1	0.37	0.24
M8: Average and excess method	0	0	1	0	0	0.28	0.28
M9: Two-part pricing	1	1	1	0	0	0.27	0.25
M10: Multi-part pricing	1	1	1	1	0	0.26	0.19
1 stands for the method satisfies t	1 stands for the method satisfies the criterion. A stands for the method does not satisfy the criterion						

Table 5.1: Performance assessment of cost allocation methods

#### 5.5. Multi-group and multi-criteria decision-making (TOPSIS)

In this section, the MCDM method is applied to support the selection of the cost allocation method due to the participation of many local community members with various preferences and many alternatives in the decision-making process.

#### 5.5.1. Multiple decision-making groups

The objective of using MCDM is to help local community members select a socially acceptable cost allocation method. Therefore, it is essential to take local opinions and preferences into account. Local community members vary from each other in education background, financial conditions, employment situations, social concerns, and energy demand level [157, 204]. They may hold different points of view towards cost allocation based on their situation. Local community members are categorized into several decision-making groups according to their preferences. Members with the same or similar preferences are attributed to the same group. For some decisionmaking groups, some criteria are more important than others, and they may focus on one or more aspects of the criteria. Therefore, major preferences are considered for each decision-making group in order to simplify the classification.

According to the five criteria defined in Section 5.3.2, the first three criteria (equity, cost causality, and time or consumption level reflectiveness) determine if the costs are allocated in a fair manner irrespective of the results. They are considered together the major preferences for local community members who concern about fair manner. Cost reflectiveness indicates how well the costs are allocated, which is focusing on a fair result. Cost predictability indicates how stable the cost allocation result is in the long-term, which is focusing on stability. Cost reflectiveness and predictability present cost-related issues, but from different dimensions. Local community members may care about one or any combination of these issues, therefore,

Group number	Group name	Criteria					
		Equity	Cost causality	Time/ consumption reflectiveness	Cost reflectiveness	Cost predictability	
1	Fairness-focus	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			
2	Cost reflectiveness-focus				$\checkmark$		
3	Cost stability-focus					$\checkmark$	
4	Fairness & cost	/	/	/	/		
4	reflectiveness-focus	v	v	v	v		
5	Fairness & cost	./	./	/	/		/
5	stability-focus	V	v	V		v	
6	Cost reflectiveness $\&$				/	/	
0	stability-focus				v	V	
7	Perfect-focus	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	

Table 5.2: The major preferences of the seven decision-making groups

there exist many decision-making groups. Based on this, the local community members are categorized into seven groups according to their major preferences. The major preferences of the seven decision-making groups are summarized in Table 5.2. It should be noted that if more criteria and decision-making groups are added, the formulation of the objectives will need to be changed correspondingly, but our proposed methodology is still valid. The seven decision-making groups and their major preferences are now discussed further.

The fairness-focus (Group 1) decision-making group members are aligned in their preferences that they care about if the costs are allocated in a fair manner irrespective of the actual costs assigned to them. The cost reflectiveness-focus group (Group 2) consists of the members who care about the results of cost allocation instead of the allocation process, as long as the final costs reflect the real costs they made for the energy consumption. The cost stability group (Group 3) presents the members who care about the changes in costs in the following years. They do not expect a sudden change in their energy bills provided that their energy demand does not change a lot in the following years. For the following decision-making groups (Group 4, 5, 6, and 7), it is the combination of the single concerns. The classification of the decision-making groups makes it simple for local community members to express their opinions in practice.

#### 5.5.2. TOPSIS for multi-group decision-making

The ten cost allocation methods will be assessed based on the major preferences of local community members by using the TOPSIS method. Many steps are involved in the MCDM problem. In this section, the process for multi-criteria decision-making in the context of cost allocation in ICESs is elaborated step by step to further facilitate the selection of a socially acceptable method.

**Step 1** is to construct the decision-making matrix considering the values  $(v_{m,n})$  of each criteria  $m, \forall m \in M$  for each alternative  $n, \forall n \in N$ .

**Step 2** is to normalize the values of the criteria. Criteria are selected from different aspects and measured on different scales for cost allocation in ICESs. It

is necessary to transform them to a common scale to ensure comparability and ranking of alternatives in decision-making [205, 206]. Normalization is the process of mapping the values of all criteria, which are measured on different scales, to a common scale and comparable units in the interval [0, 1] [207]. It enables the comparison of all criteria measured with different units, and thus to evaluate the performance of each alternative. For the criterion of vertical and horizontal equity and time or consumption level reflectiveness, the values are 0 and 1, they are already normalized. Three aspects are included in the criterion of cost causality. The sum of the values of the three aspects is the total value of cost causality. A linear max-min normalization method is used to map these values to the interval [0, 1] [208]:

$$NV_{cau,n} = \frac{v_{cau,n} - v_{cau,n,min}}{v_{cau,n,max} - v_{cau,n,min}}$$
(5.2)

where  $NV_{cau,n}$  is the normalization value of cost causality for method n.  $v_{cau,n}$  is the value of cost causality for method n.  $v_{cau,n,min}$  and  $v_{cau,n,max}$  are the minimal and maximal value of cost causality for method n.

For the criteria of cost reflectiveness and predictability, a variance value is used, therefore, the smaller the value is, the better the performance of the criteria. A linear min-max normalization method is also used to map these values into the interval [0, 1] [208]:

$$NV_{ref/pre,n} = \frac{v_{ref/pre,n,max} - v_{ref/pre,n}}{v_{ref/pre,n,max} - v_{ref/pre,n,min}}$$
(5.3)

where  $NV_{ref/pre,n}$  is the normalization value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method *n*.  $v_{ref/pre,n}$  is the variance value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method *n*.  $v_{ref/pre,n,max}$  and  $v_{ref/pre,n,min}$  are the maximal and minimal value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method *n*. Thus, a normalization matrix  $(NV_{m,n})$  contains the normalized value of each criteria for each cost allocation method is obtained.

**Step 3** is to define the weighted normalized decision matrix  $(R_{m,n}^a)$  for each decision-making group  $a, \forall a \in A$ , where A is the set of the seven decision-making groups. If the criterion is the major preference for the decision-making group, the weight is assigned to be 1, otherwise 0. It is assumed that the weights of all the decision-making groups are the same (as the value of 1), because the focus of this work is only to show the proposed framework to select a socially acceptable cost allocation by using the TOPSIS method.

$$R^{a}_{m,n} = w^{a}_{m} N V_{m,n} \quad \forall a \in A, \forall m \in M, \forall n \in N$$

$$(5.4)$$

where  $w_m^a$  is the weight for criteria *m* for decision-making group *a*.

**Step 4** is to find the best point  $(P_m^{a+})$  and the worst point  $(P_m^{a-})$  regarding each

criterion m for each decision-making group a.

$$P_m^{a+} = \max_{\forall n \in N} R_{m,n}^a \quad \forall m \in M, \forall a \in A$$

$$(5.5)$$

$$P_m^{a-} = \min_{\forall n \in N} R_{m,n}^a \quad \forall m \in M, \forall a \in A$$
(5.6)

**Step 5** is to derive the positive distance  $S_n^{a+}$  and the negative distance  $S_n^{a-}$  for each alternative n for each decision-making group a. The distances are computed by using the Euclidean distance between each alternative and the best or the worst point. A small positive distance and a large negative distance indicate a good solution.

$$S_n^{a+} = \left(\sum_{\forall m \in M} P_m^{a+} - R_{m,n}^a\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(5.7)

$$S_n^{a-} = \left(\sum_{\forall m \in M} P_m^{a-} - R_{m,n}^a\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(5.8)

**Step 6** is to calculate the normalized coefficient of closeness (CC)  $(CC_n^a)$  for each alternative *n* for each decision-making group *a*. Firstly, the absolute value of CC for each solution *n* for each decision-making group *a* is calculated:

$$ACC_{n}^{a} = \frac{S_{n}^{a-}}{S_{n}^{a+} + S_{n}^{a-}}$$
(5.9)

Then,  $ACC_n^a$  is normalized to  $CC_n^a$ , which represents the degree of optimality of alternative *n* for decision-making group *a*. A CC score of 1 means that the solution is the closest to the best alternative, and the furthest to the worst alternative for decision-making group *a*.

$$CC_n^a = \frac{ACC_n^a - ACC_{min}^a}{ACC_{max}^a - ACC_{min}^a} \quad \forall n \in N, \forall a \in A$$
(5.10)

**Step 7** is the final step to combine the preferences of all the decision-making groups, in order to further reach a consistent solution. A geometric mean of the CC scores for all the decision-making groups is calculated to define an average value of CC score  $(CC_n^{geo, ave})$  [196]. In the following equation, A is the size of the decision-making groups. The larger the average value is, the better the performance of the alternative.

$$CC_n^{geo, ave} = \left(\prod_{\forall a \in A} CC_n^a\right)^{\frac{1}{A}} \quad \forall n \in N$$
(5.11)

In order to further analyze the results, two more values: maximin and minimax, which are defined by [202] are used. The maximin value indicates that the alternative achieves the highest least satisfaction for the decision-making groups, and the minimax value indicates a risk-neutral solution for the decision-making groups. They are calculated by the following equations:

$$maximin = \max_{\forall n \in N} (\min_{\forall a \in A} CC_n^a)$$
(5.12)

$$minimax = \min_{\forall n \in N} (\max_{\forall a \in A} CC_n^a)$$
(5.13)

#### 5.6. Multi-group and multi-criteria decision-making: results analysis

The value of each cost allocation method towards each criterion is obtained based on their performance assessment, and they have then been processed with the MCDM technique (TOPSIS). In this section, the results will be presented. Firstly, the value of each criterion after normalization is calculated based on the equations in Step 2 and is summarized in Table 5.3. The CC scores for each decision-making group in terms of the ten alternatives are obtained, as shown in Fig 5.2. A score of 1 indicates that the alternative is the most desirable and a value of 0 zero indicates the most undesirable for the specific decision-making group based on the overall evaluation of these major preferences among all the alternatives. The main observation is that groups 1, 4, 5, 6 and 7 are well aligned with the best alternative (M3), while the other two groups often have diverging preferences with them. The best alternatives for group 2 are methods 2 and 4. And the best alternative for group 3 is method 1. It is noted that for groups 1, 2, 5 and 6, they have multiple alternatives with the same and the highest CC scores. It indicates that all these alternatives show a better performance in terms of their major preferences. In addition, the best alternatives for groups 2 and 3 are not a good alternative for the other decision-making groups. This is because their major preference is focusing on cost issues instead of fairness issues. The best solution for Group 3 (M1) turns out to be a bad solution for other groups. This is because the major preference for the stable-focus group is the stable change in energy bills regardless of costs and fairness issues. Furthermore, method 3 seems to be the most acceptable solution for all decision-making groups, since the least satisfied group still has a score of 0.96.

Cost allocation methods	Vertical and horizontal equity	Cost causality	Time or consumption level reflectiveness	Cost reflectiveness	Cost predictability	
M1: Cost allocation based on the	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.83	1.00	
number of users	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	
M2: Flat energy pricing	1.00	0.33	0.00	1.00	0.96	
M3: Time-of-use energy pricing	1.00	0.33	1.00	1.00	0.96	
M4: Capacity subscription	0.00	0.33	0.00	1.00	0.96	
M5: Coincident peak pricing	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	
M6: Non-coincident peak pricing	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.68	0.88	
M7: Segmented energy pricing	1.00	0.33	1.00	0.85	0.94	
M8: Average and excess method	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.86	0.93	
M9: Two-part pricing	1.00	0.67	0.00	0.89	0.94	
M10: Multi-part pricing	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.94	0.95	

Table 5.3: The value of each criterion after normalization

Group 1	0	0.68	1	0.26	0.26	0.26	1	0.26	0.78	0.85	1
Group 2	0.83		0.99		0	0.68	0.85	0.86	0.89	0.94	- 0
Group 3		0.96	0.96	0.96	0	0.88	0.94	0.93	0.94	0.95	- 0
Group 4	0.3	0.69		0.44	0	0.3	0.98	0.38	0.76	0.83	- 0
Group 5	0.37	0.68		0.42	0	0.39		0.41	0.77	0.84	- 0
Group 6	0.91				0	0.79	0.91	0.92	0.94	0.97	- 0
Group 7	0.47	0.74		0.55	0	0.46	0.98	0.52	0.8	0.85	- 0
	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7	M8	M9	M10	0

Figure 5.2: The CC score of each decision-making group in terms of the ten alternatives

In practice, only one cost allocation method is required to allocate costs in ICESs, therefore. Besides the best solutions for each decision-making group, it is essential to arrive at an alternative that considers all the groups involved in the local community. In this study, the single solution is quantified using the geometric average solution, maximin solution, and minimax solution. It shows the solution combining all the major preferences of the decision-making groups. The average CC score for each alternative considering all the decision-making groups in terms of the three solutions is shown in Fig 5.3. It is noted that for the first two methods, the highest average CC score is the best alternative and the lowest score is the best alternative for the last method (minimax solution), as shown in the red circle.

The geometric average solution is calculated based on Eq. 5.11. Method 3 has the highest average CC score among the ten alternatives. It is the most desirable cost allocation method combining all the major preferences of the seven decisionmaking groups. And method 7 is comparable with this solution.

The maximin solution is calculated based on Eq. 5.12. It may not be the best but is acceptable for every local community member in ICESs. The maximin solution is calculated by taking the minimal CC score of the seven decision-making groups first, and then taking the highest minimal CC score. Therefore, it has the highest least satisfaction for the decision-making group. Compared to the average solution, method 3 has the highest maximin score. It corresponds to the results presented in Fig. 5.2 that method 3 is the most desirable solution for the seven decision-making groups.

The minimax solution is calculated based on Eq. 5.13. It also considers the least regret solution that all the decision-making groups will have the least regret after decision-making. Method 5 turns out to be the least regretful solution. This solution only shows the feature that follows the criterion of cost causality in terms



Figure 5.3: The average CC scores for each alternative considering all the decision-making groups for the three solutions

of capacity reflectivity. Considering the CC score of each decision-making group shown in Fig. 5.2, it is the last best solution for the other decision-making groups except group 1. Even though it is the least regretful solution, it may not a good solution for all the decision-making groups.

In practice, the composition of the community may be different, there may be more or fewer decision-making groups in the community. In this case study, we take groups 1 and 6 as the two decision-making groups in the community. Group 1 cares about if the costs are allocated in a fair manner, and group 6 cares about the results of cost allocation, as long as the results reflect the cost they should pay in actuality and the energy bills are stable in the long-term. The average solution for the two decision-making groups is shown in Figure 5.4. The results show that method 3 is the best solution combining the major preferences for the two decisionmaking groups. Our approach works with different decision-making groups. Once the decision-making groups are determined, it is easy to apply the approach proposed in this chapter to support the local community members in selecting a cost allocation satisfying their requirements.

In this study, it is assumed that the number of local community members (weight of each decision-making group) in each group is equal. This assumption is made because the main objective of this work is to show the adoption of the MCDM tool to solve the decision-making problem. However, the changes in the weights of



Figure 5.4: The average solution for the decision-making groups 1 and 6

Table 5.4: Scenarios with different percentages of local community members in each group

Scenarios	S1 (%)	S2 (%)	S3 (%)	S4 (%)	S5(%)
Group 1	10	30	50	70	90
Group 6	90	70	50	30	10

the decision-making groups may have effects on the final results. In order to see how this would influence the results, an analysis with different percentages of local community members in decision-making groups 1 and 6 is introduced, as shown in Table 5.4. The percentages are translated to the weights of the two decision-making groups. The geometric mean cannot be used because it multiplies all the values together. Instead, the arithmetic mean is used to calculate the average score for all the decision-making groups. The average solution for the five scenarios is shown in Figure 5.5. The results show that the best solution for the whole community is influenced by the percentage of local community members in the decision-making group. The best solution is method 3 for the five scenarios considered in the research. However, it should be noted that the average score of methods 5 and 7 increases with the increase in the percentage of group 1, and method 7 tends to be the best solution when group 1 takes the majority (90%) in this case). And when group 6 takes the majority (which is also 90%), method 2 tends to be the second-best alternative. The analysis done here indicates that MCDM is an effective tool to help local community members select a method that is socially acceptable to them.

This section shows the results of the MCDM problem of selecting a socially acceptable cost allocation method by using the TOPSIS method. The performance of cost allocation methods is assessed based on their characteristics. The local commu-



Figure 5.5: The analysis for different weights assigned to the decision-making groups

nity is categorized into different decision-making groups considering the differences in their major preferences. Seven decision-making groups are considered in this study, and their major preferences vary from fairness, cost reflectiveness to stability and any combination of them. The numerical results show that method 3 is the best solution for the seven decision-making groups considered in this research. And method 7 is the second-best alternative yet acceptable for local community members. They cover relatively more comprehensive aspects of the five criteria compared to the other methods. In addition, the analysis of the weight of different decision-making groups indicates that the number of local community members in different decision-making groups influences the selection of best solutions. The approach proposed in this chapter can effectively deal with the changes in the number and the weights of decision-making groups, thus, provides a reliable solution to the local community.

#### 5.7. Discussions and policy implications

#### 5.7.1. Discussions

In the field of cost allocation in local community energy systems, the research on cost allocation is often missing. In addition, the engagement of local community members is an essential element in local community energy systems. Their involvement is the key factor that affects the success of the implementation of local community energy systems. The costs should be allocated in a socially acceptable manner in any local community energy system without regulation. However, the research on social acceptance is often addressed in the area of renewable energy technologies [158–160, 167, 168]. In this the, a social acceptance framework is designed from the perspective of procedural and distributive justice to ensure a relatively fair process and result. A fair process increases the acceptance of the results of cost allocation. Procedural justice and distributive justice interact with each other, they are the essential criteria that are required to follow to ensure that the costs are allocated

in a socially acceptable manner. In this chapter, ten methods are adopted as the alternatives to allocate costs in ICESs, they are assessed in terms of the five criteria: equity, cost causality, time or consumption level reflectiveness, cost reflectiveness, and cost predictability.

Allocating costs in ICESs in a socially acceptable manner is a complex and difficult issue, where local community members need to reach an agreement on a cost allocation method. They have different preferences and interests, sometimes conflict with each other, which are the major reason that affects the success of cost allocation. It is also difficult to specify the preferences of each local community member, therefore, it is essential to classify them into several decision-making groups to simplify the process of collecting opinions from local community members. Therefore, it stands for a multi-group, multi-criteria, and multi-alternative decision-making problem. Seven decision-making groups are classified in this study according to the major preferences of local community members. The problem is solved by adopting MCDM (TOPSIS) method to help the local community members to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method. Three solutions (geometric mean, maximin, and minimax) are obtained combing all the major preferences of the seven decision-making groups. The results show that TOPSIS is an effective tool to solve the social acceptance problem in cost allocation in ICESs. The advantages of applying the MCDM method lie in that: (1) it simplifies the process of collecting opinions from local community members by considering decision-making groups, the only thing the local community members should do is to select the decision-making group (2) it is able to consider the preferences of all the decision-making groups in the selection of cost allocation method simultaneously (3) social acceptance is achieved by a quantitative measurable manner (4) the approach is still valid when more decision-making groups are added. It makes it easy for local community members to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method by using the proposed approach, which is also convenient for local managers to arrange these issues when allocating costs in ICESs. The obtained results can be used by any local stakeholders in local community energy systems in the decision-making process to select a method, which can lead to a relatively fair cost allocation result, and thus socially acceptable to them. The MCDM analysis selects a cost allocation method that follows the criteria that affect distributive justice, which further affects the social acceptance of the results of cost allocation. However, procedural justice is also an essential factor that cannot be neglected in practice to ensure a fair process.

#### 5.7.2. Policy implications

ICESs are social-technical systems with physical and social network relationships. These systems are complex in the sense that they require decision-making from multi-institutional levels. A successful cost allocation in ICESs requires support from local authorities, local government, policymakers, regulators, system operators, and other related parties. Besides, a local community energy market committee should be established, which may consist of several experts in the energy market to regulate the cost allocation activities. For local authorities or government, the approach proposed in this thesis provides them with promising policy-relevant results, which can be considered the instruments to manage the local community energy market to ensure both the process and the results of cost allocation are socially acceptable to local community members. Policymakers and local regulators should make appropriate policies and regulations to regulate cost allocation activities in local energy systems. Besides, they should send proper incentives and design supportive schemes to support local community energy markets. They should acknowledge the value the local community members can bring to the energy systems and the environment. Overall, tailored regulations should be made specifically for the context of local community energy markets, to provide them with sufficient autonomy to take full control of their energy systems. The support from local authorities can better contribute to the participation of local community members in the energy transition.

Considering the current situation, it is not realistic to have a 100% renewable energy system achieve self-sufficiency, the local community energy systems still require support from system operators. They are required to distribute energy and maintain local energy systems with a safe, reliable, and affordable grid. Besides, ICESs should be given certain policy support to have access to fair energy trading with the grid, such as reasonable feed-in tariff and export tariff to ensure their benefits.

For local community members, the approach provides them with the opportunity to fully participate in the process of cost allocation. And this also provides them with a sense of community belonging. The involvement of local community members, on one hand, increases the complexity of the cost allocation process, because a lot of local opinions and preferences are required to be taken into account. The cost allocation mechanisms, methods, and affecting factors should be well-explained to local community members by following procedural justice. The designed framework of social acceptance in this study can support this well. At the same time. It also requires the local community managers to map these preferences properly and carefully into the problem. However, on the other hand, once these issues are settled down, they are more willing to accept the results because the costs are already allocated in a socially acceptable manner to satisfy their overall requirements. Considering this point, it is beneficial for local managers or coordinators to manage the local community energy markets. Besides, a proper institution design should be promised since a collective decision has to be made to meet the individual requirements.

Regarding the cost allocation methods, ten possible alternatives are adopted in this research, in the future, with the mature of the local community energy market, regulators should develop more methods and provide more options for local community members to choose from. Besides, the social acceptance framework proposed in this study provides the local community energy market with strong regulation guidance to regulate the activity of cost allocation. To some extent, they can be considered the principles to follow when allocating costs in local energy systems. The MCDM method adopted in this research can be added to the policy package as one option to achieve socially acceptable cost allocation in the local community energy market.

#### 5.8. Conclusions

The costs should be allocated in a socially acceptable manner in any local community energy system without regulation. The study in this chapter presents a systematic framework for the analysis of social acceptance of cost allocation in ICESs. Social acceptance is mainly affected by two aspects: procedural justice and distributive justice. Procedural justice ensures a fair process, and distributive justice ensures a fair result. Both aspects interact with each other and are indispensable in order to achieve the goal of allocating costs in a socially acceptable manner. The MCDM technique (TOPSIS) adopted in this chapter is a good representative tool to help local community members to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method. The framework can be used by local stakeholders in local community energy systems in the decision-making process to select a socially acceptable method. The social acceptance analysis done in this study contributes to the development of local community energy systems from a socio-economic perspective. Furthermore, this approach is achieved via a quantitative manner, considering the situation that it is not easy to obtain the preferences and opinions from local community members, as there are few pilot projects of ICESs currently. The approach is generic, indicating that other than the example considered in this thesis, the MCDM approach for the selection of cost allocation method is able to apply in different communities considering their preferences with minor adjustments on a case-by-case basis.

# 6

### Extensive discussions

Mathematics is a place where you can do things which you can't do in the real world.

Marcus du Sautoy

#### 6.1. Introduction

This thesis provides a systematic and integrated methodology to allocate costs in ICESs in a socially acceptable manner. However, besides this, ICESs still confront with many problems in the implementation of cost allocation in ICESs. In this chapter, we provide an overview of the main barriers and enablers for cost allocation in ICESs. Each issue is elaborated in detail with an extensive discussion on their possible effects on cost allocation and possible solutions.

This chapter is a slightly modified version of the paper "Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - A review" published in the journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews [55].

#### 6.2. Energy exchange schemes

Energy exchange schemes in the local community are supportive mechanisms for allocating costs in an ICES. Consumers only consume energy in the ICES, they buy electricity from the community. However, prosumers not only consume energy but also produce it. The question is, what is the proper mechanism of energy exchange inside an ICES. It is of great challenge, while it must be solved in order to achieve a fair cost allocation in ICESs. This discussion proposes several possible options for energy exchange inside ICESs.

The first option is to give prosumers a periodic compensation for energy supply to the community, comparable to the allowed revenues for utility companies in a large power system. Prosumers are then charged for their electricity consumption based on the tariffs adopted in the community. The potential problem caused by this option is that the compensation is not the exact benefit they get in actual, which may be unfair to local community members. Prosumers may get more or less than the value of the amount of energy they contribute to the energy system. Consumers will burden the extra part if prosumers get more than they should get, and consumers will benefit from this if prosumers get less than they should get. It is challenging to set appropriate compensation in ICESs.

The second option involved, considers only the net exchange between each member and the community being charged. The problem is that prosumers may take free-riding under a net exchange scheme if they pay at a lower price or get benefits for the net energy exchange. Generally speaking, prosumers have surplus energy during the daytime and need energy during night hours. The energy costs during night hours are high. However, the total costs of the energy system are fixed, consumers will burden the costs that should be paid by prosumers. It will lead to an unfair cost allocation, which is not desirable. Therefore, it is essential to set an appropriate tariff for prosumers under a net energy exchange scheme to balance the different energy costs in different hours.

The third option is that prosumers sell their surplus energy to the community at one price and buy deficit energy from the community at another price. This scheme is similar to the concept of community-based peer-to-peer (P2P) energy trading as illustrated in [145, 146]. Local community members trade through ICESs, in this case, an ICES plays a role as an aggregator. The energy trading activity can be managed by a community manager or an external energy company. The problem is how to set the trading tariff to make sure prosumers get the benefits they should get. If the selling price is lower than the price of selling to the grid directly, prosumers will not be willing to sell it in the community. If the buying price is higher than the price buying from the grid, prosumers will not be willing to buy it in the community. Finally, this will lead to prosumers leaving the community.

The fourth option is a full P2P energy exchange mechanism [145]. Bilateral contracts are made between two parties to exchange energy at an agreed price [209], it is consumers (buyers) and prosumers (sellers) in ICESs. It allows prosumers to sell their energy to consumers directly. The problem is similar to the third option, how to set a fair energy exchange price to balance the benefits between prosumers and consumers in ICESs.

The four options provide possible energy exchange schemes in ICESs, and they affect the benefits and costs received and paid by prosumers and consumers. They have the same problem that how to set the energy exchange price to make sure prosumers get the benefits they should get and consumers pay the costs they should pay. It is unsure to which extent it affects the results of cost allocation. Therefore, it is recommended to have a case study with quantitative results to show how each one influences the costs and benefits allocated to each local community member. In addition, it should take the opinions of local stakeholders into account to see if they think the option is socially acceptable by them. It is important to get consent from local stakeholders. Local policy conditions should also be taken into account when implementing the energy exchange mechanism in ICESs. Overall, a proper energy exchange mechanism should be designed for a successful implementation of cost allocation in ICESs.

#### 6.3. Incentives for efficient energy usage

Giving energy efficiency incentives to ICES members is challenging since the costs of an ICES are highly capex-related, i.e., they do not vary with energy generation. Some of the cost allocation methods are used to allocate fixed costs. These do reflect cost structure, for example, the coincident peak method, but they do not give proper incentives in the long-term. While some other methods give proper incentives, for example, ToU energy pricing, they do not reflect the underlying cost structure. Consumers can adjust their consumption behaviors under a variable tariff, which can then put cost recovery at stake. Considering the characteristics of load profiles, they are influenced by many factors, such as the time of day, energy consumption, and peak demand. In order to provide economic signals to customers, it is essential to translate the fixed costs into a variable tariff. For instance, the costs can be classified between energy-related and capacity-related. For energy-related costs, the methods used for pricing energy components and reflecting time difference can be adopted. For capacity-related costs, the methods used for pricing peak demand can be adopted. By doing so, the billing structure includes variable energy and fixed capacity prices. These are economic signals provided to customers indicating that their energy bills are determined both by their energy consumption at various times of the day and by peak demand. In future work, it is essential that a scheme be adopted that can translate the costs into variable tariffs, in order to give proper incentives to customers to remain in the ICES.

#### 6.4. Off-grid vs grid-connected ICESs

ICESs can be operated in both off-grid and grid-connected modes, which impacts the cost allocation mechanism in ICESs. The community achieves self-sufficiency by operating in off-grid mode. There is no energy exchange between the ICES and the grid at any moment. All the costs incurred are inside the community. External factors have no impact on the cost structure of the energy system. Almost all the costs in ICESs are fixed. While there is energy exchange inside ICESs, the costs could be variable or fixed, which depends on the energy exchange mechanism taken.

In grid-connected operation mode, an ICES acts like an aggregator, it exchanges energy with the grid for the whole community. The problem would be how to define the energy exchange mechanism between the ICES and the grid and what the impacts are on cost allocation in ICESs and on the grid. Generation in ICESs mostly takes place during the daytime, and generally speaking, surplus energy is generated during this time. The surplus energy is sold to the grid, and the community can get benefits from this. However, the grid needs extra investment in the infrastructure to accept energy injection from ICESs, which increases system capital costs. During night hours, there is little or almost no generation. The system will purchase energy from the grid, and the community pays for this. These are also the peak consumption hours for the grid. This would therefore cause congestion or high generation costs for the grid. Therefore, grid-connected ICESs have impacts on the grid in terms of system operation and costs. In turn, grid-connected ICESs adds more cost items to the cost structure, such as grid-connection fee, service cost, and energy trading costs. Normally, grid-connection fees and service costs are fixed, which does not have much impact on the cost structure. However, energy trading costs vary with the amount of energy traded. Its impacts on cost allocation in ICESs are determined by the proportion of the costs take in the total costs.

If an ICES is largely dependent on the grid, the amount of energy traded is substantial, and the energy trading costs would represent a large proportion. If an ICES is aimed to achieve self-sufficiency, only trades with the grid when necessary, then the energy trading costs are negligible. While it needs to take the energy exchange price into account, if the energy price is very high, even though the amount of energy traded is not that much, it still has a large impact on the cost structure of ICESs. The change of cost structure impacts the selection of cost allocation methods and the economic signals provided to the local community members. In summary, the dependence on the gird of ICESs and energy exchange price should be taken into account in the selection of cost allocation methods for grid-connected ICESs.

#### 6.5. Private vs joint vs community installation of DERs

There are three types of ICES formulation: individual DERs, joint DERs, and community DERSs, each of which has an impact on cost structure, on the selection of cost allocation methods, and on the stability of the ICES. Individual households are allowed to invest in DERs in an ICES. They are allowed to exchange energy within the community. In the case of ICESs with private installation, they pay for the costs of DERs themselves. They sell surplus energy to the community and also buy deficit energy from the community. Consumers only buy electricity within the community. Costs are mainly caused by energy exchanges. The cost structure may be fixed or variable. It depends on the energy exchange scheme. This formulation is much more stable, as the investment of DERs is high and prosumers are bearing the risk for themselves. In the case of joint installation, some households invest in their own DERs, while at the same time, the installation of DERs also takes place at the community level. The costs consist of capital investment of community DERs and energy exchange costs. In the case of community installation of DERs, the costs are mainly capital investment, with a small portion of energy exchange costs. The cost structure of the two latter formulations is similar, both with capital investment and energy exchange costs. The two latter formulations are not as stable as the first one, as investors are bearing the investment risk. Costs will be re-allocated if some members leave the community, then the remaining members will pay more, especially for the fixed investment cost. Otherwise, cost recovery is at stake. The formulation of the ICES affects cost structures and the stable development of the ICES. Under this situation, some agreements should be made with the members, for example, by signing contracts with them to make sure they stay in the community for at least some years. Proper strategies should be made at the beginning of the project considering the formulation of the ICES to ensure cost recovery and stable development of ICESs in the long-term.

#### 6.6. Long-term commitment of local community members

The long-term commitment of local community members affects the successful implementation and long-term development of the ICES. In this section, we will discuss the factors affecting the long-term commitment of local members, considering the preferences of various stakeholders. The stakeholders involved in ICESs are local community members and investors. Local community members can invest in DERs, and they can also provide financial funds. Investors care about whether their investments can be fully recovered by using the selected method. Therefore, local members who are also investors are more willing to stay in the ICES; they want to recoup their investment. This factor should be taken into consideration at the start of the project when looking for the required investment to build the energy system.

The preferences of local community members are generally divided into three main categories. The first one is where customers do not care much about the energy costs, and they would like to consume green energy without  $CO_2$  emissions. It is easy to satisfy this requirement since energy generation in an ICES is mainly from DERs. The second one is where customers care about energy costs; they may compare the energy costs in the ICES to those from the grid. It is expected that the costs allocated to customers in an ICES are not higher than those from the grid. In that situation, customers would still like to remain in the ICES. Another possible scenario is that consumers who care about  $CO_2$  emissions are paying more than those who care about energy costs, as long as they agree on this and feel it is fair. Otherwise, customers would withdraw from the ICES because of the higher energy bills. This may lead to a circle of decline: remaining members are fewer, leading to others leaving as well. The third preference focuses on fairness. It refers to a situation in which costs are allocated according to the drivers that cause them. For example, customers with higher peak demand should pay more. However, some of their preferences conflict with each other, for instance, cost recovery and fairness. In order to ensure a fair allocation of costs, sometimes it is not possible to ensure cost recovery. For example, local members perceive it as fair when the costs are allocated to them based on the cost causality principle. This would include variable energy price, while cost recovery is at stake in this scenario. It is not easy to fulfill both of the preferences at the same time. Therefore, the selected cost allocation mechanism should provide proper incentives to ensure that the preferences of all the stakeholders are satisfied and to promote the long-term commitment of the local members. The decision should be made by both parties.

#### 6.7. Community management team

There is no regulator in an ICES, and no public institutions are involved. Cost allocation is based on private contracts. Therefore, the apparent problem would be (1) Who will define the cost allocation approach? (2) Will the consumers agree on the selected cost allocation method? (3) Who will draw up the details of the private contract? (4) Who will sign the contracts with consumers? (5) How to ensure every local member sticks to it? These problems complicate the implementation of cost allocation in ICESs. They must be solved at the beginning of the project. A possible solution is to set up a community management team. They represent the local community members. They collect opinions and questions from local community members. They are responsible for drawing up rules and principles to regulate cost allocation in the ICES. They select cost allocation methods that take into account all the benefits of stakeholders in the ICES. They are also in charge of signing contracts with local community members. For system operation and cost allocation, they can be managed by specialists or an energy company.

#### 6.8. Evaluation of the implementation

The focus of this thesis is to identify cost allocation methods, access their performance, and social acceptance analysis of cost allocation. However, the selected method may not work when conditions change, for instance, when new members join and new investment decisions are being made or existing members leave. It, therefore, is necessary to have an evaluation of the effectiveness of the adopted cost allocation method, such as an annual evaluation, to make sure that the whole community is always satisfied with the cost allocation. The process is essential for the sustainable development of an ICES in the long-term, and thus local community members can show more commitment to the community energy system. In addition, the evaluation process provides the local community with the opportunity to participate in the demand response activity. They can adjust their consumption behaviors to save energy bills in the following years by selecting an effective cost allocation method. This kind of evaluation process makes both the community energy system and the cost allocation to be flexible and acceptable to local community members.

#### 6.9. Conclusions

The success of cost allocation in an ICES is influenced by many barriers and factors. In this chapter, we illustrated several essential barriers, provided possible solutions, and discussed their possible effects. These practical solutions pave the way for future implementation of cost allocation in ICESs. Based on this, the community management team can make proper mechanisms beforehand to prevent the occurrence of these problems. In addition, they can take more effective measures to tackle the problems that might meet in the process.

# 7 Conclusions

Don't let the noise of others' opinions drown out your own inner voice.

Steve Jobs

This final chapter summarizes the work and results described in this thesis by providing the answers to the main research question and each sub-question, as well as the main research contributions. Finally, recommendations for future research direction are given with suggestions.

#### 7.1. Conclusions

The objective of this thesis is to allocate costs in an ICES in a socially acceptable manner. A systematic framework is proposed in order to ensure a successful cost allocation in ICESs, which include the objectives, procedures and methods. Among them, the selection of a socially acceptable cost allocation method is much more complicated, a diagram is presented in Figure 7.1 in order to understand the workflow and the knowledge provided in each chapter. It also shows how the approach can be applied in a community energy system in practice. The required input from local community members is their selection of the decision-making groups. The other required components are provided in different chapters. Finally, a socially acceptable cost allocation method is selected for the community. In addition, the whole process follows with the procedural justice to ensure local community members are fully involved in the decision-making. Overall, the research done in this thesis provides necessary approaches and tools to ensure a socially acceptable cost allocation design in an ICES. The logic of the cost allocation design in this thesis is as follows: (1) the community manager first calculates the costs that are required to be recovered (2) the community manager collect local community members' opinions upon the decision-making groups as the input of the framework shown in Figure 7.1 to select a cost allocation method that is socially acceptable to the whole community (3) the final step is to allocate costs to local community members according to the method selected in step 2.

#### 7.2. Answers to research questions

In line with the objective of this thesis, the main research question addressed in this thesis is:

### How to design cost allocation in an ICES in a socially acceptable manner?

Specifically, the main research question is decomposed into four sub-questions. In the following part, the main findings towards each sub-question are summarized.

**Sub-question 1:** What can be learned from electricity tariff design with respect to cost allocation design in an ICES?

Sub-question 1 is posed to review tariff design issues in large power systems and investigate their applicability to cost allocation in ICESs. This sub-question is answered in Chapter 2, by conducting a literature review of tariff design, which includes objectives, regulatory procedures, tariff structure design, regulatory principles, and most widely used cost allocation methods. By doing this, we investigate



Figure 7.1: A diagram for answering the main research question

how to translate the concept of tariff design into cost allocation in ICESs. Furthermore, we discussed the experience learned and possible modifications to the application of cost allocation methods to cost allocation in ICESs. The discussion also includes a comprehensive analysis of the potential problems that have impacts on cost allocation in ICESs and possible solutions. According to the analysis, a systematic framework can be formulated learning from the framework adopted in tariff design, and these methods are also potential options for allocating costs in ICESs. This review chapter paves the way for the application of fair cost allocation in ICESs by providing a systemic framework.

**Sub-question 2:** What is the framework for cost allocation design and which approaches can be adopted for cost allocation in an ICES?

The objective of this sub-question is to develop a framework and methods for cost allocation design in an ICES. Based on the lessons we learned from tariff design, we developed a systematic framework for cost allocation design, specifically including the objectives, procedures, required components, and various options for cost allocation methods. These keys are essential elements for ensuring a successful implementation of cost allocation in an ICES. The framework designed here can be applied to any community energy system with a similar characteristic to ICESs. In the framework, social acceptance analysis is considered, which is not covered in large power systems. Therefore, the main objective is to allocate costs in a socially acceptable manner by taking the local communities' opinions and preferences into account. One more step is added in the procedure: to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method by the decision-making from local community members. Furthermore, the cost allocation methods are explained in detail to show how their concepts are translated from tariff design, and how they are derived from underlying principles. The methods are also formulated mathematically to show how they are implemented and what data are required. These explanations and mathematical formulations make sure that these methods can be applied to a local community energy system directly to allocated costs to community members. This sub-question is answered in Chapter 3. Overall, the framework and approaches proposed in this chapter are guidelines for a local community manager and members to follow, to ensure that costs are allocated in a proper manner.

Sub-question 3: How to assess the performance of the cost allocation methods?

Cost allocation methods perform differently with respect to various criteria due to their different characteristics. There is also no consensus on which method is the best. It is, therefore, necessary to assess their performance and to show their differences. In any energy system, costs should be allocated to those who cause them, and benefits to those who make the investments, in order to promote fairness. A cost-reflective tariff reflects the contribution of consumers to the energy system and incentivizes them to utilize energy in a cost-efficient manner. A cost-predictable tariff helps consumers estimate the energy bills they have to pay. Thus they have the incentive to take action to adjust their consumption behaviors. Cost reflectiveness and predictability are proposed and defined as the criteria to assess the performance of the various cost allocation methods. Cost reflectiveness is used to gain insights into how well the costs are allocated, and cost predictability is adopted to see how the energy costs change in the long-term.

This sub-question is answered in Chapter 4, by conducting a case study to evaluate the performance of the ten cost allocation methods presented in Chapter 3 in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. From the analysis of the results, we conclude that methods with energy as their single charging component perform better than either those with capacity as their sole component or those allocating costs based on the number of users in terms of cost reflectiveness and predictability. Our assessment should facilitate local community members in selecting a method that satisfies their requirements.

**Sub-question 4:** How to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method?

ICESs focus on the engagement of local community members, they can participate in the decision-making process, on such matters as making investments in community DERs and selecting a cost allocation method, so that they take full control of the energy system. Costs should be allocated in a socially acceptable manner since there is no regulation in ICESs. Both the process and the results should be socially acceptable by the local community members. A fair process increases the understanding and the acceptance of the cost allocation outcomes, and a fair outcome is important for the community's acceptance of cost allocation. According to the assessment in Chapter 4, cost allocation methods perform differently due to their characteristics. Local community members may hold different points of view towards the methods. It is expected that it can satisfy the requirements of stakeholders to the best when selecting a cost allocation method. In addition, local community members can be classified into several decision-making groups according to their major preferences. It, therefore, stands for a multi-group, multi-criteria and decision-making problem. Methods that can handle all these criteria are multicriteria decision-making, which can take the preferences of all the stakeholders into account and further assist their decision-making (select cost allocation method).

This sub-question is answered in Chapter 5, by adopting a multi-group multicriteria decision-making approach to evaluate social acceptance, in order to further to select a cost allocation method socially acceptable to local community members. The results show that our approach is unique and useful when multiple decisionmaking groups have to decide together upon the cost allocation method. It is able to provide quantitative results and optimal decisions from a multi-group decisionmaking perspective. The methodology developed in this thesis can be applied to any local community energy system, and the obtained results can be used by decisionmakers to help them in the decision-making process.

#### 7.3. Research contributions

The contributions of this thesis are as follows:

- Cost allocation framework in ICESs. This thesis provides a systematic framework for ensuring a successful cost allocation in ICESs, including objectives, procedures, and required components. It studies the key issues in tariff design in large power systems to understand how the concept of tariff design can be translated to cost allocation in an ICES. It provides guidelines for both community managers and community members to understand how the costs should be allocated.
- Approaches for cost allocation in ICESs. By reviewing the most widely used cost allocation methods adopted in tariff design in ICESs, we derive cost allocation approaches for ICESs. In this regard, it provides various possible methods for allocating costs in a local community energy system with DERs.
- *Performance assessment of cost allocation methods.* Two criteria are proposed to evaluate the performance of the various cost allocation methods: cost reflectiveness and predictability, to gain insight into how well the costs are allocated and how the energy bills change in the long-term. The assessment facilitates the local community members in selecting a method that satisfies their requirements.
- Social acceptance analysis for cost allocation in ICESs. Social acceptance is conceptualized from the perspective of procedural and distributive justice, to make sure the process and the results of cost allocation are fair and socially

acceptable to local community members. Multi-group multi-criteria decisionmaking method is adopted as the tool to select a cost allocation method that is socially acceptable to local community members. It is able to provide decisionmaking on a cost allocation method with various degrees of preference from multi-criteria and multi-group decision-making perspectives. This approach can be applied directly to any local energy system without regulation, which is expected to allocate costs among local community members in a socially acceptable manner.

#### 7.4. Future work recommendations

According to the extensive discussion on the barrier and enablers for cost allocation in ICESs in Section 6, it is concluded that there are still several aspects related to cost allocation in ICESs have not been addressed adequately in this thesis. Based on this, the following directions for future research are discussed in this section.

#### 7.4.1. Local policy package design

Local regulations, policy, and institutional design are required to support that local community members are entitled to participate in the decision-making process of cost allocation in ICESs while maintaining their rights and obligations as final consumers. The key factors that affecting procedural justice, such as transparency, non-discrimination, and others, should be well-followed by the local manager or community management team, to make sure that local community members are actively involved in the process of cost allocation. Besides this, local authorities should support such local activities as collectively and individually investment, energy sharing and exchange activities, necessary support from the grid and among others, to make sure the successful implementation of such projects. It, therefore, requires to design specific policy packages from the institutional design perspective.

#### 7.4.2. Local demand response

The research up to now only considers how to allocate costs in a socially acceptable manner, however, other issues such as local demand response is not explained. It is not clear how demand response activity can be achieved in ICESs, such as monetary reward or real-time pricing. The mechanism could be local community members who consume energy at peak generation hours get revenues and who consume energy at off-peak generations hours get punishments. Based on the given cost allocation mechanism, it is worth investigating how to incentivize local community members to participate in demand response activities and to further optimize their energy bills. Furthermore, it is also essential to study how the local demand response program could contribute to the optimal operation of ICESs in the short-term and sustainable investment and development of ICESs in the long-term. This would be another interesting topic to explore in future research.

## 7.4.3. The impact of joining or leaving the community on cost allocation

Another issue that is not addressed in the thesis is the impact of joining or leaving the community on the formulation of the energy system and the selection of cost allocation methods. On one hand, when new local community members join the ICES, the existing generation capability may not satisfy the load demand. The community either invests in local DERs or buys electricity directly from the grid. Then the cost structure of the energy system and the existing cost allocation method may work or not work efficiently. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate its impact to see if it is required to change the current cost allocation method. On the other hand, when the existing local community members leave the ICES, demand reduces in the energy system. It is apparent that local community members will burden more costs when the ICES works in off-grid mode with fewer members. However, when the ICES works in grid-connected mode, it can sell surplus generation to the grid to get some revenues. It is unsure whether the current cost allocation method still works or not. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate the impact of joining or leaving the community on the selection of the cost allocation method.

#### 7.4.4. Energy exchange mechanism

The energy exchange mechanism taken in this research is community-based P2P trading that prosumers sell their surplus energy to the community at one price and buy deficit energy from the community at another price. However, it remains unclear what are the impacts on the energy bills of local community members if the energy exchange prices change. Another aspect that is interesting to investigate is what are the impacts of different energy exchange mechanisms on the individual energy bills and the whole system. Furthermore, it is worth exploring which energy exchange mechanism is the most attractive for the local community members.

#### 7.4.5. Cost allocation methods

In this thesis, ten methods are proposed as the possible alternatives to allocate costs in ICESs. There could be other options, which are not addressed in this thesis. In addition, considering the given methods, a lot of modifications can be applied to them to create more options. For example, the chosen allocating coefficient for methods with two or more charging components is the load factor. Further research is recommended to reveal the impact of flexible coefficients on the results of cost allocation in ICESs and to see if these can improve cost reflectiveness and predictability when compared to the methods with one single charging component. In addition, the two-part pricing and multi-part pricing use flat energy and capacity price, which is independent of time difference. The combination of time-variant energy and capacity price is not considered in this thesis. Many modifications can be made to the cost allocation methods presented here. They provide more options for local community members to select.

#### 7.4.6. Multi-group and multi-criteria decision-making

In this thesis, we analyzed social acceptance of cost allocation in ICESs from a multigroup and multi-criteria decision-making perspective. Local community members are classified into several groups according to their major preferences, which are explicitly defined in the study. However, their major preferences might be ambiguous in reality, therefore, the method that take ambiguity into account can be applied in future work to study social acceptance. Besides, seven decision-making groups are classified in this research based on the criteria defined in the dimension of distributive justice. It is possible to add or reduce the decision-making groups according to the preferences of local community members. Furthermore, we use quantitative method to help local community members to take decision-making to select a socially acceptable cost allocation method. It is interesting to adopt qualitative research methodology, such as questionnaires and surveys, to analyze the preferences and requirements of local community members.

#### 7.5. Final remarks

With the growing demand for energy transition, this thesis provides a view of how cost allocation can facilitate the success of local community energy systems from a socio-economic perspective. Although it is challenging to allocate costs in a socially acceptable manner in the context of local community energy systems without regulation, this thesis provides a systematic framework and practical methods to allocate costs in ICESs. The approach presented can facilitate the local community manager and members in allocating costs in a socially acceptable manner. Local community members can actively participate in the decision-making process to express their opinions and preferences. And the methodology can be directly applied to any local community energy system with similar characteristics to ICESs. Although much work still needs to be done, this work has hopefully contributed to understanding the importance of socially acceptable cost allocation to ensure a successful implementation of ICESs. Thus, it can contribute to the formulation of local community energy markets and supporting the energy transition.

# A

# Chapter 2 nomenclature

#### Nomenclature

$P_f$	Flat energy price $[\in/kWh]$
TC	Total cost [€]
$E_i(t)$	Energy consumption at hour $t$ of customer $i$ [kWh]
N	The number of customers
T	Time period [hours]
$C_i$	The energy bill of customer $i \in$
$TC_{base}$	The costs allocated to base hours $[\in]$
$TC_{peak}$	The costs allocated to peak hours $[\in]$
$TC_1$	The costs for satisfying base demand $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$
$TC_2$	The costs for satisfying peak demand over base demand level $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$
$T_{base}$	Off-peak hours [hours]
$P_{base}$	The energy prices in base hours $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm kWh}]$
$P_{peak}$	The energy prices in peak hours $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm kWh}]$
$E_{base}$	Total energy consumption in base hours [kWh]
$E_{peak}$	Total energy consumption in peak hours [kWh]
$C_i(t)$	The hourly energy bill for customer $i \in$
MC	The marginal cost $[\in/kW(h)]$
Q	The quantity of energy [kWh] or capacity [kW] supplied
TC(Q)	The cost function $[\in]$

IC	The incremental cost $[\in/kW]$
$f_{1, i}$	The first two-part allocation factor of customer $i$
$f_{2, i}$	The second two-part allocation factor of customer $i$
$E_{ave, i}$	The average demand of customer $i$ [kWh]
$E_{peak, i}$	The peak demand of customer $i$ [kWh]
$E_{exc, i}$	The excess demand of customer $i$ [kW]
lf	Load factor
$E_{peak}$	The system peak demand [kWh]
$P_i$	The electricity price for customer group $i \ [ \epsilon / kWh ]$
$MC_i$	The marginal cost for customer group $i~[{\rm {\ensuremath{\in}}}/{\rm kWh}]$
$\lambda$	The Lagrange multiplier
$\eta_i$	The price elasticity of demand associated with customer group $\boldsymbol{i}$
$P_{TN}$	The transmission network price $[{\ensuremath{ \in }}/{\rm kW}]$
$E_{tran, i}$	The peak demand of transaction $i$ [kW]
K	The number of transactions
$E_{path, i}$	The magnitude of power signed in the contract for path $i$ [kW]
R	The number of contract paths
$PX_i$	MW-mile value [MW $\cdot$ mile]
$L_i$	The geographical distance between seller and buyer of transaction $i \ [\mathrm{mile}]$
$E_{tr, i}$	The magnitude of the transacted power [kW]
Ζ	The set of all circuits
$c_j$	The cost of circuit $j$ per MW per mile $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/\mathrm{MW}\cdot\mathrm{mile}]$
$L_{i,j}$	The length of circuit $j$ of transaction $i$ [mile]
$E_{i,j}$	The power flow in circuit $j$ caused by transaction $i$ kW
$P_{CP}$	The coincident peak demand charge $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/kW]$
$E_{CP, i}$	The peak demand of customer $i$ occurring at the system peak hours $[\rm kW]$
$P_{NCP}$	The non-coincident peak demand charge $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/kW]$

В

# Chapter 3 nomenclature

#### Nomenclature

C	Energy cost per customer $[{\ensuremath{\in}} / {\rm customer}]$
TC	Total costs $[\in]$
N	The number of customers
$P_f$	Flat energy price $[\in/kWh]$
$E_i(t)$	Energy consumption at hour $t$ by household $i$ [kWh]
T	Time period [hours]
$P_{base}$	Energy price in off-peak hours $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm kWh}]$
$P_{peak}$	Energy price in peak hours $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm kWh}]$
$C_{base}$	Costs in off-peak hours $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$
$C_{peak}$	Costs in peak hours [€]
lf	Load factor
$T_{base}$	Off-peak hours [hours]
$T_{peak}$	Peak hours [hours]
E(t)	The hourly energy consumption at hour $t$ [kWh]
$C_i(t)$	Energy cost at hour t for user $i \in$
$E_{base}(t)$	Energy consumption in off-peak hours [kWh]
$\mathbf{r}$ (1)	

 $E_{peak}(t)$  Energy consumption in peak hours [kWh]
$CS_i$	Subscribed capacity of DERs by household $i$ [kW]
$P_{CS}$	Subscribed capacity price $[\in/kW]$
$P_{CP}$	Coincident peak capacity price $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm kW}]$
$E_{CP,i}$	Coincident peak demand by household $i$ [kW]
$P_{NCP}$	Non-coincident peak capacity price $[{\ensuremath{\in}} / \mathrm{kW}]$
$E_{NCP,i}$	Non-coincident peak demand by household $i$ [kW]
$P_{ave}$	Energy price for consumption below the threshold $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/kWh]$
$P_{exc}$	Energy price for consumption exceeds the threshold $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm kWh}]$
$T_{ave}$	Hours for consumption below the threshold [hours]
$T_{exc}$	Hours for consumption exceeds the threshold [hours]
$E_{ave}(t)$	Energy consumption below the threshold [kWh]
$E_{exc}(t)$	Energy consumption exceeds the threshold [kWh]
$E_{th}$	Threshold value [kWh]
$f_{1,i}$	The first allocation factor for user $i$
$f_{2,i}$	The second allocation factor for user $i$
f	Allocation coefficient
$E_{ave,i}$	Average demand of user $i$ [kW]
$E_{exc,i}$	Excess demand of user $i$ [kW]
$E_{peak,i}$	Peak demand of user $i$ [kW]
$C_i$	The energy cost of user $i$
$P_C$	Capacity price $[\in/kW]$
$P_E$	Average energy price $[\in/kWh]$
$TC_E$	Costs allocated to energy component $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$
$TC_C$	Costs allocated to capacity component $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$
$P_N$	Customer service price $[{\ensuremath{\in}}/{\rm customer}/{\rm year}]$
$TC_S$	Costs allocated to customer service component $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$
$TC_{E+C}$	Costs allocated to energy and capacity components $[{\ensuremath{\in}}]$

# C

## Chapter 4 nomenclature

#### Nomenclature

$D_i(t)$	Energy consumption for user $i$ at hour $t$ [kWh]
D(t)	Total energy consumption for all users at hour $t$ [kWh]
$E_{RES}(t)$	Energy generation from RESs at hour $t$ [kWh]
$IC_{PV}$	Installed capacity of PV [kW]
$IC_{WT}$	Installed capacity of wind turbine [kW]
$P_{PV}(t)$	PV generation per capacity at hour $t~[\rm kWh/kW]$
$P_{WT}(t)$	Wind turbine generation per capacity at hour $t~[\rm kWh/kW]$
$E_{dif}(t)$	Energy difference between generation and demand at hour $t~[{\rm kWh}]$
$E_B(t)$	Energy state of storage at hour $t$
$E_B(t+1)$	Energy state of storage at hour $t + 1$
$E_{Bmin}$	Minimal energy state of storage [kWh]
$E_{Bmax}$	Maximal energy state of storage [kWh]
$B_e$	Charging and discharging efficiency of storage
$E_{ex, grid}(t)$	Energy exchange with the grid at hour $t$ [kWh]
$CRI_{i,j}$	Cost reflectiveness index for user $i$ under method $j$
$C_{i,j}$	Annual cost for user $i$ under method $j \in$
$C_{i,DER}$	Annual cost for user <i>i</i> for its individual energy system $[\in]$
$CPI_{i,j}$	Cost predictability index for user $i$ under method $j$
$C2_{i,j}$	Annual cost for user $i$ under method $j$ in year 2 $[\in]$
$C1_{i,j}$	Annual cost for user $i$ under method $j$ in year 1 [€]

D

## Chapter 5 nomenclature

#### Nomenclature

$var_{ref/pre_j}$	The variance of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) of method $j$
$ref/pre_{i,j}$	The index for cost reflectiveness (or predictability) of method $j$ for user $i$
Q	The number of users
$v_{m,n}$	The decision-making matrix of each criteria $m$ for each alternative $n$
M	The set of criteria
N	The set of alternative
$NV_{cau,n}$	The normalization value of cost causality for method $n$
$v_{cau,n}$	The value of cost causality for method $n$
$v_{cau,n,min}$	The minimal value of cost causality for method $n$
$v_{cau,n,max}$	The maximal value of cost causality for method $n$
$NV_{ref/pre,n}$	The normalization value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method $n$
$v_{ref/pre,n}$	The variance value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method $\boldsymbol{n}$
$v_{ref/pre,n,max}$	The maximal value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method $\boldsymbol{n}$
$v_{ref/pre,n,min}$	The minimal value of cost reflectiveness (or predictability) for method $\boldsymbol{n}$
$R^a_{m,n}$	The weighted normalized decision matrix for each decision-making group $a$
A	The set of decision-making group
$w_m^a$	The weight for criteria $m$ for decision-making group $a$

$P_m^{a+}$	The best point regarding each criterion $m$ for each decision-making group $a$
$P_m^{a-}$	The worst point regarding each criterion $m$ for each decision-making group $a$
$S_n^{a+}$	The positive distance for each alternative $\boldsymbol{n}$ for each decision-making group $\boldsymbol{a}$
$S_n^{a-}$	The negative distance for each alternative $\boldsymbol{n}$ for each decision-making group $\boldsymbol{a}$
$CC_n^a$	The normalized CC for each alternative $\boldsymbol{n}$ for each decision-making group $\boldsymbol{a}$
$ACC_n^a$	The absolute value of CC for each solution $n$ for each decision-making group $a$
$CC_n^{geo, ave}$	The average value of CC score

# Е

## Acronyms

#### Nomenclature

ICESs	Integrated community energy systems
ToU	Time-of-use
DERs	Distributed energy systems
RESs	Renewable energy sources
EMS	Energy management system
CCHP	Combined cooling, heating and power
P2G	Power to gas
CP	Coincident peak
NCP	Non-coincident peak
O&M	Operation and maintenance
P2P	Peer to peer
PV	Photovoltaic
AHP	Analytic hierarchy process
ELECTRE	Elimination et choice translating reality
PROMETHEE	Preference ranking organization method for enrichment evaluation
TOPSIS	Technique for order preference by similarity to ideal solution
MCDM	Multi-criteria decision-making
$\mathbf{C}\mathbf{C}$	Coefficient of closeness

### Bibliography

- B. P. Koirala, J. P. Chaves Ávila, T. Gómez, R. A. Hakvoort, and P. M. Herder, Local alternative for energy supply: Performance assessment of integrated community energy systems, Energies 9, 981 (2016).
- [2] S. Weitemeyer, D. Kleinhans, T. Vogt, and C. Agert, Integration of renewable energy sources in future power systems: The role of storage, Renewable Energy 75, 14 (2015).
- [3] E. K. Stigka, J. A. Paravantis, and G. K. Mihalakakou, Social acceptance of renewable energy sources: A review of contingent valuation applications, Renewable and sustainable energy Reviews 32, 100 (2014).
- [4] European Commission, A policy framework for climate and energy in the period from 2020 up to 2030, (2014).
- [5] European Commission, 2030 climate & energy framework, climate strategies
  & targets, https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/strategies/2030\_en,
  [Accessed 27 December 2020].
- [6] European Commission, Fit for 55 package, (2021).
- [7] P. Schweizer-Ries, Energy sustainable communities: Environmental psychological investigations, Energy Policy 36, 4126 (2008).
- [8] C. Wang, C. Lv, P. Li, G. Song, S. Li, X. Xu, and J. Wu, Modeling and optimal operation of community integrated energy systems: A case study from china, Applied Energy 230, 1242 (2018).
- [9] P. Basak, S. Chowdhury, S. H. nee Dey, and S. Chowdhury, A literature review on integration of distributed energy resources in the perspective of control, protection and stability of microgrid, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 16, 5545 (2012).
- [10] R. Lasseter, A. Akhil, C. Marnay, J. Stephens, J. Dagle, R. Guttromson, A. S. Meliopoulous, R. Yinger, and J. Eto, *Integration of distributed energy* resources. the certs microgrid concept, (2002).
- [11] E. Commision, Clean energy for all europeans package, https://ec.europa. eu/energy/topics/energy-strategy/clean-energy-all-europeans\_en, [Accessed 8 August 2021].

- [12] J. Lowitzsch, C. Hoicka, and F. Van Tulder, Renewable energy communities under the 2019 european clean energy package-governance model for the energy clusters of the future? Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 122, 109489 (2020).
- [13] J. Roberts, D. Frieden, and S. d'Herbemont, *Energy community definitions*, Deliverable Developed Under the Scope of the COMPILE Project: Integrating Community Power in Energy Islands (H2020-824424) (2019).
- [14] A. Caramizaru and A. Uihlein, Energy communities: an overview of energy and social innovation (Publications Office of the European Union, 2020).
- [15] I. F. Reis, I. Gonçalves, M. A. Lopes, and C. H. Antunes, Business models for energy communities: A review of key issues and trends, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 144, 111013 (2021).
- [16] REScoop, Rescoop: European federation of citizen energy cooperatives, https: //www.rescoop.eu/, [Accessed 8 August 2021].
- [17] P. DE COUESSIN. В. Gabriel Citizens communities: energy *Recommendations* for successful contribution atodecarbonisahttps://www.apren.pt/contents/publicationsothers/ tion. eurelectric--citizens-energy-communities.pdf, [Accessed 9 August 2021].
- [18] B. P. Koirala, E. Koliou, J. Friege, R. A. Hakvoort, and P. M. Herder, Energetic communities for community energy: A review of key issues and trends shaping integrated community energy systems, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 56, 722 (2016).
- [19] B. P. Koirala, Integrated community energy systems, Ph.D. thesis (2017).
- [20] G. Mendes, C. Ioakimidis, and P. Ferrão, On the planning and analysis of integrated community energy systems: A review and survey of available tools, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 15, 4836 (2011).
- [21] W. Lin, X. Jin, Y. Mu, H. Jia, X. Xu, X. Yu, and B. Zhao, A two-stage multiobjective scheduling method for integrated community energy system, Applied Energy 216, 428 (2018).
- [22] B. Koirala and R. Hakvoort, Integrated community-based energy systems: Aligning technology, incentives, and regulations, in Innovation and Disruption At the Grid's Edge (Elsevier, 2017) pp. 363–387.
- [23] G. Walker and P. Devine-Wright, Community renewable energy: What should it mean? Energy policy 36, 497 (2008).
- [24] F. Avelino, R. Bosman, N. Frantzeskaki, S. Akerboom, P. Boontje, J. Hoffman, and J. Wittmayer, *The (self-) governance of community energy: Challenges* & prospects, The Dutch Research Institute For Transitions: Rotterdam, The Netherlands (2014).

- [25] G. Walker, What are the barriers and incentives for community-owned means of energy production and use? Energy Policy 36, 4401 (2008).
- [26] X. Xu, X. Jin, H. Jia, X. Yu, and K. Li, *Hierarchical management for integrated community energy systems*, Applied energy 160, 231 (2015).
- [27] Y. Zhou, Z. Wei, G. Sun, K. W. Cheung, H. Zang, and S. Chen, A robust optimization approach for integrated community energy system in energy and ancillary service markets, Energy 148, 1 (2018).
- [28] X. Jing, L. Hong, X. Ke, L. Jifeng, W. Shiju, Y. Zan, and W. Bo, Synergistic scheduling in integrated community energy system considering wind power accommodation, Energy Procedia 145, 211 (2018).
- [29] B. P. Koirala, R. A. Hakvoort, J. P. C. Avila, and T. Gómez, Assessment of integrated community energy systems, in European Energy Market (EEM), 2016 13th International Conference on the (IEEE, 2016) pp. 1–6.
- [30] J. Randolph, A guide to writing the dissertation literature review, Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation 14, 13 (2009).
- [31] M. J. Osborne et al., An introduction to game theory, Vol. 3 (Oxford university press New York, 2004).
- [32] E. Tveita, Methods for cost allocation among prosumers and consumers using cooperative game theory, Master's thesis, NTNU (2018).
- [33] M. Hupez, J.-F. Toubeau, Z. De Grève, and F. Vallée, A new cooperative framework for a fair and cost-optimal allocation of resources within a low voltage electricity community, IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid (2020).
- [34] Y. Yang, G. Hu, and C. J. Spanos, *Optimal sharing and fair cost allocation of community energy storage*, IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid (2021).
- [35] E. Tveita, M. Löschenbrand, S. Bjarghov, and H. Farahmand, Comparison of cost allocation strategies among prosumers and consumers in a cooperative game, in 2018 International Conference on Smart Energy Systems and Technologies (SEST) (IEEE, 2018) pp. 1–6.
- [36] M. Marzband, R. R. Ardeshiri, M. Moafi, and H. Uppal, Distributed generation for economic benefit maximization through coalition formation-based game theory concept, International Transactions on Electrical Energy Systems 27, e2313 (2017).
- [37] X. Luo, Y. Liu, J. Liu, and X. Liu, Optimal design and cost allocation of a distributed energy resource (der) system with district energy networks: A case study of an isolated island in the south china sea, Sustainable Cities and Society 51, 101726 (2019).

- [38] K. N. Hasan, T. K. Saha, D. Chattopadhyay, and M. Eghbal, Benefit-based expansion cost allocation for large scale remote renewable power integration into the australian grid, Applied energy 113, 836 (2014).
- [39] Y. Yang, L. Tang, Y. Wang, and W. Sun, Integrated operation optimization for cchp micro-grid connected with power-to-gas facility considering risk management and cost allocation, International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems 123, 106319 (2020).
- [40] M. Moncecchi, S. Meneghello, and M. Merlo, A game theoretic approach for energy sharing in the italian renewable energy communities, Applied Sciences 10, 8166 (2020).
- [41] S. Norbu, B. Couraud, V. Robu, M. Andoni, and D. Flynn, Modelling the redistribution of benefits from joint investments in community energy projects, Applied Energy 287, 116575 (2021).
- [42] Z. Huang, Y. Zhang, Y. Lu, W. Wang, D. Chen, C. Wang, and Z. Khan, Cost allocation model for net-zero energy buildings under community-based reward penalty mechanism, Environmental and Climate Technologies 23, 293 (2019).
- [43] A. Narayanan and P. Nardelli, Profit allocation in renewables based community microgrids with aggregation and self-sufficiency, in 2020 IEEE 31st Annual International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (IEEE) pp. 1–6.
- [44] S. Ruester, S. Schwenen, C. Batlle, and I. Pérez-Arriaga, From distribution networks to smart distribution systems: Rethinking the regulation of european electricity dsos, Utilities Policy 31, 229 (2014).
- [45] J. Reneses, T. Gómez, J. Rivier, and J. L. Angarita, *Electricity tariff design for transition economies: Application to the libyan power system*, Energy Economics 33, 33 (2011).
- [46] M. P. R. Ortega, J. I. Pérez-Arriaga, J. R. Abbad, and J. P. González, Distribution network tariffs: A closed question? Energy Policy 36, 1712 (2008).
- [47] I. Abdelmotteleb, T. Gómez, J. P. C. Ávila, and J. Reneses, *Designing effi*cient distribution network charges in the context of active customers, Applied Energy 210, 815 (2018).
- [48] I. Abdelmotteleb, T. G. San Roman, and J. Reneses, Distribution network cost allocation using a locational and temporal cost reflective methodology, in Power Systems Computation Conference (PSCC), 2016 (IEEE, 2016) pp. 1–7.
- [49] V. Sakhrani and J. Parsons, Electricity network tariff architectures a comparison of four oecd countries, (2010).

- [50] A. Picciariello, J. Reneses, P. Frias, and L. Söder, Distributed generation and distribution pricing: Why do we need new tariff design methodologies? Electric power systems research 119, 370 (2015).
- [51] N. Frantzeskaki, F. Avelino, and D. Loorbach, Outliers or frontrunners? exploring the (self-) governance of community-owned sustainable energy in scotland and the netherlands, in Renewable Energy Governance (Springer, 2013) pp. 101–116.
- [52] W. Lin, X. Jin, Y. Mu, H. Jia, X. Xu, and X. Yu, Multi-objective optimal hybrid power flow algorithm for integrated community energy system, Energy Procedia 105, 2871 (2017).
- [53] D. Charlier, Energy efficiency investments in the context of split incentives among french households, Energy Policy 87, 465 (2015).
- [54] L. Maruejols and D. Young, Split incentives and energy efficiency in canadian multi-family dwellings, Energy policy 39, 3655 (2011).
- [55] N. Li, R. A. Hakvoort, and Z. Lukszo, Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems-a review, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 144, 111001 (2021).
- [56] R. M. Laloux D., Technology and operation of electric power systems, in Regulation of the Power Sector (Springer, 2013) pp. 1–46.
- [57] L. Similä, G. Koreneff, and V. Kekkonen, Network tariff structures in smart grid environment, VTT, Espoo, Tech. Rep. VTT-R 03173–11 (2011).
- [58] H. R. Ignacio J. Pérez-Arriaga and M. R. Abbad, *Electric energy systems—an overview*, in *Electric energy systems analysis and operation* (CRC Press, 2009) pp. 1–50.
- [59] P. L. Mariano Ventosa and I. J. Pérez-Arriaga, Power system economics, in Regulation of the Power Sector (Springer, 2013) pp. 47–124.
- [60] C. Eid, E. Koliou, M. Valles, J. Reneses, and R. Hakvoort, *Time-based pricing and electricity demand response: Existing barriers and next steps*, Utilities Policy 40, 15 (2016).
- [61] J. Reneses, M. P. Rodriguez, and I. J. Pérez-Arriaga, *Electricity tariffs*, in *Regulation of the Power Sector* (Springer, 2013) pp. 397–441.
- [62] M. Nijhuis, M. Gibescu, and J. Cobben, Analysis of reflectivity & predictability of electricity network tariff structures for household consumers, Energy Policy 109, 631 (2017).
- [63] M. Greer, *Electricity Marginal Cost Pricing* (2012) pp. 231–262.

- [64] J. Reneses and M. P. R. Ortega, Distribution pricing: theoretical principles and practical approaches, IET Generation, Transmission & Distribution 8, 1645 (2014).
- [65] CEER, Electricity Distribution Network Tariffs-CEER Guidelines of Good Practice, https://www.ceer.eu/documents/104400/-/-/ 1bdc6307-7f9a-c6de-6950-f19873959413, [Accessed 1 July 2020].
- [66] E. Koliou, C. Bartusch, A. Picciariello, T. Eklund, L. Söder, and R. A. Hakvoort, *Quantifying distribution-system operators' economic incentives to promote residential demand response*, Utilities Policy 35, 28 (2015).
- [67] L. Yang, C. Dong, C. J. Wan, and C. T. Ng, *Electricity time-of-use tariff with consumer behavior consideration*, International Journal of Production Economics 146, 402 (2013).
- [68] IRENA, Time of use tariffs innovation landscape brief, https: //www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/ 2019/Feb/IRENA\_Innovation\_ToU\_tariffs\_2019.pdf?la=en&hash= 36658ADA8AA98677888DB2C184D1EE6A048C7470, [Accessed 10 April 2020].
- [69] R. de Sá Ferreira, L. A. Barroso, P. R. Lino, M. M. Carvalho, and P. Valenzuela, *Time-of-use tariff design under uncertainty in price-elasticities of electricity demand: A stochastic optimization approach*, IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid 4, 2285 (2013).
- [70] G. R. Newsham and B. G. Bowker, The effect of utility time-varying pricing and load control strategies on residential summer peak electricity use: a review, Energy policy 38, 3289 (2010).
- [71] J. C. Bonbright, A. L. Danielsen, and D. R. Kamerschen, *Principles of public utility rates* (Columbia University Press New York, 1961).
- [72] I. J. Pérez-Arriaga and Y. Smeers, Guidelines on tariff setting, in Transport pricing of electricity networks (Springer, 2003) pp. 175–203.
- [73] F. Lévêque, Legal constraints and economic principles, in Transport Pricing of Electricity Networks (Springer, 2003) pp. 3–33.
- [74] P. Mandatova, M. Massimiano, D. Verreth, and C. Gonzalez, Network tariff structure for a smart energy system, in Proceedings of the 2014 CIRED Workshop, Rome, Italy (2014) pp. 11–12.
- [75] I. Abdelmotteleb, Designing electricity distribution network charges for an efficient integration of distributed energy resources and customer response, Ph.D. thesis, TU Delft University (2018).
- [76] T. Soares, M. Cruz, and M. Matos, Cost allocation of distribution networks in the distributed energy resources era, in 2019 International Conference on Smart Energy Systems and Technologies (SEST) (IEEE, 2019) pp. 1–6.

- [77] G. Mulder, D. Six, B. Claessens, T. Broes, N. Omar, and J. Van Mierlo, The dimensioning of pv-battery systems depending on the incentive and selling price conditions, Applied energy 111, 1126 (2013).
- [78] S. Borenstein, The economics of fixed cost recovery by utilities, The Electricity Journal 29, 5 (2016).
- [79] Wikipedia, Electricity pricing, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Electricity\_pricing, [Accessed 9 April2020].
- [80] M. Greer, Electricity Cost Modeling Calculations (Elsevier Inc., 2011) pp. 283–315.
- [81] J. Ajello, *Electric utility cost allocation manual*, National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (1992).
- [82] S. A. Dobrow and B. Lingaraj, *Design of time-of-use rate periods for a utility*, Journal of Operations Management 7, 25 (1988).
- [83] C. Bartusch, F. Wallin, M. Odlare, I. Vassileva, and L. Wester, Introducing a demand-based electricity distribution tariff in the residential sector: Demand response and customer perception, Energy Policy 39, 5008 (2011).
- [84] T. Krause, Evaluation of transmission pricing methods for liberalized markets: A literature survey, Tech. Rep. (ETH Zurich, 2003).
- [85] M. Murali, M. S. Kumari, and M. Sydulu, A review of transmission pricing methods in restructured electricity market and case studies, International Electrical Engineering Journal 5, 1186 (2014).
- [86] A. P. Della Valle, Short-run versus long-run marginal cost pricing, Energy economics 10, 283 (1988).
- [87] Y. He and J. Zhang, Real-time electricity pricing mechanism in china based on system dynamics, Energy conversion and management 94, 394 (2015).
- [88] H. R. Varian, Intermediate microeconomics: Modern approach, (1917).
- [89] I. J. Pérez-Arriaga, F. J. Rubio, J. Puerta, J. Arceluz, and J. Marín, Marginal pricing of transmission services: An analysis of cost recovery, in Electricity Transmission Pricing and Technology (Springer, 1996) pp. 59–76.
- [90] F. Li, Long-run marginal cost pricing based on network spare capacity, IEEE Transactions on power systems 22, 885 (2007).
- [91] R. Passey, N. Haghdadi, A. Bruce, and I. MacGill, Designing more cost reflective electricity network tariffs with demand charges, Energy Policy 109, 642 (2017).

- [92] A. S. D. Braga and J. T. Saraiva, A multiyear dynamic approach for transmission expansion planning and long-term marginal costs computation, IEEE Transactions on Power Systems 20, 1631 (2005).
- [93] Z. Jing, X. Duan, F. Wen, Y. Ni, and F. F. Wu, Review of transmission fixed costs allocation methods, in 2003 IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting, Vol. 4 (IEEE, 2003) pp. 2585–2592.
- [94] H. Heng and F. Li, Literature review of long-run marginal cost pricing and long-run incremental cost pricing, in 2007 42nd International Universities Power Engineering Conference (IEEE, 2007) pp. 73–77.
- [95] M. Murali, M. S. Kumari, and M. Sydulu, A comparison of fixed cost based transmission pricing methods, Electrical and Electronic Engineering 1, 33 (2011).
- [96] A. Bakirtzis, P. Biskas, A. Maissis, A. Coronides, J. Kabouris, and M. Efstathiou, *Comparison of two methods for long-run marginal cost-based transmission use-of-system pricing*, IEEE proceedings-generation, transmission and distribution 148, 477 (2001).
- [97] R. D. Tabors, Transmission system management and pricing: new paradigms and international comparisons, IEEE Transactions on Power Systems 9, 206 (1994).
- [98] F. C. Schweppe, M. C. Caramanis, R. D. Tabors, and R. E. Bohn, Spot pricing of electricity (Springer Science & Business Media, 2013).
- [99] F. Qi, L. Zhang, B. Wei, and G. Que, An application of ramsey pricing in solving the cross-subsidies in chinese electricity tariffs, in 2008 Third International Conference on Electric Utility Deregulation and Restructuring and Power Technologies (IEEE, 2008) pp. 442–447.
- [100] C. Gu and F. Li, Long-run marginal cost pricing based on analytical method for revenue reconciliation, IEEE Transactions on Power Systems 26, 103 (2010).
- [101] B. H. Kim and M. L. Baughman, The economic efficiency impacts of alternatives for revenue reconciliation, IEEE transactions on power systems 12, 1129 (1997).
- [102] F. Li, J. W. Marangon-Lima, H. Rudnick, L. M. Marangon-Lima, N. P. Padhy, G. Brunekreeft, J. Reneses, and C. Kang, *Distribution pricing: are we ready* for the smart grid? IEEE power and energy magazine 13, 76 (2015).
- [103] T. Vikitset, Electricity tariffs in thailand: structure, objectives and impact on system load, Thai Journal of Development Administration Vol 35, 2 (1995).
- [104] A. Sharma, R. Bhakar, and H. Tiwari, Smart network pricing based on long run incremental cost pricing model, in 2014 Eighteenth National Power Systems Conference (NPSC) (IEEE, 2014) pp. 1–5.

- [105] A. Sharma, R. Bhakar, and H. Tiwari, Coincident demand based smart long run incremental cost pricing model, in International Conference on Recent Advances and Innovations in Engineering (ICRAIE-2014) (IEEE, 2014) pp. 1-4.
- [106] S. Djørup, J. Z. Thellufsen, and P. Sorknæs, The electricity market in a renewable energy system, Energy 162, 148 (2018).
- [107] F. Hvelplund, B. Möller, and K. Sperling, Local ownership, smart energy systems and better wind power economy, Energy Strategy Reviews 1, 164 (2013).
- [108] J. Cludius, H. Hermann, F. C. Matthes, and V. Graichen, The merit order effect of wind and photovoltaic electricity generation in germany 2008–2016: Estimation and distributional implications, Energy economics 44, 302 (2014).
- [109] V. Maxwell, K. Sperling, and F. Hvelplund, *Electricity cost effects of expanding wind power and integrating energy sectors*, International Journal of Sustainable Energy Planning and Management 6, 31 (2015).
- [110] F. Sensfuß, M. Ragwitz, and M. Genoese, The merit-order effect: A detailed analysis of the price effect of renewable electricity generation on spot market prices in germany, Energy policy 36, 3086 (2008).
- [111] S. Clò, A. Cataldi, and P. Zoppoli, The merit-order effect in the italian power market: The impact of solar and wind generation on national wholesale electricity prices, Energy Policy 77, 79 (2015).
- [112] M. Harunuzzaman and S. Koundinya, Cost allocation and rate design for unbundled gas services, (2000).
- [113] L. Alt, Energy Utility Rate Setting (Lulu.com, 2006).
- [114] R. Billinton and K. Chu, An integrated approach to electric power system planning and cost of service allocation, Utilities Policy 2, 303 (1992).
- [115] M. Rivier, I. J. Pérez-Arriaga, and L. Olmos, *Electricity transmission*, in *Regulation of the power sector* (Springer, 2013) pp. 251–340.
- [116] I. Matsukawa, S. Madono, and T. Nakashima, An empirical analysis of ramsey pricing in japanese electric utilities, Journal of the Japanese and International Economies 7, 256 (1993).
- [117] S. Bigerna and C. A. Bollino, Ramsey prices in the italian electricity market, Energy Policy 88, 603 (2016).
- [118] W. G. Shepherd, Ramsey pricing: Its uses and limits, Utilities Policy 2, 296 (1992).
- [119] W. J. Baumol and D. F. Bradford, Optimal departures from marginal cost pricing, The American Economic Review 60, 265 (1970).

- [120] C. Barbulescu, G. Vuc, and S. Kilyeni, Evaluation of Transmission Cost Allocation Methods using a Specially Designed Software Application, 3, 527 (2008).
- [121] M. Z. Meah, A. Mohamed, and S. Serwan, Comparative analysis of using mwmile methods in transmission cost allocation for the malaysia power system, in Proceedings. National Power Engineering Conference, 2003. PECon 2003. (IEEE, 2003) pp. 379–382.
- [122] J. Ferreira, Z. Vale, and H. Morais, *Electricity markets: transmission prices methods*, in *Computational Intelligence for Engineering Systems* (Springer, 2011) pp. 156–175.
- [123] D. A. Lima, A. Padilha-Feltrin, and J. Contreras, An overview on network cost allocation methods, Electric Power Systems Research 79, 750 (2009).
- [124] T. Brown, A. Faruqui, and L. Grausz, Efficient tariff structures for distribution network services, Economic Analysis and Policy 48, 139 (2015).
- [125] B. Kharbas, M. Fozdar, and H. Tiwari, Transmission tariff allocation using combined mw-mile & postage stamp methods, in Innovative Smart Grid Technologies-India (ISGT India), 2011 IEEE PES (IEEE, 2011) pp. 6–11.
- [126] L. Manescu, D. Rusinaru, P. Dadulescu, and V. Anghelina, Usage based allocation for transmission costs under open access, in 2009 IEEE Bucharest PowerTech (IEEE, 2009) pp. 1–7.
- [127] T. Soares, F. Pereira, H. Morais, and Z. Vale, Cost allocation model for distribution networks considering high penetration of distributed energy resources, Electric Power Systems Research 124, 120 (2015).
- [128] P. Kattuman, R. J. Green, and J. Bialek, A tracing method for pricing interarea electricity trades, (2004).
- [129] A. H. Smets, K. Jäger, O. Isabella, R. A. Swaaij, and M. Zeman, Solar Energy: The physics and engineering of photovoltaic conversion, technologies and systems (UIT Cambridge, 2015).
- [130] M. Ghazizadeh, S. Afsharnia, et al., A novel approach to allocate transmission embedded cost based on mw-mile method under deregulated environment, in 2008 IEEE Canada Electric Power Conference (IEEE, 2008) pp. 1–6.
- [131] J. M. Lima, Allocation of transmission fixed charges: an overview, IEEE Transactions on Power Systems 11, 1409 (1996).
- [132] N. Garg, D. Palwalia, and H. Sharma, *Transmission pricing practices: A case study*, Iraqi Journal for Electrical and Electronic Engineering 13, 1 (2017).
- [133] J. Pan, Y. Teklu, S. Rahman, and K. Jun, *Review of usage-based transmis-sion cost allocation methods under open access*, IEEE transactions on power systems 15, 1218 (2000).

- [134] P. M. Sotkiewicz and J. M. Vignolo, Towards a cost causation-based tariff for distribution networks with dg, IEEE Transactions on Power Systems 22, 1051 (2007).
- [135] J. Zarnikau, Three simple steps to clip the peak in the texas (ercot) electricity market, (2013).
- [136] R. Baldick, Incentive properties of coincident peak pricing, Journal of Regulatory Economics 54, 165 (2018).
- [137] J. Zarnikau and D. Thal, The response of large industrial energy consumers to four coincident peak (4cp) transmission charges in the texas (ercot) market, Utilities Policy 26, 1 (2013).
- [138] A. Bharatkumar, Distribution network use-of-system charges under high penetration of distributed energy resources, Ph.D. thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2015).
- [139] A. V. Stokke, G. L. Doorman, and T. Ericson, An analysis of a demand charge electricity grid tariff in the residential sector, Energy Efficiency 3, 267 (2010).
- [140] P. Williams and G. Strbac, Costing and pricing of electricity distribution services, Power Engineering Journal 15, 125 (2001).
- [141] H. Parmesano, Rate design is the no. 1 energy efficiency tool, The Electricity Journal 20, 18 (2007).
- [142] J. Lazar, Electricity regulation in the US: A guide (Second Edition) (Regulatory Assistance Project, 2016).
- [143] N. Li, R. A. Hakvoort, and Z. Lukszo, Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems—performance assessment, Applied Energy, 118155 (2021).
- [144] C. Eid, J. R. Guillén, P. F. Marín, and R. Hakvoort, The economic effect of electricity net-metering with solar pv: Consequences for network cost recovery, cross subsidies and policy objectives, Energy Policy 75, 244 (2014).
- [145] T. Sousa, T. Soares, P. Pinson, F. Moret, T. Baroche, and E. Sorin, *Peer-to-peer and community-based markets: A comprehensive review*, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 104, 367 (2019).
- [146] Y. Parag and B. K. Sovacool, Electricity market design for the prosumer era, Nature energy 1, 1 (2016).
- [147] G. Dutta and K. Mitra, A literature review on dynamic pricing of electricity, Journal of the Operational Research Society 68, 1131 (2017).
- [148] M. Uddin, M. F. Romlie, M. F. Abdullah, S. Abd Halim, T. C. Kwang, et al., A review on peak load shaving strategies, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 82, 3323 (2018).

- [149] N. Li, R. A. Hakvoort, and Z. Lukszo, Segmented energy tariff design for flattening load demand profile, in 2020 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Europe (ISGT-Europe) (IEEE, 2020) pp. 849–853.
- [150] R. H. Coase, The marginal cost controversy, Economica 13, 169 (1946).
- [151] D. Lalous and M. Rivier, Technology and operation of electric power systems, in Regulation of the Power Sector (Springer, 2013) pp. 1–46.
- [152] UK Power Networks, SmartMeter Energy Consumption Data in London Households, https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/ smartmeter-energy-use-data-in-london-households, (Accessed November 24, 2020).
- [153] Renewable.ninja, Renewable.ninja, Available online: https://www. renewables.ninja/, (Accessed June 27, 2019).
- [154] K. InnoEnergy, Future renewable energy costs: Solar photovoltaics. (2015).
- [155] IRENA, Electricity storage and renewables: costs and markets to 2030, (2017).
- [156] A. Shamsuzzoha, A. Grant, and J. Clarke, Implementation of renewable energy in scottish rural area: A social study, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 16, 185 (2012).
- [157] T. Tsoutsos, M. Drandaki, N. Frantzeskaki, E. Iosifidis, and I. Kiosses, Sustainable energy planning by using multi-criteria analysis application in the island of crete, Energy Policy 37, 1587 (2009).
- [158] J. Guan and H. Zepp, Factors affecting the community acceptance of onshore wind farms: A case study of the zhongying wind farm in eastern china, Sustainability 12, 6894 (2020).
- [159] P. Vuichard, A. Stauch, and N. Dällenbach, Individual or collective? community investment, local taxes, and the social acceptance of wind energy in switzerland, Energy Research & Social Science 58, 101275 (2019).
- [160] P. Maleki-Dizaji, N. Del Bufalo, M.-R. Di Nucci, and M. Krug, Overcoming barriers to the community acceptance of wind energy: Lessons learnt from a comparative analysis of best practice cases across europe, Sustainability 12, 3562 (2020).
- [161] G. Walter, Determining the local acceptance of wind energy projects in switzerland: the importance of general attitudes and project characteristics, Energy Research & Social Science 4, 78 (2014).
- [162] A. Dimitropoulos and A. Kontoleon, Assessing the determinants of local acceptability of wind-farm investment: A choice experiment in the greek aegean islands, Energy policy 37, 1842 (2009).

- [163] F. D. Musall and O. Kuik, Local acceptance of renewable energy—a case study from southeast germany, Energy policy 39, 3252 (2011).
- [164] R. Wüstenhagen, M. Wolsink, and M. J. Bürer, Social acceptance of renewable energy innovation: An introduction to the concept, Energy policy 35, 2683 (2007).
- [165] M. Wolsink, Distributed energy systems as common goods: Socio-political acceptance of renewables in intelligent microgrids, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 127, 109841 (2020).
- [166] P. Roddis, S. Carver, M. Dallimer, P. Norman, and G. Ziv, The role of community acceptance in planning outcomes for onshore wind and solar farms: An energy justice analysis, Applied energy 226, 353 (2018).
- [167] P. Devine-Wright and B. Wiersma, Understanding community acceptance of a potential offshore wind energy project in different locations: An island-based analysis of 'place-technology fit', Energy Policy 137, 111086 (2020).
- [168] P. Roddis, K. Roelich, K. Tran, S. Carver, M. Dallimer, and G. Ziv, What shapes community acceptance of large-scale solar farms? a case study of the uk's first 'nationally significant'solar farm, Solar Energy 209, 235 (2020).
- [169] E. De Luca, C. Nardi, L. G. Giuffrida, M. Krug, and M. R. Di Nucci, Explaining factors leading to community acceptance of wind energy. results of an expert assessment, Energies 13, 2119 (2020).
- [170] A. Forman, Energy justice at the end of the wire: Enacting community energy and equity in wales, Energy Policy 107, 649 (2017).
- [171] L. Mundaca, H. Busch, and S. Schwer, 'successful'low-carbon energy transitions at the community level? an energy justice perspective, Applied energy 218, 292 (2018).
- [172] U. Pesch, A. Correljé, E. Cuppen, and B. Taebi, Energy justice and controversies: Formal and informal assessment in energy projects, Energy Policy 109, 825 (2017).
- [173] C. Gross, Community perspectives of wind energy in australia: The application of a justice and community fairness framework to increase social acceptance, Energy policy 35, 2727 (2007).
- [174] B. K. Sovacool and M. H. Dworkin, Energy justice: Conceptual insights and practical applications, Applied Energy 142, 435 (2015).
- [175] S. Williams and A. Doyon, Justice in energy transitions, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 31, 144 (2019).
- [176] M. L. Jørgensen, H. T. Anker, and J. Lassen, Distributive fairness and local acceptance of wind turbines: The role of compensation schemes, Energy Policy 138, 111294 (2020).

- [177] G. Walker, Beyond distribution and proximity: exploring the multiple spatialities of environmental justice, Antipode 41, 614 (2009).
- [178] O. Demirtas, Evaluating the best renewable energy technology for sustainable energy planning, International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy 3, 23 (2013).
- [179] M. Troldborg, S. Heslop, and R. L. Hough, Assessing the sustainability of renewable energy technologies using multi-criteria analysis: Suitability of approach for national-scale assessments and associated uncertainties, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 39, 1173 (2014).
- [180] S. D. Pohekar and M. Ramachandran, Application of multi-criteria decision making to sustainable energy planning—a review, Renewable and sustainable energy reviews 8, 365 (2004).
- [181] F. Cavallaro, An integrated multi-criteria system to assess sustainable energy options: an application of the promethee method, (2005).
- [182] S. Ghafghazi, T. Sowlati, S. Sokhansanj, and S. Melin, A multicriteria approach to evaluate district heating system options, Applied energy 87, 1134 (2010).
- [183] M. Baumann, M. Weil, J. F. Peters, N. Chibeles-Martins, and A. B. Moniz, A review of multi-criteria decision making approaches for evaluating energy storage systems for grid applications, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 107, 516 (2019).
- [184] D. Murrant and J. Radcliffe, Assessing energy storage technology options using a multi-criteria decision analysis-based framework, Applied energy 231, 788 (2018).
- [185] A. Kumar, B. Sah, A. R. Singh, Y. Deng, X. He, P. Kumar, and R. Bansal, A review of multi criteria decision making (mcdm) towards sustainable renewable energy development, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 69, 596 (2017).
- [186] S. Runsten, F. F. Nerini, and L. Tait, Energy provision in south african informal urban settlements-a multi-criteria sustainability analysis, Energy Strategy Reviews 19, 76 (2018).
- [187] G. Vasić, Application of multi criteria analysis in the design of energy policy: Space and water heating in households-city novi sad, serbia, Energy policy 113, 410 (2018).
- [188] J.-J. Wang, Y.-Y. Jing, C.-F. Zhang, and J.-H. Zhao, *Review on multi-criteria decision analysis aid in sustainable energy decision-making*, Renewable and sustainable energy reviews 13, 2263 (2009).

- [189] M. E. Arce, Á. Saavedra, J. L. Míguez, and E. Granada, The use of grey-based methods in multi-criteria decision analysis for the evaluation of sustainable energy systems: A review, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 47, 924 (2015).
- [190] R. Abu-Taha, Multi-criteria applications in renewable energy analysis: A literature review, in 2011 Proceedings of PICMET'11: Technology Management in the Energy Smart World (PICMET) (IEEE, 2011) pp. 1–8.
- [191] R. Lemos Bulhões, E. Souza de Santana, and A. Álisson Bandeira Santos, Use of analytic hierarchy process for wind farm installation region prioritization– case study, Energies 13, 2284 (2020).
- [192] J. Ren and L. Dong, Evaluation of electricity supply sustainability and security: Multi-criteria decision analysis approach, Journal of Cleaner Production 172, 438 (2018).
- [193] N. Hussain Mirjat, M. A. Uqaili, K. Harijan, M. W. Mustafa, M. Rahman, M. Khan, et al., Multi-criteria analysis of electricity generation scenarios for sustainable energy planning in pakistan, Energies 11, 757 (2018).
- [194] F. Cavallaro, Multi-criteria decision aid to assess concentrated solar thermal technologies, Renewable Energy 34, 1678 (2009).
- [195] Z. Yue, A method for group decision-making based on determining weights of decision makers using topsis, Applied Mathematical Modelling 35, 1926 (2011).
- [196] H.-S. Shih, H.-J. Shyur, and E. S. Lee, An extension of topsis for group decision making, Mathematical and computer modelling 45, 801 (2007).
- [197] X. Pan and Y. Wang, An enhanced technique for order preference by similarity to ideal solutions and its application to renewable energy resources selection problem, International Journal of Fuzzy Systems, 1 (2020).
- [198] Y. A. Solangi, Q. Tan, N. H. Mirjat, and S. Ali, Evaluating the strategies for sustainable energy planning in pakistan: An integrated swot-ahp and fuzzytopsis approach, Journal of Cleaner Production 236, 117655 (2019).
- [199] F. E. Boran, S. Genç, M. Kurt, and D. Akay, A multi-criteria intuitionistic fuzzy group decision making for supplier selection with topsis method, Expert systems with applications 36, 11363 (2009).
- [200] A. Memari, A. Dargi, M. R. A. Jokar, R. Ahmad, and A. R. A. Rahim, Sustainable supplier selection: A multi-criteria intuitionistic fuzzy topsis method, Journal of Manufacturing Systems 50, 9 (2019).
- [201] C. Yu, Y. Shao, K. Wang, and L. Zhang, A group decision making sustainable supplier selection approach using extended topsis under interval-valued pythagorean fuzzy environment, Expert Systems with Applications 121, 1 (2019).

- [202] N. Wang, P. W. Heijnen, and P. J. Imhof, A multi-actor perspective on multiobjective regional energy system planning, Energy Policy 143, 111578 (2020).
- [203] H. Hodgson, Theories of distributive justice: Frameworks for equity, J. Australasian Tax Tchrs. Ass'n 5, 86 (2010).
- [204] M. A. M. Safari, N. Masseran, A. Jedi, S. Mat, K. Sopian, A. Bin Abdul Rahim, and A. Zaharim, *Rural public acceptance of wind and solar energy:* A case study from mersing, malaysia, Energies 13, 3855 (2020).
- [205] N. Vafaei, R. A. Ribeiro, and L. M. Camarinha-Matos, Normalization techniques for multi-criteria decision making: analytical hierarchy process case study, in doctoral conference on computing, electrical and industrial systems (Springer, 2016) pp. 261–269.
- [206] N. Vafaei, R. A. Ribeiro, and L. M. Camarinha-Matos, *Data normalisation techniques in decision making: case study with topsis method*, International journal of information and decision sciences 10, 19 (2018).
- [207] D. Pavličić, Normalization affects the results of madm methods, Yugoslav journal of operations research 11, 251 (2001).
- [208] S. Chakraborty and C.-H. Yeh, A simulation based comparative study of normalization procedures in multiattribute decision making, in Proceedings of the 6th Conference on 6th WSEAS Int. Conf. on Artificial Intelligence, Knowledge Engineering and Data Bases, Vol. 6 (2007) pp. 102–109.
- [209] T. Morstyn, N. Farrell, S. J. Darby, and M. D. McCulloch, Using peer-topeer energy-trading platforms to incentivize prosumers to form federated power plants, Nature Energy 3, 94 (2018)

### List of Publications

- Li, N., Hakvoort, R. A., Lukszo, Z. (2021). Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - Performance assessment. Applied energy, 37, 118155.
- Li, N., Hakvoort, R. A., Lukszo, Z. (2021). Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 144, 111001.
- Li, N., Hakvoort, R. A., Lukszo, Z. (2021). Cost allocation in integrated community energy systems - social acceptance. Sustainability, 13(17), 9951.
- Li, N., Hakvoort, R. A., Lukszo, Z. (2020, October). Segmented energy tariff design for flattening load demand profile. In 2020 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Europe (ISGT-Europe) (pp. 849-853). IEEE.

### About the Author

Na Li was born on 3 July 1992 in Jilin, China. She obtained bachelor of Technology and Instrumentation for Measure & Control from Jilin University, China, in 2014. After that, she continued her study in Instrument and Meter Engineering for her master at the same university. Motivated by the interest in renewable energy, she started as a PhD candidate at the Energy & Industry section at the Faculty of Technology, Policy, and Management at Delft University of Technology in October 2018, funded by the Chinese Scholarship Council.